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Key highlights 2014/15
STRATEGIC GOAL

REGULATION THAT IS RELEVANT AND ROBUST
•

Coastal Navigation Safety Review near completion

•

Port Safety Management Systems brought up to Code standard

•

Active collaboration with government agencies on international engagement

•

NZ implementation of the majority of outstanding SOLAS Convention requirements
(bringing the ten year gap up-to-date)

•

Active engagement with government agencies to influence health and safety reform

STRATEGIC GOAL

RISK-FOCUSED, RESPONSIVE COMPLIANCE PRACTICES
THAT REDUCE HARM IN THE MARITIME SYSTEM
•

Year one of MOSS implementation completed with 27 percent of operators applying to join

•

Increased emphasis on operator engagement and streamlined processes for MOSS and SeaCert

•

Foreign Chartered Fishing Vessels being reflagged to NZ

•

New Recreational Boating Strategic Plan and Inaugural Safer Boating Week launched
STRATEGIC GOAL

RESPONSE CAPABILITY THAT IS WELL PREPARED AND
EFFECTIVELY DEPLOYED TO RESOLVE EMERGENCY INCIDENTS
•

Close partnership with Australia to build Medium Earth Orbit Search and Rescue Satellite

•

Enhancing maritime incident response capability

•

Relationships across government strengthened to respond to maritime incidents through
formal agreements

•

NZ Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy completed

•

Incident response training programme completed

•

Oil spill equipment programme (year two) completed

•

Aviation capability in place to respond to an offshore oil spill incident

•

Pacific Maritime Safety Programme yields successful results in Tonga, Kiribati and the Cook Islands

STRATEGIC GOAL

A RESULTS-DRIVEN, RESILIENT ORGANISATION,
WORKING COLLABORATIVELY FOR SUCCESS
•

Integrated Information Management and ICT Strategic plan finalised

•

Independent audit results in maintenance of ACC Workplace Safety Management Practices
(WSMP) Level 2 accreditation

•

Maritime NZ System Reform project progressing

•

Midpoint funding review and Oil Pollution Levy review initiated
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•

The year in review

•

a new Recreational Boating Strategic Plan was
adopted by the Safer Boating Forum, enabling more
coordinated safety initiatives
reflagging of Foreign Chartered Fishing Vessels has
commenced, addressing serious health and safety
concerns.

Response
•

David Ledson, Chair,
Maritime NZ

Keith Manch, Director,
Maritime NZ

•

Introduction
This annual report tells of Maritime NZ’s (Nō te rere
moana Aotearoa) achievements against the plans and
objectives set out in the Statement of Intent 2014 –
2020 (SOI) and its associated Statement of Performance
Expectations 2014/2015. It also provides an indication
of the impact of what has been done on the safety,
environmental and security outcomes that organisational
activity is focused on.

Organisational capability
•

The vision that Maritime NZ has set as the marker to
shape the way in which we approach our regulatory,
compliance and response activities is ‘a maritime
community that works and plays safely and securely on
clean waters’.

•

Over 2014/2015, the main effort has been on raising
standards to improve safety performance in the domestic
commercial maritime sector, through the introduction of
the Maritime Operator Safety System (MOSS) and the
Seafarer Certification (SeaCert) framework. These new
regimes represent the most substantial overhaul of the
domestic maritime regulatory system in 15 years. There
have, therefore, been major challenges to be managed
over the past 12 months.

Key achievements during the year included:

Key to the successes that have been achieved has been
the considerable effort that has been made to engage
with and respond to operators and seafarers. Taking a
tailored and flexible approach has been important.
Throughput of applications and audits was largely on
track with expectations by year-end.

Safety

•

significant safety initiatives in Tonga, Kiribati and
the Cook lslands in support of the government’s
Pacific Maritime Safety Programme.

Organisational focus during the year

Key achievements

•

development of an integrated information
management/information technology strategy,
detailed sector reports and the move into phase two
of a new IT reform package have strengthened
Maritime NZ’s information base.

Contributions to the South Pacific

Our progress towards this in 2014/2015 was
satisfactory. The commercial sector safety trends are
moving in the right direction, although there is further
work to be done to enable improvements in accident and
incident reporting in some areas. The recreational
boating toll remains stubbornly high, despite sustained
investment in promotion and education, particularly on
the importance of wearing lifejackets. On the security
and environmental fronts system indicators are
consistently positive.

•

the Medium Earth Orbit Search and Rescue
(MEOSAR) Satellite project to upgrade the search
and rescue satellite system has remained on time
and under budget
maritime incident response capability has been
improved, with the publication of an overall
strategy, testing of port security plans, completion
of the New Zealand Marine Oil Spill Response
Strategy, extensive incident response training and
new aviation provision to respond to an offshore oil
spill incident.

positive progress with the Coastal Navigation Safety
Review and the revised Port and Harbour Marine
Safety Code
New Zealand’s adoption of changes to the Safety of
Life at Sea (SOLAS) Convention related to the Polar
Code providing for improved vessel standards and
reduced risks of harm
MOSS applications received cover over 27 percent
of operators expected to enter the system by June
2018

There have been substantial organisational challenges
placed on Maritime NZ by MOSS and SeaCert. To
manage the impacts of these on both people and
resources, some other areas of compliance operations
were maintained in a ‘holding pattern’; and the progress
that we hoped to achieve in some areas of our work has
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government has been an important factor in the
successes we have achieved during the year. Equally
important has been the effective engagement which has
characterised our relationship with the broad maritime
community.

had to be slowed. Additionally, determined efforts were
made to reduce operating expenses, including bearing
some personnel gaps – caused, in the main, by receiving
less than forecast revenue from MOSS and SeaCert.
Nevertheless, in some important areas significant
progress was able to be made. In our international
engagement, maritime incident response capability, and
the development of our IT capability, good results were
achieved. In the recreational boating sector Maritime NZ
is now seeing the benefits of a more aligned and
strategic approach with our recreational sector partners.

We wish to particularly acknowledge the vital
contribution to Maritime NZ’s 2014/15 performance
made by our people. They have worked determinedly and
uncomplainingly throughout this exceptionally
challenging year, and can look back at it with
considerable pride.
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lighthouses), the national maritime distress and
safety radio service, and an emergency distress
beacon detection network for land, sea and air.

Part A: Maritime NZ

3. Response to incidents

Overview of Maritime NZ

We provide a national land, sea and air search and
rescue coordination service that covers some 30
million square kilometres, from the Pacific Islands in
the north to Antarctica in the south.

Who we are
Maritime NZ is the national regulatory, compliance
and response agency for the safety, security and
environmental protection of coastal and inland
waterways. We are a Crown entity set up in 1993
and are governed by a five-member Board appointed
by the Minister of Transport under the Maritime
Transport Act 1994.

We also manage the development and improvement
of national maritime incident and oil spill response
capability, and lead New Zealand's responses to
significant maritime incidents and emergencies,
including oil spills.

International obligations

We have approximately 190 staff located in our 10
regional offices and Wellington head office, at our
Marine Pollution Response Centre in Auckland and
our Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand in
Lower Hutt.

Maritime NZ administers the Crown’s obligations
under international maritime and marine
environment protection agreements and treaties and
by representing New Zealand’s interests at the
United Nations International Maritime Organisation
(IMO).

We were established to promote a safe, secure and
clean maritime environment for all commercial and
recreational activities on the water, and to minimise
the impact of maritime incidents and accidents on
New Zealand’s land, waters and people.

Active engagement in international rulemaking and
adoption of relevant conventions is critical for New
Zealand, given its dependence on safe and efficient
global shipping for its economic prosperity.

What we do
Maritime NZ’s three key roles are:

We help to develop and maintain the national safety,
security and environmental protection regulations
that govern maritime operations, ports and offshore
installations in New Zealand waters.

Maritime NZ continues to provide technical support
to the government’s Pacific Maritime Safety
Programme where the primary focus has been on
Tonga, Kiribati and the Cook Islands. This involves a
mix of initiatives – from the provision of safety
infrastructure and equipment through to training of
key staff and the development of more effective
safety administrations.

We support, encourage and require operator
compliance with those regulations by:

What we seek to achieve

1. Regulation1 and compliance

•

licensing and certifying seafarers and
commercial operations

•

educating the maritime community

•

auditing operators and service providers, such
as ship surveyors

•

investigating incidents to understand causes
and develop preventative strategies

•

enforcing the regulations to hold people to
account for their actions.

A maritime community that works and plays
safely and securely on clean waters
Maritime NZ brings together its three core roles – the
national regulatory and compliance agency, a
provider of maritime safety infrastructure, and a
national incident response agency – to achieve its
vision of three key outcomes:
SAFE – a maritime system that supports,
encourages and requires strong safety
standards and behaviours.

Maritime NZ also monitors the security provided by
port operators, undertakes security profiling of
vessels, and maintains information about security
threats to New Zealand’s maritime interests, taking
action as appropriate.

SECURE – a maritime system that protects
people and goods from unlawful actions as
they move across domestic and international
waters.

2. Provision of safety infrastructure
We maintain New Zealand’s coastal navigation aids
to shipping (principally coastal lights and

1

CLEAN – a marine environment that is clean
and protected.

The term regulation is used here to refer to the
international and national conventions, laws,
regulations, rules and standards that govern maritime
activity.
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Contributing to key transport sector objectives
Overview of the government
transport sector
Transport is a critical component of daily life for all
of New Zealand’s businesses and people. New
Zealand’s transport system is our primary
mechanism for international connectivity, linking our
businesses to their export markets and supporting
New Zealand’s $23 billion a year tourism industry.



Safe and responsible – reduces the harms from
transport



Effective – moves people and freight where they
need to go in a timely manner



Efficient – delivers the right infrastructure and
services to the right level at the best cost



Resilient – meets future needs and endures
shocks.

The diagram below provides an overview of the
transport sector and Maritime NZ’s role within this.

The Minister of Transport has also identified three
key priorities, namely:

The Government is seeking:



a transport system that maximises
economic and social benefits for New
Zealand and minimises harm

a transport system that is increasingly safe and
secure



a transport system that supports economic
growth and productivity



a transport system that delivers increasing value
for money.

The Ministry of Transport has defined four system
outcomes that guide the work of transport sector
agencies and Crown entities, including Maritime NZ:

Maritime NZ’s work contributes to these goals and
priorities.
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influence the factors that drive safety systems,
attitudes and behaviour - utilising the most effective
mix of regulatory and non-regulatory tools.

The way we operate

Our choices of interventions are informed by
understanding what contributes to poor or
inconsistent levels of compliance, and then
determining what will work best to achieve
improvement. As a result, we select from a wide
range of intervention options, taking into account
risk, attitude and capability, plus the likely
consequences of an incident or harm occurring.

To achieve safe, secure and clean seas and inland
waterways, Maritime NZ’s mission is to be:

A professional, evidence-based,
intelligence-led, risk-focused regulatory,
compliance and response agency

Professional

Our tools range from educating and assisting
maritime sector participants to get things right, to
using enforcement actions when we have to.

Maritime NZ employs people with a range of
professional skills and experience. Our people come
from the maritime industry; policy, regulatory and
operational compliance backgrounds; and have
rescue coordination and response experience,
especially in the oil spill area. We maintain a strong
focus on professional development through technical
and management programmes and our contribution
to system-wide capability initiatives.

Working collaboratively
Collaboration with other agencies reflects the
breadth of our interests across transport, health and
safety, oil and gas, local government, search and
rescue, security and international domains, and is
crucial to our effectiveness in achieving outcomes.

Evidence based and intelligence led

We work with partner organisations to develop
effective regulation, share information, achieve
efficiency and capability gains, and to design and
implement strategies and services that reflect shared
goals and responsibilities.

We base our work on robust evidence and
intelligence that is collected, collated and analysed
so that we understand what is happening and why it
is happening. Only then can we properly assess the
safety, security and environmental risks that we need
to address, and make effective decisions about
which interventions are needed.

Maritime NZ also seeks to work constructively with
the parties it regulates and their representative
organisations. Our engagement takes place through
formal industry groups that we have helped
establish, or which are provided for in legislation.
These include the New Zealand Maritime Forum, the
Oil Pollution Advisory Committee, and the Safer
Boating Forum.

Our information base covers all aspects of what we
do and the environment we operate within: From
data on incident and accident trends and
behavioural drivers within the industry, through to
the effectiveness of the regulatory, compliance and
response initiatives that we have put in place.

We regularly seek industry input and advice through
engagement with these and other organisations, the
appointment of sector representatives to Maritime
NZ reference groups, as well as formal consultation
on draft maritime rules and new initiatives.

Risk focused
Increasingly, Maritime NZ is adopting a risk-based
approach across its activities to target its allocation
of resources, for greater impact in lifting
compliance. This means using the evidence and
intelligence we collect to build up profiles of the
different sector and operators we regulate so we can
better assess risks of safety, security and
environment harm.

Continual Improvement
To remain effective in the future, Maritime NZ must
be able to continually develop and adjust the way it
deals with the differing needs and circumstances of
the groups it regulates, and demonstrate the impact
of its actions.

We can then make judgements about their potential
impact and relative importance of different risks,
and select the most appropriate interventions to
address them. It is about proactive and informed risk
identification and taking proportionate action.

In developing its strategies, Maritime NZ draws upon
emerging best practice, including: Implementing
targeted strategies based on a clearer understanding
of safety risks; streamlining processes to minimise
the burden for those regulated; enhancing our
capability to evaluate and review our performance,
and the difference our work makes.

Appropriate compliance interventions to
achieve our outcomes
Maritime NZ’s compliance activities are designed to
contribute to our system outcomes of safety, security
and environmental protection in New Zealand’s
maritime environment.
We tailor our compliance strategies to positively
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Our operating context
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Understanding our sectors
Maritime NZ is charged with regulating a maritime sector that is characterised by its diversity, embracing
everything from the humble recreational dinghy through to the large ocean-going vessels that carry New Zealand’s
trade to the world. These each generate a unique set of issues that require Maritime NZ to specifically tailor its
regulatory, security and response interventions to address them.
To help it better understand this wide range of issues, Maritime NZ has divided the maritime community into eight
‘sectors’ and is developing a sector profile for each. The tables presented below draws on information from our
sector reports which highlight key characteristics of these sectors and their specific challenges.

Foreign shipping
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION

Domestic Fishing
INDUSTRY STRUCTURE

 total value of export and imports
carried by international vessels
estimated at $87.7b (2014/15 March
year)
 international maritime sector has a
critical role to play in enabling a
prosperous economy
 NZ economy heavily dependent on
international trade
 NZ reliant on international shipping to
carry out our trade, with around 99%
(by volume) going by sea

 around 850 ships visited NZ in 2014/15
making over 2,300 visits and 6,200 port
calls
 ships visiting NZ included cruise ships, bulk
carriers, container ships, oil tankers and
general cargo.
 main type of ships visiting NZ during the
period included bulk carriers (347), tankers
(155) and container ships (150).
 335 port State inspections carried out by NZ
in 2014 which revealed 620 deficiencies
and resulted in 9 detentions
 13 vessels flagged to New Zealand.

SAFETY PERFORMANCE

WORKFORCE

 a comprehensive set of international
instruments ensures a high standard
of safety for international shipping,
however the level of enforcement of
these standards by flag States can
vary
 NZ is coordinating a global
concentrated inspection campaign for
enclosed space entry arrangements
(an area where regular fatalities occur
in the global fleet).
 3 NZ-flagged vessels were inspected
by another port State in 2014 and no
vessel was detained as a result.

 Predominantly foreign workforce who are
subject to the maritime legislation of their
flag state
 Global shortage of seafarers
 Number of port state control officers in New
Zealand
 There are 16 ports in New Zealand that
receive port calls from foreign-flagged ships

ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE

 Significant export sector for New
Zealand
 90% of catch exported, earning NZ
$1.5 billion mainly from China,
Australia and USA

 over 1,500 certified commercial
fishing vessels
 diverse sector with foreign and
domestic operators using a range
of fishing methods
 five companies control 70% of
NZ’s fish production

SAFETY PERFORMANCE

WORKFORCE

 one of the most dangerous
occupations in NZ: very high
average injury and fatality rate 7.4% pa
 causal factors include tough
working conditions, long hours and
time away at sea, drug and alcohol
issues and a high tolerance for risk
and danger

 around 2,500 employed in
commercial sea fishing and
aquaculture - 50% self-employed
 predominantly male, older and
twice as many Maori as other NZ
sectors
 work longer than average hours
for low pay

KEY CHALLENGES
 Reducing the accident and fatality rates
 Engaging operators on safety requirements
 Development of further sector-specific strategies to improve compliance
and reduce harm

KEY CHALLENGES

Domestic Passenger/Nonpassenger

 Maintaining effective Port State Control in New Zealand and in the Asia Pacific region
 Impact of international standards for regulating air emissions from international
shipping
 New international conventions to enter into force in New Zealand including the ILO
Maritime Labour Convention and the IMO Ballast Water Management Convention
 Effective monitoring and incorporating, where necessary, of IMO mandatory and nonmandatory outputs

ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
 5.8 million passenger boardings in
2012/13, predominantly Auckland
commuter ferries

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
 Covers wide range of passenger
and non-passenger vessels:
commuter ferries, water taxis,
tourist cruises, charter boats, tugs,
pilot vessels, tankers, barges,
research, survey and cargo
vessels
 55 medium/large operators with 5+
vessels
 2000+ small operators with 3000
vessels

SAFETY
&
ENVIRONMENTAL
PERFORMANCE
 generally reasonable safety
standard, but, on average, 15
serious harm incidents and 1 fatality
a year
 <10 very small spills of marine
diesel a year

WORKFORCE
 Limited information currently
available on workforce

Domestic Coastal (NZISM)
Shipping
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
 Sector carries 4m tonnes freight
pa, which is 15% of NZ total
freight
 Cook Strait ferries carry 1m
passengers & 230k cars pa

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
 15 NZ flagged vessels (ferries, bulk
cement carriers, tankers, dredgers,
containerships)
 Two UK flagged ferries

SAFETY PERFORMANCE
 Generally safety is of high
standard, with fewer incidents
and no fatalities since 2008
 UK flagged ships subject to
different regime

WORKFORCE
 Age profile of officers and crew is
increasing
 International seafarers brought in to
replace NZ seafarers going offshore
for better pay

KEY CHALLENGES





KEY CHALLENGES
 Increasingly larger container ships may result in them using fewer NZ
ports, with more hubbing
 Upcoming Ballast Water Management and Maritime Labour Convention will
impact sector
 Having two regulatory regimes operating results in some variations in
standards

Diversity of operations can make targeting of Maritime NZ initiatives difficult
Most barges unregulated
Ongoing transition to MOSS regime – major change process
Little accident data readily available for this sector
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Domestic Outdoor and
Adventure

Ports and Harbours
INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
 14 commercial ports
 12 regional councils oversee
harbours that include a commercial
port
 In 2014 – 6,222 port calls (up from
5,754 in 2013).

WORKFORCE

ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION
 NZ ports handle $39.5b of
exports and $48.2b of imports by
sea
 Cruise industry increased five
times in the last ten years with
716 vessel port days (2014/15
cruise season) injecting $436m
into the NZ economy

 staff often young, unqualified and
inexperienced; low pay and poor
conditions; high staff turnover

SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL
PERFORMANCE

WORKFORCE

ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE

 sector is seen as major contributor
to tourism $ with significant
impact on international reputation
 jet boats & rafts carry 390,000
tourists a year

 whole sector relatively new; business
processes still maturing
 diverse range of commercial
activities including 100 jet boats &
270 whitewater rafts

SAFETY PERFORMANCE
 serious harm incidents and
fatalities generally low in number,
but high profile
 limited data in some industries

 3,280 events over 5 years (20102015)
 67% foreign vessels and 33%
New Zealand vessels
 63% of events either in the
harbour or while at berth
 Port operators and regional
councils with commercial ports
collaborate to implement a port
and harbour safety management
system

KEY CHALLENGES
 Clarifying the respective jurisdictions of Maritime NZ and WorkSafe in this
area following the introduction of the Adventure Tourism Regulations
 Some operators face dual compliance regimes currently
 lack of data about some operators, varying risks and safety performance for
many outdoor adventure activities

 23 harbourmasters and deputy
harbourmasters
 More than 70 harbour pilots located
in New Zealand ports
 Each port has a marine or operations
manager
 Additional enforcement officers may
be employed if the size and
characteristics of maritime activity in
the port and harbour require these
staff on a permanent or seasonal
basis

KEY CHALLENGES

Offshore
ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE

 75% of NZ's oil and gas production
situated offshore - currently all from
Taranaki Basin
 Petroleum sector $3b of NZ's export
revenue pa
 Potential to exploit unexplored
basins & grow exports to $30b pa by
2025 - Government keen to attract
responsible global investment in
industry



SAFETY & ENVIRONMENTAL
PERFORMANCE
 Safety conscious sector: NZ had no
fatalities & very few serious injuries
 complex and potentially hazardous
conditions in remote locations and
harsh weather
 No offshore well blowouts in NZ to
date. 15-20 minor oil spills per
annum








NZ owns and manages
petroleum and mineral resources
in its Economic Exclusion Zone
(EEZ), through block offers and
environmental consents
mainly large exploration and
producer firms
seabed mining and mineral
activities relatively undeveloped:
oil exploration is longstanding

Recreational Boating



ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION

SIZE OF SECTOR

 Purchase of boats and

 Around a third of NZ adults are
involved
 nearly 1m recreational vessels - over
half are kayaks/canoes and power
boats <6m

SAFETY PERFORMANCE

PARTICIPANTS

 124 fatalities in last 6 years - two
thirds might have been saved if
wearing lifejackets
 Surveys show large gap between
acknowledging safe behavior and
actual practices
 fastest growing boating group in
NZ –paddle craft – is increasingly
represented in the annual boating
toll

 In Auckland ‘boaties’ are younger
and more affluent than general
population; profile is similar to
general population in rest of country
 More women getting involved and
growing cultural diversity
 Skippers tend to be male aged 50+

equipment, including their
maintenance, contributes to
marine industry with estimated
turnover of $1.6b

WORKFORCE


The economic sustainability of 14 commercial ports in NZ.
a large number of specialists nearing retirement age creating risk of
knowledge and experience being lost to the NZ maritime sector
opportunity to recruit qualified masters into key land based roles

Industry employs nearly 4,000
directly and supports further
4,000 in other parts of economy
Highly skilled and educated
workforce, in high demand and
highly paid (twice NZ average)

KEY CHALLENGES
 Predicted growth of marine mining will see increased vessel usage and
application of new technologies
 Coordination of regulatory activity which is spread over four agencies
 Falling international oil price could put pressure on operators to reduce costs

KEY CHALLENGES
 Fatality rate is not dropping – despite concerted safety campaigns targeted
at high risk groups and risk factors
 Need for consistent national regulatory approach to wearing lifejackets in
small boats
 Need to review approaches to safety management as participation and
vessels are getting more diverse
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In response, Maritime NZ has undergone a significant
change in recent years – to become a relevant, modern,
“evidence based, intelligence-led and risk-focused”
regulatory compliance agency.

Our future challenges
Globalisation of maritime business
Global trends will continue to impact commercial and
recreational maritime activities, and will influence
Maritime NZ’s strategic direction and how it works to
achieve its outcomes and contribute to the overall safety,
security and environmental protection of New Zealand’s
maritime environment.

Funding the type of approach required to properly
implement a regulatory system in this way, and avoiding
the regulatory failures of the past, is challenging –
particularly for small agencies. Maritime NZ’s funding
model was established prior to this expanded approach,
and needs to be reconsidered in this light. Regular
funding reviews are part of Maritime NZ’s strategic work
programme.

A central driver for the shift to an increasingly integrated
global economy has been the operational and
technological development of the shipping industry,
which has dramatically lowered transportation costs. The
drive for increased economies of scale is leading to
greater containerisation, larger vessels and just-in-time
delivery processes, with major implications for port
construction and surrounding areas.

Adapting to a new regulatory environment
Regulatory environments change and evolve. Maritime
NZ is now operating in an environment that focuses on
risk/principles-based rather than prescriptive regulation,
and seeks to provide the right balance between
accessibility and security of information.

These shifts are affecting New Zealand’s port and
harbour infrastructures, with considerable dredging
activity going on to accommodate larger vessels. The
trends in international maritime transportation are key
factors for consideration in Maritime NZ’s Coastal
Navigation Safety Review, which has been a significant
piece of work over the last year.

Information has become a new currency. Developments
in smart devices, social media and cloud computing are
expanding people’s ability to access and use information,
and shaping how they interact with each other, and with
and within businesses and government. However, in
order to provide and share information, people need a
level of assurance that their information will not be used
to disadvantage them.

With almost all of New Zealand’s trade being carried by
foreign-flagged ships, we want to ensure that the
shipping regulations adopted by the international
community are set at levels that meet New Zealand’s
safety, security and environmental protection standards,
but not set so high that the efficiency of shipping serving
our trade is compromised and our trade competitiveness
jeopardised. Our continuing engagement with the IMO
and other international bodies is critical in ensuring that
global regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests.
Maritime NZ is taking a more strategic approach,
prioritising our allocation of limited resources to
international developments that have the most impact on
outcomes for New Zealand’s maritime system and
environment.

For Maritime NZ, this means reviewing how its services
and interfaces with stakeholders can be improved
through new technologies and media. It also involves
generating increasingly robust analytical data and
intelligence to inform regulatory developments and
compliance processes.
Challenges for Maritime NZ also lie in working
collaboratively and productively with other agencies to
establish shared information concepts and mechanisms
for capturing, storing and sharing information (internally
and externally) in ways that protect privacy and will add
value over time.

Sustaining the delivery of better regulatory
compliance outcomes

Addressing New Zealand’s workplace health and
safety record

The challenges Maritime NZ faces in coming to terms
with regulatory systems as a whole, and ensuring its
regulatory compliance practices are effective and
efficient and deliver set outcomes, include:

New Zealand’s workplace health and safety record is poor
compared with other western OECD countries with
similar market economies and regulatory systems2.

•
•
•

•

•

Every year in New Zealand four in every 100,000 New
Zealand workers die from a work-related incident. The
Government has set clear targets to improve workplace
health and safety, and established WorkSafe as New
Zealand’s lead health and safety agency to deliver on
these targets.

Understanding the overall purpose of the system
and what it intends to achieve
Having a clear compliance strategy and plan
The requirements to collect, collate, analyse and
use information to better understand the
performance of the regulatory system and to ensure
its ongoing improvement
Having and using the right regulatory ‘tools’ at the
right time to achieve the desired outcomes based
on understanding the risks that need to be
addressed, the causal factors that create them; and
what action is required to mitigate those risks
Working alongside other regulatory compliance
agencies that share similar responsibilities to
ensure consistent and efficient approaches to
overlapping or shared jurisdictions.

The Commercial fishing sector is one of the five top
priority sectors for health and safety identified by
WorkSafe. Maritime NZ has significant responsibility for
this sector, including its health and safety.
Maritime NZ ‘s implementation of new regulatory
regimes over the next six years will contribute directly to

2

http://hstaskforce.govt.nz/documents/report-of-theindependent-taskforce-on-workplace-health-safety.pdf
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improvements in New Zealand’s overall health and safety
record.

Continual improvement of the effectiveness of
regulatory practices

Technological advances

A series of high profile incidents in New Zealand has
highlighted the importance of effective regulatory
compliance practice. These incidents have also
increased public expectations that regulators take a more
proactive approach, directed at particular industry risks;
have robust standards in place; and coordinate their
activities with other agencies for greatest impact.

Technological advances create new safety opportunities,
and risks, for commercial and recreational activities and
are impacting all areas of Maritime NZ’s work.
For example, digital information and automated
functionality in equipment and systems continue to
influence the design of vessel navigation systems and
safety equipment, offering potential safety improvements
as well as efficiency gains.

The challenge for Maritime NZ, in using a broader range
of tailored compliance strategies, lies in demonstrating
why and how these strategies are expected to work – so
that Government and the public can have confidence in
the maritime regulatory system. This is particularly
demanding when the issues are complex and highly
politicized – for example regulation of offshore mining
activities.

Real-time satellite vessel tracking and virtual maritime
beacons are already being introduced, making it easier
for Maritime NZ to spot dangerous vessel traffic patterns
and locate people in need of rescue. Lower prices for
mobile phones with GPS capability and Personal
Location Beacons (PLBs) are encouraging greater usage
by individuals venturing on the sea and land-based
adventure activities.

Maritime NZ’s strategic work programme includes
initiatives that will enhance our capability to evaluate,
review the impact of our work, and continually improve
business processes.

Drones are starting to be used in marine environments
around the world – to monitor port and terminal areas for
illegally moored vessels, conduct remote safety
surveillance over platforms and rigs, look for ice hazards
– and could have particular benefits for jurisdiction of
our large maritime search and rescue area.

Our changing society
New Zealand society is characterised by an aging
population and a growing ethnic mix. It is Maritime NZ’s
role to address the maritime safety, security and
environmental challenges generated by these changes in
the population, and to reflect the extent of society’s
tolerance for safety, security and environmental risk.
New Zealand’s safety record compared with other
developed countries is poor, in part due to a ‘she’ll be
right’ attitude where self-reliance, ‘number 8 wire’
resourcefulness, and ‘not whinging’ are an integral part
of the country’s history and culture. It is clear, however,
that society is increasingly less willing to tolerate poor
safety practices in the workplace, as evidenced by the
recent changes in health and safety legislation, including
the establishment of a new, stand-alone agency in the
form of WorkSafe.
Similarly, research shows that New Zealanders are
becoming increasingly aware of the importance of
maintaining a clean and sustainable environment, rating
the quality of the natural environment as being the third
most important aspect of New Zealand, behind the
quality of life and the quality of education.
In actively promoting a safe, secure and clean New
Zealand maritime environment, Maritime NZ, as the
country’s national maritime regulatory and response
agency, must ensure that our actions continue to reflect
the expectations of the society we serve.

Whilst bringing opportunities, these advances also create
more complex and dynamic risks. They can encourage an
over-dependence on technology, especially GPS, leading
to ‘technology-induced accidents’ when those systems
fail or generate false information. There can also be
exposure to increasing environmental hazards through
the use of new offshore equipment and greater maritime
traffic as a result of new areas of business opening up.
As a result, there will be an ongoing need to review
relevant legislation and compliance strategies, and
ensure that we have the capability to understand and
respond to fast-paced technological change. Maritime
NZ’s strategic work programme includes initiatives to
enable the maritime sector to adapt to the risks and
benefits posed by technological advances – for example,
the replacement of the MEOSAR Satellite system, which
has been a key project over 2014/15.
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the way the organisation operates and the regulatory
systems we are responsible for.

Organisational Health and
Capability

Maritime NZ has a current total of 221.8 Full-Time
Equivalent (FTE) staff positions (comprising 199.3
permanent and 22.5 fixed-term positions) based in
its Wellington office and 12 regional offices, RCCNZ
in Lower Hutt and Marine Pollution and Response
Service in Auckland. Seventeen of these positions
are currently on hold due to resourcing constraints.

Our success as an organisation is measured by our
people, who make a vital contribution in ensuring
that Maritime NZ strives towards its intention of
being a resilient, healthy, capable organisation that

values and energises its people to deliver high
quality regulatory and response services.

The average age of Maritime NZ staff is 45, which is
the same as the public service average age as at
June 2012.

During this particularly challenging year our people
have worked determinedly throughout, constantly
striving to achieve Maritime NZ’s vision of safe,
secure and clean waters. This has enabled a strong
platform for further gains in maritime system
outcomes.

41 percent of Maritime NZ staff are female. While
this is lower than the 2012 public service
percentage of 59 percent and the 2012 labour force
percentage of 47 percent, it reflects the seafaring
qualification requirement for a large number of
Maritime NZ staff. These roles are sourced from a
predominately male recruitment pool.

In support of lifting organisational performance
Maritime NZ has continued to develop and
implement a range of initiatives including frontline
staff development, development of a framework for a
leadership and management development
programme, induction and training sessions and a
continued focus on building a “One MNZ” culture
within the organisation.

The executive team has 38 percent female
membership, which is slightly below the 2012
public service percentage of 42 percent and reflects
the small size of the executive team.
Maritime NZ’s candidate recruitment statistics and
workforce reflect a wide range of nationalities.

Organisational health measures

2013/14

2014/15

Staff numbers
Performance
measure

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

6.1

4.0

4.0

Establishment FTEs
Vacancies FTEs

Average sick day
absences per
employee
Number of
injuries/accidents
per 100 employees
per annum

Actual FTEs

191.8

199.3

3.7

23.0

188.1

176.3

Gender
14.3

10.5

6.8

Male
Female

113

113

77

79

Age
% of reported near
miss incidents to
reported accidents

58.6%

66.7%

60.6%

Average age of staff

45

45

Promotions and internal secondments
Promotion

Maritime NZ’s current health and safety focus is to
develop a reporting culture within the organisation
by increasing awareness of hazards and encouraging
reporting of near misses and accidents. This has
resulted in an overall increase in reporting for both
near-miss incidents and accidents. It is expected
that incident/accident reporting will continue at an
increased level due to continued in-house awareness
campaigns. However, over time, the rate of accidents
is expected to decrease as a result of hazards being
identified and controlled before accidents occur,
with the net effect being an overall increase in the
safety of the workplace.

7%

5.2%

11%

7%

New Zealand European

51.6%

54.2%

Other European

17.9%

20.3%

Maori

3.2%

3.1%

Pasifika

1.6%

2.6%

Asian

6.8%

7.3%

Other ethnicity

2.6%

2.1%

16.3%

10.4%

Internal secondments
Ethnic profile*

Undisclosed

Recruitment and retention

Disability profile*

There has been a significant focus on recruitment,
induction and people development activities within
Maritime NZ during the year. This has occurred in
parallel with providing secondment and development
opportunities for our staff during a time of change in

Staff turnover

Our proportion of employees with a disability is 2.6%

Staff turnover

7.1%

13%

Table 1: Workplace profile of Maritime NZ as at 30 June 2015
* This information is voluntarily reported by staff
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Equal employment opportunity employer
Maritime NZ promotes equal employment opportunities to ensure that our human resources practices meet ‘good
employer’ obligations.
Maritime NZ’s Human Resource business plan and strategy are reviewed annually and actively support and
encourage staff participation in all equal employment opportunities related matters.

Activities this year
Over the past 12 months, Maritime NZ has completed a number of activities, these are summarised in the seven
key elements of being a ‘good employer’ below.
Element

Our activity this year

Leadership,
accountability and
culture





Recruitment, selection
and induction





Employee
development,
promotion and exit





Flexibility and work
design






Remuneration,
recognition and
conditions





Harassment and
bullying prevention




Safe and healthy
environment






Following the strong staff engagement survey result in 2014, four key themes were identified
via discussion at all levels across Maritime NZ. These are shaping actions from a “bottom up”
and “top down” perspectives:
o
A continued focus on operating according to our values
o
Action to further improve communication, up, down and across the organization
o
Driving a stronger approach to leadership development, coaching, and feedback
o
Seeking to address work life balance / wellbeing and health
Work is also underway in the Management and Leadership Development area, in particular the
establishment of an internal Leadership and Management Governance Group and the delivery
of a new management programme, designed to enable clear alignment with Maritime NZ’s
values, strategy and operational requirements.
Regular review and updating of recruitment policies and procedures
Utilisation of a variety of recruitment media, both national and international, to attract
applicants
Delivery of four two-day comprehensive staff induction programmes, covering all key areas of
Maritime NZ for new staff.
Continued focus on staff development and on-going training opportunities for staff
Structured and Integrated Learning (SAIL) programme delivered to meet the development
needs of frontline staff
Promotion and secondment opportunities provided to staff. Any promotion is based on merit.
Professional ergonomic workstation assessments undertaken for all new and existing staff, as
required, and any recommendations implemented
Flexible work arrangements policy and procedure in place
Flexibility with work locations considered in line with job attributes and employee needs
Major regional offices linked with video conferencing facilities.
Job evaluations undertaken by an independent specialist provider for all new and amended
roles
Annual external benchmarking of Maritime NZ’s remuneration structure is conducted by an
independent specialist provider
Four staff were recipients of 2015 Chief Executive Development Award, a recognition
programme that aims to enhance the capability of Maritime NZ and its people by supporting
personal development opportunities that are not part of standard training programmes.
Robust anti-harassment policy and procedures in place and several trained internal antiharassment support people
Up-to-date and accessible employee code of conduct.
Awarded secondary status under the ACC WSMP scheme
Strengthening reporting culture by increasing awareness of hazards and encouraging reporting
of near misses and accidents.
Proactive Health, Safety and Wellness Committee that includes representation from each work
group, the union, the Executive Team and the Chief Executive
Staff support available through an Employee Assistance Programme. A total of 23.5 hours of
counselling was utilised.
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System performance
Maritime system outcomes – what we set out to achieve
New Zealand is highly dependent on safe, secure and efficient shipping, given that close to 99 percent of imports and exports (by
volume) are transported by sea. Water-based activities are a key element of the tourism offering of this country, and having a
strong safety record is essential for this key area of the economy. There are high social and financial costs of seafarer deaths and
injuries, in both commercial and recreational contexts.
A clean maritime environment that is protected from pollution is also critical for New Zealand’s economic and social prosperity,
and is fundamental to the long term viability of industries such as commercial fishing, outdoor and adventure tourism and
recreational boating activities. Furthermore, New Zealand’s marine environment contains valuable energy and mineral resources,
and the risks that commercial extraction and shipping bring must be carefully managed.
Maritime NZ’s ultimate goal is a maritime system in which everyone who goes out in a vessel returns home safely, where no
security incidents impact on maritime activities, and no adverse environmental impacts occur as a result of maritime activities.
This is summarised in its vision for “a maritime community that works and plays safely and securely on clean waters”.
The performance of the overall maritime system depends on complex, dynamic interactions and factors that Maritime NZ has only
limited control over. We recognise that while we can continue to drive and enable improvements in the maritime sector’s accident
record, the inherent risks of many commercial and recreational activities are such that it is unrealistic to expect to eliminate all
accidents.
It is necessary to recognise this reality in the targets and indicators used as markers of system performance, but keep our sights
firmly set on better outcomes for the maritime system.
New Zealanders expect Maritime NZ to lead the maritime sector to better understand and manage risks, and to minimise the
impact of maritime harms on people, our environment and the economy. To this end, Maritime NZ has developed the following
indicators and targets to monitor the safety, security and cleanliness of our maritime system, aligned with the Government’s key
areas of focus for transport.

Desired maritime system outcomes

SAFE Our maritime transport
system supports, encourages and
requires strong safety, security and
environmentally responsible standards
and behaviours

SECURE Our maritime system
protects people and goods from
unlawful actions as they move across
domestic and international waters

CLEAN Our marine environment is
clean and protected

3

4

5

6

Desired trend

Indicator

Target

The average annual
rate of maritime
fatalities and serious
injuries consistently
trends downwards over
time

Annual rate of
maritime fatalities
3
and serious harm
injuries for each
sector4 per 100,000
NZ population

Reduce maritime
sector fatalities and
serious harm injuries
by 25 percent by
2021

The New Zealand
maritime system is
recognised as secure
by key trading partners

Annual number of
security incidents
reported in New
5
Zealand waters

No security
6
incidents are
reported in New
Zealand waters

The number of
pollution incidents
impacting on our
marine environment
reduces over time

Annual number of oil
spill incidents
reported in New
Zealand waters

Reduce oil spill
incidents by 15
percent by 2021.

Serious harm, as defined by the HSE Act 1992, means:
(a) death; or
(b) harm of a kind or description referred to in Schedule 1 of the HSE Act 1992; or
(c) harm of a kind or description declared by the Governor-General by Order in Council to be serious for the purposes of the
HSE Act 1992.
Note that ‘sector’ refers to the key maritime sectors that Maritime NZ regulates and the three geographical domains (i.e.
New Zealand, Pacific and Antarctica) where Maritime NZ has search and rescue search responsibility. Our key sectors are:
foreign shipping, New Zealand ISM (International Safety Management), domestic fishing, domestic passenger/nonpassenger, outdoor and adventure, offshore, ports and harbours, and recreational boating.
The security of New Zealand’s maritime system is challenging to monitor because security breaches are difficult to predict
and actual failures only tend to be observable in retrospect. Maritime NZ has chosen one high-level ‘system’ lag indicator to
provide a picture of past security performance (i.e. number of security incidents reported by ports and offshore industry
bodies).
This target refers to incidents that meet the threshold of an incident as defined in the Maritime Security Act. Note that port
and industry report minor security incidents (e.g. protests) annually to Maritime NZ but none of these have met the
threshold of a security incident as defined in the Act.
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How well are we doing?

SAFE – Our maritime system supports, encourages and
requires strong safety standards and behaviours
Maritime NZ bases its work on evidence and intelligence that is collected, collated and analysed so that we
understand what is happening and why it is happening. Only when it is armed with robust evidence and
intelligence is Maritime NZ able to assess the safety, security and environmental risks that are needed to be
addressed, and make effective decisions about which interventions are required.
Our information base covers all aspects of what we do, from data on incident and accident trends and behavioural
drivers within the industry, through to the effectiveness of the regulatory, compliance and response initiatives that
we have put in place.
Maritime NZ gathers its information through a variety of means, including notifications of commercial accidents,
serious harm injuries and fatalities and recreational boating fatalities it receives in accordance with section 31 of
the Maritime Transport Act 1994. However, while we are confident in the fatality information we collect, it is clear
from ACC claims data that there is significant under-reporting of harm incidents to Maritime NZ. Maritime NZ will
work with other relevant organisations to increase levels of reporting over time.

Commercial sector
The number of fatalities occurring within the commercial sector is very low in comparison with the recreational
sector (Figure 1). However, given that the number of vessels and participation rates for the recreational sector are
considerably higher, this is to be expected but not acceptable.
And while reported rates of harm appear to be reducing, ACC data suggests this may not be the case. For example,
the domestic fishing sector has significantly high rates of harm in New Zealand, and harm rates appear to be
increasing.
Maritime NZ has a number of strategic initiatives underway aimed at increasing awareness of safety risks and
reducing the levels of harm occurring across the commercial sector. Most notably are MOSS and SeaCert. MOSS
was developed to improve maritime operator safety by examining an operator’s entire operation to ensure any safety
risks are identified and managed.
SeaCert, introduced on 1 April 2014, is the new maritime seafarer licensing framework for national certificates of
competency and proficiency. At the core of the framework are specific rules that cover seafarer certification,
medical standards, training and examination. MOSS and SeaCert are designed to significantly improve safety in
New Zealand’s commercial maritime environment. Long term, this is intended to benefit local mariners and visiting
international operators, and contribute to New Zealand’s strong international reputation as a safe and responsible
host for maritime-related activity.

Recreational boating sector
For the recreational boating sector, the annual boating toll is not improving (based on actual numbers). However,
the fact remains that the majority of the 32 fatalities in 2014/15 may have been avoided if lifejackets had been
worn.
Over the last 14 years, the Safer Boating Forum has been implementing the National Pleasure Boat Safety
Strategy, with major reviews of its effectiveness carried out in 2007 and again in 2014. The reviews found that
between 2000 and 2007, there was a significant reduction in the annual boating toll, with the average number of
fatalities dropping from around 20 to 14 a year – potentially 36 lives saved over six years. However, since 2007,
we have seen a reversal of that trend (see Appendix 3 – figure 4).
Recognising the time it takes to change behaviours, Maritime NZ is continuing to drive safety messages,
particularly lifejacket wearing through promotion, education and engagement programmes. This is underpinned by
7
a more coordinated and strategic approach developed by the New Zealand Safer Boating Forum over the last year
which will lead to the development of further evidence-based safety programmes underpinned by research and
analysis.

7

The New Zealand Safer Boating Forum (formerly the National Pleasure Boat Safety Forum) is a formal network representing
a cross-section of national and regional government agencies, local body groups, organisations and the marine industry,
involved in promoting recreational boating safety in New Zealand. The purpose of the Forum is to work together to develop
and implement a common safety recreational boating strategy for New Zealand and to support agreed boating safety policy,
communications, education, compliance and regulation. Maritime NZ leads the Forum and works with members to
coordinate safe boating activities.
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Indicator: Annual rate of maritime fatalities each sector per 100,000 NZ population
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2014/15

Figure 1: Fatalities per 100,000 population (by sector)

Sector

Foreign

Domestic
coastal

Pax/Non-Pax

Outdoor &
Adventure

Domestic
Fishing

Offshore

Recreational

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

2012/13

0

0.00

0

0.00

0

0.00

0

0.00

3

0.07

0

0.00

15

0.34

2013/14

2

0.04

0

0.00

2

0.04

0

0.00

3

0.07

0

0.00

22

0.49

2014/15

0

0.00

0

0.00

2

0.04

0

0.00

2

0.04

0

0.00

32

0.70

2021
Target

No fatalities

No fatalities

<0.03
fatalities (per
100,000 NZ
population)
by 2021

No fatalities

<0.03
fatalities (per
100,000 NZ
population)
by 2021

Table 2: Fatality numbers and rates (per 100,000 NZ population) by sector
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No fatalities

<0.52
fatalities (per
100,000 NZ
population) by
2021

Indicator: Annual rate of maritime serious harm injuries for each sector per 100,000 NZ
population
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Figure 2: Serious harm injuries (per 100,000 NZ population) by sector
Sector

Foreign

Domestic
coastal

Pax/Non-Pax

Outdoor &
Adventure

Domestic
Fishing

Offshore

Recreational

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

Count

Rate

2012/13

28

0.63

4

0.09

22

0.50

0

0.00

39

0.88

0

0.00

17

0.38

2013/14

2

0.04

3

0.07

9

0.20

6

0.13

29

0.64

1

0.02

9

0.20

2014/15

8

0.17

4

0.09

8

0.17

4

0.09

13

0.28

0

0.00

24

0.52

Table 3: Serious harm injury numbers and rates (per 100,000 NZ population) by sector

The information shown above represents serious harm maritime incidents reported to Maritime NZ over the past
three financial years. In presenting this information, it should be noted that comparisons between Maritime NZ
data and other sources of harm data (for example, ACC claims) indicate that the actual number of harm events
are much higher.
One of the conclusions of the 2014 Health and Safety Attitudes and Behaviours in the New Zealand Workforce
Survey (https://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/Publications-and-forms/Commercial-operations/Shipping-safety/Healthand-safety/MNZ-commercial-fishing-report-2014.pdf) is that only one third of safety incidents are being reported
in the Commercial Fishing Sector – and concluded that ‘adequate recording and reporting of hazard, near misses
and serious harm incidents is currently more the exception that the rule.’
Maritime NZ is working with other safety agencies and with industry to improve the gathering, analysis and
dissemination of accident and incident information.
On this basis, specific serious harm reduction targets to 2021 have not been set.
Further safety notification information is provided in Appendix 5.
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SECURE – Our maritime system protects people and goods
from unlawful actions as they move across domestic and
international waters
Close to 99 percent of New Zealand’s imports and exports (by volume) are transported by sea, so it is important
that the international transport system operates without disruption. The Maritime Security Act (MSA) requires all
vessels that visit New Zealand ports and harbours to comply with the International Ship and Port Facility Security
(ISPS) Code.
While security breaches are difficult to predict, Maritime NZ monitors a high-level system indicator.

Indicator: Security incidents reported by
ports and offshore industry bodies annually
in New Zealand waters

2021 target:

No security

There have been no major security incidents reported at
ports or in the offshore sector. Some minor incidents have
been reported to Maritime NZ, but these have not met the
threshold for reporting under the MSA. No major security
incidents have been reported in the offshore sector.
The US Coast Guard currently rates New Zealand's port
security compliance as very good and future compliance
visits will likely occur every two or more years, rather than
annually.

incidents in New
Zealand waters
2015 result:
Zero incidents



CLEAN – Our environment is clean and protected
Activities such as shipping and offshore oil and gas development bring important economic benefits to New
Zealand, but they also create environmental protection issues. These have historically had a significant focus on
the prevention and response to oil spills although, following the Rena incident, the wider pollution impacts from
maritime activity have come more to the fore. Maritime NZ’s goal is to minimise compliance costs for industry,
while safeguarding lives, the marine environment and property.

Indicator: Annual number of oil spill incidents reported in New Zealand waters
Maritime NZ monitors the number of oil spills reported directly to them or via regional councils. During the
2014/15 financial year, a total of 94 oil spills across New Zealand (Tier 1 and 2) were reported.
140
120

2021 target:

100

<80 oil spills reported

80

2015 Result:
Trending
downwards

60
40
20
0
2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Figure 3: Number of reported oil spill incidents within the
Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ)
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Delivering against our strategy
Progress towards Maritime NZ’s Strategic Goals
To drive performance towards the desired outcomes for the maritime system, Maritime NZ puts focus on four strategic goals
that can be directly influenced by the organisation over the longer term. For each of these the intended impacts are
specified, as shown below.

Strategic goals

Intended impacts
Specifically this means:


International engagement ensures global regulation aligns with New Zealand’s
interests



Policy advice ensures maritime safety, security and marine environmental
protection regulation is fit-for-purpose



Government initiatives are informed by an awareness of maritime safety, security
and marine environmental protection interests



Comprehensive domain assessments continually shape regulation and compliance
practices.



Compliance strategies and campaigns support, encourage and require commercial
operators to take responsibility for the safety of their maritime operations



Safety strategies and campaigns lead to improved safety attitudes and behaviours
across the recreational boating community



Compliance strategies and campaigns are based on monitoring and risk profiling to
ensure the most appropriate interventions are chosen to address risks to safe,
secure and clean waters



Implementation of the seafarer certification framework provides for internationally
acceptable seafarer qualifications.



An efficient and effective national search and rescue coordination service within an
integrated search and rescue system (jointly with NZSAR Secretariat and NZ
Police) which takes full advantage of modern technology to save lives



A fit-for-purpose maritime incident response system provides effective response
and recovery for national maritime incidents, minimising social and economic harm



A comprehensive pollution preparedness and response service minimises the
environmental and economic impact of any oil spill



An internationally linked, intelligence-led security system assures protection for all
in New Zealand’s maritime area of responsibility.



An integrated information base supports evidence-based, risk-focused decision
making that is of consistent high quality



A resilient, healthy, capable organisation has people who are valued and energised
to deliver high quality regulatory, compliance and response services



There is sustainable funding to deliver identified outcomes



Collaboration with other agencies enables sharing of resources and builds
capability that improves government services



Business processes enable straight-forward, efficient transactions with Maritime NZ
that enhance compliance.

Key achievements during 2014/15 in each of our four strategic goals and intended impacts are present on the following
pages. Strategic performance indicators were established in the Statement of Intent 2014-20 to measure progress.
Since then there has been a review of performance indicators to refine data collected by Maritime NZ and provide a smaller,
more meaningful set of indicators for reporting purposes. Where changes have occurred in indicators this is shown by the
symbol () in the following performance tables. An overall summary of the changes is provided as Appendix 4: Safety
notification information.
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Strategic goal 1: Regulation that is relevant and robust
Robust and relevant regulation contributes to the safety, security and cleanliness of the maritime system by establishing clear standards, that are
internationally credible and based on rigorous development and supporting evidence. Our regulation must remain relevant to the New Zealand
context and be capable of adapting to changes in the maritime environment and the behaviour of commercial and recreational participants. It must
be geared to the degree of risk posed by different maritime activities and be operable in terms of transparency and ease of application.
Relevant
means:

•
•
•

Fit-for-purpose, focused on the degree of potential risk
Current, in step with economic, social and technological
developments
Acknowledges industry needs, readily understood and
easy to apply, and supports behavioural change

Robust
means:

•
•

•

Internationally credible with maritime
agencies and governments
Durable, but can adapt to changing needs
Evidence-based, developed through
rigorous processes

Maritime NZ has identified four impact areas with associated work programmes, and the achievements against these impacts are outlined below:

Impact 1: International engagement ensures global regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Improve International Engagement

Desired result: International engagement ensures global
regulation aligns with New Zealand’s interests .



Review of the International Engagement Strategy



Advising government on convention obligations to which New Zealand is
not party.

Indicator


Prioritised contribution at international meetings and fora,
where Maritime NZ can influence international outcomes to
reflect New Zealand’s interests.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

International Engagement Strategy: A governance structure was established in
2014 to ensure appropriate internal and external stakeholder engagement
within Maritime NZ and across government. This has given momentum to the
implementation of the five goals of the strategy. Significant progress has been
made on a number of issues that have been a focus for involvement at the
International Maritime Organisation (IMO):

International engagement remained a focus to ensure that New
Zealand’s interests have been adequately addressed as part of
international decision making that affects our overseas trade and
domestic regulatory environments.







Amendments to the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) Convention through
the adoption of the International Code for Ships Operating in Polar
Waters (Polar Code) provide for improved vessel standards which are
expected to make ships more capable of operating in ice conditions,
reducing the risks of environmental harm and loss of life, and potentially
the number of search & rescue missions from New Zealand.
SOLAS amendments to require verification of the gross mass of
containers have also been adopted, with New Zealand representatives
working hard to influence the development of this requirement to provide
a workable approach for New Zealand and South Pacific nations that
would reduce compliance costs.
The agreement for mandatory amendments to SOLAS related to the
design, construction and installation of ships' lifting appliances.

New Zealand also participated in ongoing work to improve IMO guidelines on
the implementation of the Ballast Water Management Convention with a view
to encourage entry into force of this Convention internationally, and
contributed to the debate and decision to dissolve the 1971 International Oil
Pollution Compensation (IOPC) Fund, which ensured New Zealand interests
are not burdened with unnecessary or inappropriate costs.

Maritime NZ has taken a strategic approach, prioritising its
allocation of limited resources to international developments that
have the most impact on outcomes for New Zealand’s maritime
system and environment. This approach is being tested with
impact on this sought from government and industry
stakeholders in 2015/16.
A triage and prioritisation system developed under the
engagement strategy coordination plan continues to be utilised
to assess the priority and impact of new IMO planned outputs,
which in turn aids determining which IMO meetings must,
should or could be attended. The 2014/15 Maritime NZ work
plan for IMO containing the proposed 2014/15 attendance plan
remains the base document for IMO attendance. An International
Maritime Cross-Agency group undertakes ongoing reviews of the
proposed 2014/15 attendance plan against the output of the
triage and prioritisation system.
A draft 2015/16 attendance plan was developed, considered and
approved in principle by the International Leadership Group for
use as the base document for the next year

A review of the current International Engagement Strategy (established in April
2013) has been initiated to review the five goals and current priorities going
forward.
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Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

Assessment of new convention obligations: A prioritisation matrix was
developed to ensure a robust basis for determining which of the numerous,
and sometimes onerous, new maritime Conventions need to be considered,
before New Zealand decides whether or not to accede.

A Maritime NZ prioritisation matrix for new convention
obligations was developed and is being utilised to assist
engagements with MOT on policy prioritisation. This work also
informs the review of international engagement. This has
enabled good progress on determing how to prioritise and engage
on international policy issues.

In this context, Maritime New Zealand has provided support and advice to the
Ministry of Transport (MOT) on a number of IMO conventions to which New
Zealand is not currently party but is working towards accession, i.e. the
International Labour Organization Maritime Labour Convention 2006; the
International Convention on Standards of Training, Certification and
Watchkeeping for Fishing Vessel Personnel 1995 (STCW-F); and the 2012
Cape Town Agreement on the Implementation of the Provisions of the 1993
Torremolinos Protocol Relating to the 1977 International Convention for the
Safety of Fishing Vessels.

Case study: International engagement benefits New Zealand
Maritime NZ’s advocacy for regulations covering onboard lifting appliances has finally achieved results.
International Maritime Organization (IMO) member states have agreed to amend the SOLAS Convention covering onboard
lifting appliances – cranes, loose gear and winches – after more than eight years of advocacy by Maritime NZ.
At the June 2015 meeting of the Maritime Safety Committee, a majority of IMO member states spoke in favour of
amending the SOLAS convention to include requirements for lifting equipment on ships, a proposal led by Maritime NZ
delegates.
A SOLAS regulation will be developed around the design, construction and
installation of onboard lifting appliances. In addition, these types of
equipment will have to be in accordance with guidelines also to be
developed to cover design, fabrication and construction; onboard
procedures for routine inspection, maintenance and operation of lifting
appliances and winches; and familiarisation of ship's crew and shore-based
personnel.
While New Zealand law currently addresses standards for lifting gear, and
enables action when a problem occurs in relation to foreign ships operating
in New Zealand ports, the changes to SOLAS will lift standards
internationally. This will help prevent vessels arriving at New Zealand ports
with inadequate lifting equipment, and strengthen Maritime NZ’s ability to
deal with problems through Port State control mechanisms.
Maritime NZ staff have been striving since 2007 to get this work started
after recording 334 incidents at New Zealand ports on foreign-flagged
vessels between 2000 and 2007, of which 64 involved ships’ lifting
appliances. Eighteen of these incidents involved serious injury.
Since January 2013, seven incidents involving lifting equipment have
occurred in New Zealand ports with one resulting in a significant injury to
a ship’s crew member.
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Impact 2: Policy advice ensures maritime safety, security and marine environmental protection
regulation is fit-for-purpose
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Deliver Annual Regulatory Programme

Desired result: We provide advice on the regulatory framework and
advance policy and regulatory advice to address gaps to ensure that
regulation is, and remains, relevant and robust. Regulatory
shortcomings are not found to be a major contributing factor in
fatal/serious harm accidents.





Delivery of an annual regulatory programme which includes:
o the development of an agreed annual rules programme
o policy investigations
o reviews of regulations that support the maritime system
Reviews of sector safety standards.

Indicator
•

The transport regulatory programme is appropriately prioritised
to ensure regulation is fit-for-purpose.

Progress this year:

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

Delivery of annual regulatory programme: All rules were delivered to, or
ahead of, required timeframes – except where variations were agreed with
the Ministry of Transport. Four items on the Rules Programme have been
completed. These are:

Rules programme delivered as agreed, and sector reviews completed
ahead of schedule.






Update to reflect changes to the International Convention for the
Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) 1974
Omnibus International Convention Amendments 2014
Omnibus Maritime and Marine Protection Rule Amendment
2014/15
Omnibus Maritime and Marine Protection Rule Amendment
2013/14.

The policy investigations forming part of the regulatory programme were
all delivered on time with the exception of one item relating to the SOLAS
catch-up work.
Reviews of sector safety standards: Good progress was made over the year
with the two key pieces of work delivered ahead of schedule:

the Recreational Boating Strategy Review was completed in
December 2014

Well Control Contingency Strategy, developed in the context of the
Policy Investigation of Rule Part 200, was completed and approved.

Impact 3: Government initiatives are informed by an awareness of maritime safety, security and
marine environmental protection interests
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Contribute to Government Regulatory Reform
Contribution to government reviews and developments (2015–2021)
including:

Desired result: Maritime NZ is consulted by key players on relevant
policy and programmes. Maritime NZ’s contribution influences the
outcome where appropriate.



Indicator




Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment review of health
and safety in employment (HSE) regime
Outdoor and adventure health and safety in employment standards
review
Exclusive Economic Zone Act interaction, including advice on
sequencing of regulatory decisions.



Maritime NZ’s engagement and policy advice improves external
stakeholders’ understanding of safety, security and
environmental protection interests.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

Over the year Maritime NZ has contributed strongly to key government
reviews and developments, most notably:

Maritime NZ has been very actively involved in numerous government
initiatives over the year, and through its efforts has ensured that
maritime safety, security and environmental protection interests and
issues are understood, and reflected in wider government policy and
programmes.



Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment (MBIE) led review
of the Health & Safety in Employment Act



Ministry for the Environment (MfE) development of an amendment
to the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ)



Ministry Of Transport (MoT) review of alcohol and drugs in transport
and lifejacket requirements



MOT and MBIE led review of financial security requirements in the
offshore oil and gas industry
MOT-led review Regulatory Reform Programme, particularly a review
of the Rules provisions in the Maritime Transport Act.
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Impact 4: Comprehensive domain assessments continually shape regulation and compliance
practices
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Develop Evaluation Framework

Desired result: Domain assessments continually shape regulation and
compliance practices.



Utilise relevant research and data collection opportunities and
skills on offer in the wider transport sector.

Undertake Reviews of the Maritime System




Indicator
•

Domain assessments inform decision-making.

Coastal Navigation Safety Review
Review and refresh the implementation of the Port and Harbour
Marine Safety Code
Development of Sector Reports.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

The development of a Maritime NZ Evaluation Framework has been
deferred to the 2015/16 financial year due to resourcing constraints.
Evaluation frameworks for MOSS and SeaCert have been progressed
over the year and these will feed into Maritime NZ’s overall framework.

All ports and harbours have come up to the standards required by the
existing (10-year-old) Code, with the exception of Otago where action is in
train. A revised 2015 edition of the Code is being developed to reflect
legislative changes in the Maritime Transport Act 2012 and the first draft
is being discussed with port and regional council staff around the country.
The positive progress that has been made in this work reflects an effective
relationship with port authorities and regional councils.

Coastal Navigation Safety Review: Good progress has been made with
Maritime NZ’s review of how effectively coastal navigation safety risks
are identified and managed within New Zealand’s territorial waters.
This review has been welcomed by industry; and nine regional
meetings, held in priority coastal locations throughout New Zealand,
have been well attended by maritime sector stakeholders. Inputs from
these sessions, interviews and workshops with expert mariners, along
with research material and quantitative data, has undergone
independent analysis to produce a draft report of the findings and
recommendations. The review has also been informed by best practice
examples, from similar jurisdictions. The final report is due by the end
of 2015.

The Coastal Navigation Safety review is on track.
As at the end of the financial year, four sector reports had been
completed – for the commercial fishing, recreational boating, adventure
tourism, and offshore mining and exploration sectors. These provide a
resource for all areas of Maritime NZ about conditions, trends, issues and
opportunities in the sectors they work with.

Over the year, Maritime NZ, regional council and port CEOs, along with
regional maritime staff, have pooled resources in order to complete
safety management systems to New Zealand Port and Harbour Marine
Safety Code standard.
To help it better understand and respond to a diverse range of issues
and circumstances, Maritime NZ has divided the maritime community
into eight ‘sectors’; and is developing a sector profile for each of them.
These will provide a clear description of each sector, its performance
metrics, the regulatory framework within which it operates, the unique
issues and risks that it faces, and the strategic work plan that
Maritime NZ has in place (or is planning) to address these issues and
risks. Once completed, the eight ‘Sector Reports’ will enable Maritime
NZ to engage in more proactive planning and decision making at both
an operational and a strategic level.

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2014/2015
24

Strategic goal 2: Risk-focused, responsive compliance practices that
reduce harm in the maritime system
Risk-focused, responsive compliance practices contribute to the safety, security and cleanliness of the maritime system, by enabling us to recognise
the diversity of the sectors we regulate; and suitably target our resources and activities to focus on preventing harm and address varying risks
between different sectors and operators. In practice this means we adopt a problem-solving approach, based on increasingly detailed understandings
of the factors that shape the operations and behaviours of those we regulate. We also apply a range of interventions, selecting the strategies and
tools that increase the likelihood of compliance by different sectors, groups and individuals.
Our effectiveness also depends on being seen as a professional, credible agency that is fair and appropriate. It is important that we design and
implement consistent and reliable compliance processes that are informed by an understanding of circumstances of the maritime sector, and do not
impose undue complexity or cost on the sector.

Riskfocused
means:

•

Targeted and proportionate to sector/operator
risks

•

Exercising sound judgment in applying the
right regulatory tools at the right time

•

Putting emphasis on prevention of harm

Responsive
means:

•
•

•

Based on a problem-solving approach
Acknowledging industry business drivers, but
not dictated by them
Consistent and reliable engagement, without
unnecessary transaction costs

Maritime NZ has identified four impact areas with associated work programmes, and the achievements against these impacts are outlined below:

Impact 1: Compliance strategies and campaigns support, encourage and require commercial
operators to take responsibility for the safety of their maritime operations
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Implement Health and Safety in Employment reforms

Desired result: Operators demonstrate a good understanding of
appropriate safety systems and their accountabilities; and through good
practice, there is a reduction in the need for direct intervention by
Maritime NZ, and a reducing risk profile across sectors subject to MOSS
and the new Health and Safety requirements.

Implement and demonstrate the value of the new Health and Safety
Act by working with the lead agency (Worksafe NZ) to coordinate
implementation activities. These will limit dual compliance
requirements and ensure that the new HSE regulations are easy for
operators to use and comply with.
Implement Maritime Operator Safety System
Implement and demonstrate the value of the Maritime Operator
Safety System by:

supporting relevant sectors to transition from Safe Ship
Management into MOSS

building operators’ safety knowledge ‘up front’ and their
understanding of MOSS

building frontline maritime technical capability.

Indicator:


A reducing risk profile within sectors subject to MOSS, over time.

Assessment of achievement: ACTIVE ENGAGEMENT
ONGOING

Progress this year
Implementing Health and Safety in Employment reforms:
Maritime NZ has continued to engage with MBIE and WorkSafe in
relation to policy development for the legislation and regulations, and
regarding implementation and funding.

Maritime NZ has actively engaged to influence HSE regulatory reform and
prepare for implementation of the proposed new regime in 2016. This
area remains a risk unless adequate resources are made available for
Maritime NZ’s increasing responsibilities.

The new legislation, which is now expected to come into force in
April 2016, will expand Maritime NZ’s health and safety
responsibilities for the maritime sector. The impact on Maritime NZ’s
workload is being managed by working in partnership with WorkSafe
as much as possible. Maritime NZ will also explore possibilities for
securing funding for implementation responsibilities which include
developing guidance material for the sector, training HSE inspectors,
and enhancing information systems. Maritime NZ has also
established a Senior Operations Advisor (through re-prioritisation),
specifically focusing on health and safety.
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Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: ON TRACK TO HAVE ALL
OPERATORS IN MOSS BY JUNE 2018

MOSS Implementation: The new Maritime Operator Safety System
(MOSS) for New Zealand’s 1,666 operators – covering 2,755 smaller
commercial vessels – was introduced in July 2014, replacing the former
Safe Ship Management (SSM) system. MOSS marks the most
significant change to New Zealand’s regulatory regime for domestic
commercial shipping for 15 years.

MOSS requires maritime operators to develop and maintain their own
safety system, tailored to the particular safety needs of their vessels and
covering all aspects of their operation. Through this greater focus on and
responsibility for safety, MOSS will improve safety outcomes.
As can be expected with any significant regulatory reform, there have
been major challenges to be managed, but good progress has been made
with the transition to MOSS as we strengthen our engagement with and
support for operators, and improve the efficiency of entry processes.

As at 31 July 2015, 452 operators (27 percent of expected operators)
had been issued with new Maritime Transport Operator Certificates
(MTOCs) or had submitted applications, representing 39 percent of the
vessels expected to enter MOSS by June 2018. Additionally 356
Deemed MTOC audits were completed for operators with SSM
certificates that were valid at the changeover date. These numbers are
broadly on track with expectations for throughput in the first year of the
transition.

The shift inherent in MOSS from a safety system based on vessels (SSM)
to one based on operators, means there is no baseline information.
Furthermore, there is a lengthy transition period before all, or even the
majority of the domestic fleet subject to MOSS, is in the new system.
A reducing risk profile within sectors subject to MOSS, over time, will be
measured through audit outcomes. To date, most audits have been
deemed-MTOC audits and therefore these results may confirm issues
with the previous SSM system rather than the impact of MOSS.

Over the second half of the year Maritime NZ focused heavily on leading
domestic commercial vessel operator entry into MOSS, and on
improving internal processes to meet entry demands and ensure the
timely processing of applications. Flexibility and adaptability in our
approach and thinking has resulted in higher levels of operator
engagement and satisfaction, particularly where Maritime NZ has
provided opportunities for face-to-face interaction with maritime
officers, and an emphasis on education.

Maritime NZ needs more operators in MOSS, and to have completed
more MOSS audit cycles, to determine whether there are a reducing
number of non-conformities over time. As this information base
increases, results will be reported in subsequent annual reports.

An ongoing focus on training and mentoring from subject matter experts
is expected to strengthen performance of MOSS audits. Maritime NZ
has also undertaken seminars for MOSS surveyors to ensure that there
are high quality and competent surveyors supporting operators.
An increased emphasis on operator engagement, and streamlined
processes, is giving Maritime NZ a deeper understanding of the risks
that need to be addressed and is providing reassurance to the industry.
Maritime NZ has also put significant effort into communications to
counter misinformation and reduce concerns among operators.

Case studies:
The benefits of MOSS – operators own safety
“You just start at the beginning and finish at the end.” That’s the straightforward advice from Susanne Smith of Alamo
Fisheries on putting together a Maritime Transport Operator Plan (MTOP) as part of MOSS
Susanne and husband Craig operate the 14 metre cray fishing vessel Te Wai. Susanne is
shore manager for ‘Alamo’ and developed the MTOP after a MOSS workshop and advice
from Maritime NZ staff.
Susanne said the key point she had taken from the workshop was that MOSS was designed
to be tailored to specific operations. “It’s about your boat and your operation. Everyone
has a different operation and does things a bit differently and the plan needs to reflect
that.”
“It’s been straightforward really, there was just a process to go through and we followed
that, using the (Maritime NZ) template as a starting point. We sat down and talked about
all the things that are done on board and how they are done. You need to make sure
everything you do is in your plan, and you’re doing what you say in the plan.”

Role modeling safe boating behaviour
Big Angry Fish co-host Nathan O’Hearn advises other operators to embrace MOSS,
and treat the process as a “simple matter”.
“It wasn’t as hard a job as I thought it was when going through it. It’s pretty easy
when you know how to do it. It’s as simple as filling in the form, if you know your
own operation.”
The benefit of MOSS, he says, is that it encompasses an operator’s whole operation.
“It’s your system. Everybody knows their own operation. You know what you do; your
problems and hazards. It’s your plan, and you are telling Maritime NZ what you do.”
Nathan says ‘being safe on the water’ is important to their business, and they have
been glad to role model safe boating behaviour on their popular fishing show.
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Impact 2: Safety strategies and campaigns lead to improved safety attitudes and behaviours across
the recreational boating community
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Implement Recreational Boating Initiatives

Desired result: Recreational boaties are more knowledgeable about safety
and demonstrate safer behaviour.




Delivery of annual safer recreational boating advertising and
educational campaigns
Leadership of the New Zealand Safer Boating Forum and the
delivery of Safer Boating Strategic Work Plan 2015–2017.

Indicators



safety equipment is increasingly carried and used appropriately by
recreational boaties over time.
increasing proportion of survey respondents who report positive
changes in behaviour as a result of exposure to safety messages.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

Recreational Boating Initiatives: Maritime NZ has continued to drive
safety messages through publications, boat shows, community
engagement programmes and promotion of life jacket wearing on the
“Big Angry Fish’ television programme.

Maritime NZ commissioned two relevant surveys in this financial year.
One, conducted by Research New Zealand, focused on establishing the
rates of participation in recreational boating and the characteristics of
those who took part. That survey found that 29 percent of adult New
Zealanders, aged 18 years and over, reported being involved in
recreational boating.
Kayaks/canoes were the most popular recreational vessel (in terms of
ownership, 10 percent), followed by power boats under six metres and
dinghies. Almost all recreational vessel users (96 percent) reported
carrying lifejackets on board their vessels. However, only 65 percent of
recreational vessel users ensured they carried enough lifejackets for
everyone on board every time they went out on their vessel.
A total 76 percent of people said they never consumed alcohol while
boating and 64 percent said they checked the weather forecast before
they went boating.
98 percent said they carried one means of communication while boating;
however only 51 percent said they carried two means of communicating.
More information about this survey is available on the Maritime NZ
website - http://www.maritimenz.govt.nz/Recreational-Boating/Research.asp

The annual summer campaign was launched with a very successful
‘Safer Boating Week’ and survey analysis showed very positive results in
terms of awareness and intended compliance with safety measures.
To date, the “Don’t be a Clown” advertisement has won two national
research awards, five CAANZ Beacon awards (including Advertiser of
the year). Maritime NZ and FCB Media won Advertiser of the Year, best
use of research, best integrated campaign, social marketing/public
service and best communications strategy.
The "Get it on or it's no Good" lifejackets campaign has also won one
CAANZ bronze Effie for social marketing advertising effectiveness, and
a NZ Direct Marketing bronze award for digital campaign (government
sector).
A new strategic plan and terms of reference were adopted by the Safer
Boating Forum, enabling a more coordinated cross-sector approach.
Good progress is being made in implementing the national strategic
programme of work.
Despite the substantial educational and compliance programmes run by
Maritime NZ and its Forum partners, the boating toll has remained
stubbornly high. This is partly a reflection of the high participation
rates generated by the good weather over the 2014/15 summer months,
but it is clear that many of the casualties could have been prevented if
lifejackets had been worn.
It is likely that more will need to be done in this area in the future if
this trend is to be reversed, including the adoption of a consistent
national regulatory approach to the wearing of lifejackets in small
boats. With up to two thirds of those dying each year not wearing
lifejackets, the case for their use is overwhelming.

Meanwhile, Maritime NZ also commissioned IPSOS to review the
effectiveness of the “Get it on” campaign to encourage boat users to
wear life jackets. For this survey, 597 participants completed an online
survey in May 2015. All participants owned or spent time on a
recreational watercraft or vessel in the past year. All live in New Zealand
and are aged over 15 years. A total 78 percent said they wear a lifejacket
the entire time they are on the water and 60 percent regularly ensured
that they carried enough life jackets for everyone on board and ensured
that adults and children wore them most of the time. This is an increase
on previous years at 54 percent (2014) and 49 percent (2013).
Awareness of the television advertising, amongst men aged 15-59 years
old was 61 percent. Those who recalled the campaign reported some very
positive behavioural changes. In particular, of the men who did recall the
campaign 66 percent said they took some action including such as
making sure adults or children wear lifejackets all the time, or at least on
a more regular basis.

Campaign focuses boaties’ attention on
key safety messages
To launch October 2014’s Safer Boating Week, 10 senior boating safety leaders,
including Maritime NZ’s Director Keith Manch and the chief executives of Water
Safety NZ, the Greater Wellington Regional Council and the Tourism Industry
Association, jumped off the wharf in Wellington wearing lifejackets. The
number 10 represents the average number of people who could be saved
every year in New Zealand if everyone wore lifejackets when they went out
boating.
On average, two-thirds of the 15 people who die in boating accidents in New
Zealand each year could have been saved if they wore a lifejacket. The line-up
of senior representatives from a range of agencies involved in water and
boating safety also highlighted the collaborative approach that safety agencies
take to improving boating practices.
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Impact 3: Compliance strategies and campaigns are based on monitoring and risk profiling to ensure
the most appropriate interventions are chosen to address risks to safe, secure and clean waters
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Undertake Targeted Compliance Campaigns

Desired result: Maritime NZ designs and implements compliance
strategies tailored to sectors and/or operations. More operators within a
sector are aware of the compliance approach Maritime NZ is using and
why this is necessary.






Focus operational compliance activities in key commercial sectors
(ie. foreign shipping, NZISM, Fishing, etc) on fatal and serious
harm accidents.
Port State Control inspection programme for international vessels.
Support frontline intelligence gathering by utilising relevant
research and data collection opportunities and skills within the
wider transport sector.
Standard audit programme and environmental compliance
activities.

Indicators



A reducing proportion of high risk vessels visiting New Zealand
Proportion of survey respondents reported by sector who are aware
of their own risk profile and of targeted compliance strategies.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: MOSS RAISING AWARENESS
OF RISK

The main challenges and pressures on Maritime NZ’s compliance
activity during this year have been felt the most within this impact area.
The key to managing these effectively has been a pragmatic priorisation
of the work programe. Prioritisation decisions have been risk-based and
have included limiting the number of operations that specifically target
non-compliant operators, managing risks to an acceptable level through
the MOSS implementation programme and routine compliance
activities. Notwithstanding these challenges, compliance activity has
continued as summarised below.

In 2014 Maritime NZ commissioned the research company Nielson (in
partnership with WorkSafe) to survey workers and employers in the
commercial fishing sector about their views and what happens in their
workplace with regard to health and safety practices. A total of 514
workers and 147 employers were interviewed for the commercial fishing
sector. About half of commercial fishing sector workers and employers
know their industry is riskier than other industries but do not
acknowledge the potential for harm in their own workplaces. 19 percent
of workers but only 4 percent of employers think there is a moderate
chance of a worker getting seriously hurt in their own workplace in the
next 12 months.
The Commercial Fishing Sector is aware of Maritime NZ’s campaigns and
has responded to the messages to an extent. Over 50 percent of workers
(52%) and employers (65%) recalled general health and safety messages
without prompting. 58 percent of workers and 66 percent of employers
said they had seen the FishSAFE campaign and made changes to safety
behaviours.
To view the full reports available visit www.maritimenz.govt.nz/hse.

Illegal Operators: An exercise to target potential illegal operators has
identified only 33 this year, compared with the much larger number
last financial year. Rather than managing these through a dedicated
campaign, compliance actions have been addressed through businessas-usual activity by regional compliance staff, to achieve the desired
result.
Implementation of recommendations from the Port State Control
review: This work has been tracking well with the development and
testing of training material. However capacity for roll-out of training is
limited due to resource constraints.
Supporting the reflagging of Foreign Chartered Fishing Vessels (FCFV):
Maritime NZ has continued to work closely with industry to ensure that
all owners and operators of FCFV are clear about the requirements for
reflagging and are provided with sufficient information and support to
enable them to reflag the vessels should they choose to meet the
relevant requirements.
There are currently a total of 19 FCFV operating on the coast of New
Zealand, 14 of which operate year round and five seasonally. As at 30
June 2015, three FCFVs have reflagged. Two have decided to depart
NZ by 30 September 2015. One will reflag by the 30 September and
the remaining eight are in the process of working towards compliance.
Ministry of Primary Industries (MPI) legislation requires all FCFVs to be
New Zealand flagged if they wish to continue fishing in NZ after 1 May
2016. Meeting the 1 May 2016 deadline is important to address risks
to New Zealand's reputation and trade. After reflagging, New Zealand
can hold these vessel operators accountable for compliance with
applicable New Zealand law. MPI legislation does not provide for an
exemption hence if FCFV do not reflag by 1 May 2016, it will be the
Operators responsibility to contact the Ministry of Primary Industries
and discuss whether they can continue fishing in New Zealand.
While Maritime NZ is working proactively with FCFV operators, there is
a considerable amount of work that needs to be completed by most
operators to enable them to meet the new safety requirements set by
MOSS and comply with New Zealand’s health and safety legislation.
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Impact 4: Implementation of the seafarer certification framework provides for internationally
acceptable seafarer qualifications
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Implement Seafarer Certification Framework

Desired result: An increasing number of New Zealand seafarers have
qualifications consistent with Maritime NZ’s seafarer certification
framework.



Implementation of the SeaCert framework

Indicators


Development of a transition plan and a framework to manage
seafarer transition within specified timeframes.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: TRANSITION PLAN
CONTINUES TO BE DEVELOPED

Seafarer Certification Framework: Sound progress has been made with
the initial implementation of SeaCert over 2014/15. This has involved
managing two separate channels of work: the provision of certification
services to new applicants into the system (which is relatively
straightforward); and transitioning existing seafarers – a significant
proportion of whom are complex due to the history associated with each
seafarer, their original ‘tickets’ and the range of their experience.

SeaCert is the new seafarer certification framework for Maritime NZ’s
national and international certificates of competency and proficiency
which was officially launched on 1 April 2014. SeaCert is a clear and
modern framework which is relevant to industry needs. It enables a
straightforward entry process and practical progression system for
seafarers, with robust and portable qualifications.

Work is underway to manage the spikes in certification applications
forecast to occur in 2016 and 2019. These spikes are caused by
current certificate holders need to transition to new certificates under
the internationally imposed IMO STCW regime and/or the SeaCert
regime. With the prospect of increasing workloads as transition dates
come closer, Maritime NZ has been actively exploring options to
effectively manage these spikes.

Moving seafarers into the SeaCert framework, including the provision of
certification services to applicants in the system and transitioning
existing seafarers, will continue to be a key strategic focus for Maritime
NZ. A plan will be developed by the end of the 2015 calendar year,
following the assessment of options to manage required transition points
in 2016 and 2019.

Interaction with the New Zealand Qualifications Authority (NZQA) has
increased following the listing of the qualifications for national awards.
Maritime NZ is also actively working with training providers to ensure
they develop their courses within the required timeframes.
Over the year Maritime NZ has also revisited some key system
improvements, with priority being given to data collection to support
more accurate business reporting and workflow management.

Case study: Direct engagement strengthens safety outcomes
Attendance by Maritime NZ at the May 2015 NZ Federation of Commercial Fishermen conference held in Napier was
hailed as a success by both Maritime NZ and the Federation.
Maritime NZ staff were able to provide direct one-on-one advice on MOSS and SeaCert to conference delegates, and
General Manager Maritime Standards Sharyn Forsyth said for many of the operators attending, the experience had
transformed their view of Maritime NZ, MOSS and SeaCert.
An introductory session highlighted how feedback from the Federation had influenced Maritime NZ to change operational
practice in relation to SeaCert, and the transition process was explained in simple terms. Throughout the conference, a
“drop-in” service for SeaCert was provided, with more than 30 operators receiving one-on-one written advice, signed as
accurate by Maritime NZ. A workshop session for MOSS also allowed specific advice to be provided, face-to-face.
Federation President Doug Saunders-Loder said the Maritime NZ
approach worked for fishermen.
“The issue for fishermen is that people don’t want to just get stuff off the
web or use an 0800 number – they prefer to have that one-to-one, face to
face contact. And that is what worked so well at the conference,” Doug
said.
The Federation AGM was unanimous in its support of the approach taken
by Maritime NZ.
“Historically, communication has not always been what it could be, but
the presence of Maritime NZ staff last week, and the approach they took,
was truly appreciated. After all, we are all in this for the same outcome –
and that’s safety.”
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Strategic goal 3: Response capability that is well prepared, integrated and
effectively deployed to resolve emergency incidents
Well prepared, integrated and deployed response capability contributes to the safety, security and cleanliness of the maritime system by enabling
search and rescue coordination personnel to find and rescue people who are lost or in imminent danger through their sea, air, or land activities. It
also enables Maritime NZ to respond to maritime incidents and emergencies, including oil spills. It is essential to be well prepared by providing the
public with safety information through communications and navigational aids; by maintaining response resources and fit-for-purpose equipment; by
ensuring staff are appropriately trained; and by making sure Maritime NZ has clear agreements and procedures in place to guide and coordinate its
work during a response – both internally, and with key partners in central and local government, non-government and internationally.

Well
prepared
means:

•
•

Resources are in readiness in a timely
way
Comprehensive, multi-layered
capability that can be deployed flexibly

Integrated
means:

•

•

Coordinated between the different Maritime NZ functions
and across central and local government agencies, nongovernment and international partners
Contributing as appropriate to risk-reduction, readiness,
response and recovery (4Rs)

Maritime NZ has identified four impact areas with associated work programmes, and the achievements against these impacts are outlined below.
Assessment of impact under this strategic goal is measured against Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix which is provided as Appendix 5.

Impact 1: An efficient and effective national search and rescue coordination service within an
integrated search and rescue system (jointly with NZSAR Secretariat and NZ Police) which takes full
advantage of modern technology to save lives
SOI Programme of work 2014-2020

How we measure our success

Procurement and commissioning of MEOSAR
•
Procurement and commissioning the replacement Medium-altitude
Earth Orbit Search and Rescue (MEOSAR) satellite system.

Desired result: The coordination of search and rescue incidents within
New Zealand’s search and rescue region continually improves. The
search and rescue system continues to take advantage of technology
improvements.

•

Ongoing liaison, exercises and joint training throughout the New
Zealand search and rescue region.

Indicator: The Search and Rescue element of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported as amber or better with any remedial
action plans in place.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

The Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand has continued to deliver
high quality Search and Rescue (SAR) coordination services with no major
issues in the past year.
As at 30 June 2015, more than 54,750 emergency distress beacons have
been registered with the RCCNZ. There have been 9,290 new registrations
during the year, representing a 17 percent increase on the previous year.
Registrations of personal locator beacons (PLBs) made up 75 percent of
the total.
There were 574 beacon alerts during the year, a 4.9 percent increase over
last year. Of these, 166 involved real distress incidents.
The RCCNZ coordinated a total of 816 incidents:

753 Category II search and rescue incidents – those associated with
emergency location transmitters, missing or distressed aircraft or
vessels

RCCNZ is capable of responding efficiently and effectively to most
SAR incidents in New Zealand’s search and rescue region.
No major issues have been experienced during the coordination of
searches and relationships with key SAR and government partners
remain very positive and productive.
Aids to Navigation and Distress & Safety Communications networks
continue to provide highly reliable support to mariners.
The MEOSAR project continues on time and under budget and is on
track to be operational by December 2016.



42 Category I searches where RCCNZ provided some support for the
New Zealand Police



21 other (non SAR) incidents, such as medical evacuations.

AMBER STATUS for the Search and Rescue element of Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability Matrix.

A restructure of RCCNZ, combining Search and Rescue and infrastructure
safety services (Aids to Navigation and Distress and Safety
Communications) under a new management structure, has allowed for
more effective and efficient running of the services.
The MEOSAR project continues on time and under budget. There is very
close cooperation with Australia on this project, and significantly reduced
system costs for New Zealand as a result.
The site foundations have been laid ready for installation of the antennae
and control building later in 2015, with the electronic equipment built
and tested in the factory and now being shipped to New Zealand.
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Case study: Making a difference in the Pacific – saving lives
Helping to provide the Kiribati Maritime Police Unit with its own
search and rescue vessel was very rewarding says Maritime NZ’s
Pacific Shipping Safety Advisor Tony Parr.
The Government’s Pacific Maritime Safety Programme is
administered by New Zealand Aid with support from Maritime NZ.
It aims to deliver safety initiatives in Kiribati, Tonga and the Cook
Islands, as well as looking to add to the quality of navigational
charts across the Pacific.
Tony says the programme takes a broad approach. Initiatives range
from education and support through to providing practical assets
that will help Pacific governments improve maritime safety in their
regions – including the 8.2 metre fast response boat.
“The police unit had very few resources to respond to search and
rescue incidents,” said Tony. “The staple diet for most of the
islanders is imported rice and fish caught in the local sea area, but
there is competition with commercial operations for the catch and the artisanal fishermen need to go further and further
afield to catch fish. Many have been lost at sea.”
When local resources are unable to locate missing fishermen, they often call upon RCCNZ for support and the Royal New
Zealand Air Force regularly sends P3K Orion aircraft over to help local search and rescue teams.
“Providing an asset that will improve local capability will save lives. In addition, it will reduce the need for New Zealand to
provide airborne support from here,” said Tony.
The programme came about after a series of serious maritime accidents in the Pacific. These include the 2009 sinking of
the Kiribati ferry Uean Te Raoi II, with the loss of 33 lives, and the sinking just one month later of the ferry Princess Ashika
in Tonga, with 74 lost at sea.

Impact 2: A fit-for-purpose maritime incident response system provides effective response and
recovery for national maritime incidents, minimising social and economic harm
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Implement Integrated Incident Response Strategy
•
Implementation of the Maritime Emergency Response Programme
(MERP)

Desired result: New Zealand is well prepared for any maritime incident
through having capable and coordinated resources and can quickly
access and deploy these as required – including from external partners.

•

Hazardous and Noxious Substances Capability Improvement
Programme

•

Development of non-oil response capability requirements to
manage any future maritime transport emergencies.

Indicator: The Maritime Incident Response Team, Marine Pollution
Response Service, Search and Rescue and Response Coordination
elements of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix are reported as
Amber or better with any remedial action plans in place.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

The Maritime Emergency Response Programme continues to progress
well with the completion of the Maritime Incident Response Strategy,
and an associated suite of plans to put it into effect. We have also
finalised ten memoranda of undertaking with government agencies which
could be involved in a response.
The building blocks for Maritime NZ’s response capability continue to
grow with the identification of competencies for responders, and the
completion of position descriptions.
Over 60 Maritime NZ personnel have attended courses in in salvage and
offshore well control incidents and the response team has participated in
an exercise on nuclear ships seeking a place of refuge, incident response
exercises and information system training.

The publication of the Integrated Maritime Response Strategy is a major
step forward as, for the first time, there is a clearly articulated approach
to maritime incident response – from the minor/routine events to the
major incidents.
Sustained capability development and implementation for larger and
more complex Significant and Major incidents continues to be
challenging, but good progress has been made within the constraints of
the current funding and very limited staff resources.
A business case is under development to support a budget bid for
continued funding for capability building, beyond June 2016, to
progress from the solid base established by the current programme.
Without funding it will not be possible to sustain or evolve the capability
improvements made in the last three years.
AMBER STATUS for the Maritime Incident Response, Marine Pollution
Response Service, Search and Rescue and Response Coordination
elements of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix and positive
trend.
GREEN STATUS for the Security element of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix.
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Impact 3: A comprehensive pollution preparedness and response service minimises the
environmental and economic impact of any oil spill
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Maintain Oil Pollution Response Strategy
•
Adoption of Capability Plan and subsequent implementation
•
Marine Pollution Response Service Training System Review –
Regional and National
•
Contribute to Oil Spill capacity building
•
Develop a sustainable National Response Team
•
Enhance Information Management System Response

Desired result: There is sufficient capacity for an industry-level response
to an incident appropriate to the risk (Tier 1); Regional responders
demonstrate increased competency (Tier 2). Maritime NZ is able to lead
and manage a comprehensive, effective and efficient Tier 3 response to
a major oil spill incident.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR MET

Key outputs over the year include the development and completion of
the New Zealand Marine Oil Spill Response Strategy 2015 – 2019, the
completion of the Marine Oil Spill Risk Assessment 2015 and the
development of a Capability Plan for Marine Oil Spill Readiness and
Response 2016/17 – 2018/19.
The training review for regional responders and its implementation has
been the key area of work with significant improvements made to
programmes. Initial improvements to the National Response Team
training package has been developed and delivered to over 80 people.
In the Technical Services area, the equipment procurement programme
has completed Year 2 of the planned three year programme very
successfully and under budget. The aviation capability implementation
is all but complete, and we now have five aviation providers in the North
Island able to respond to an oil spill response in either the ‘observation’
or ‘dispersant deployment’ roles.

Overall, New Zealand’s oil spill capability continues to improve.
The offshore oil industry and larger fuel transfer sites are acknowledging
and beginning to enhance their own Tier 1 oil spill capabilities. Capital
equipment purchases continue to incrementally improve capability;
however there remains a need to replace old equipment and to purchase
enhanced capability to satisfy the intent of the oil spill strategy.

Indicator: The Marine Pollution Response Service element of Maritime
NZ’s Response Capability Matrix is reported as amber with positive
trend or better with any remedial action plans in place.

The National Response Team is now being trained, but further work and
resources are required. Work to move forward on the review of the Oil
Pollution Levy for 2016 onwards, and to implement the Capability Plan,
will continue the progress. The current review of the Oil Pollution Levy
seeks to secure funding for additional work that will deliver the
capability Plan and so support delivery of the Desired Result.
AMBER STATUS for the Marine Pollution Response Service element of
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix.

Impact 4: An internationally linked, intelligence-led security system assures protection for all in New
Zealand’s maritime area of responsibility
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Build Integrated Security Intelligence Capability
•
Strenthening engagement with all-of-government intelligence
community
•
Review of SOLAS ship security profiling tools
•
Enhance measurement of port security compliance activity
•
Develop port security stakeholder regime

Desired result: There is sufficient capacity for an industry-level response
to an incident appropriate to the risk (Tier 1); Regional responders
demonstrate increased competency (Tier 2).

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATOR EXCEEDED

Intelligence-led activities and maritime security compliance tasks,
including testing the response capability for NZ ports, have been key
areas of focus in the last year. These activities have been directed to
ensure that Maritime NZ maintains good connections to a robust
intelligence framework; and that when risks are identified, NZ ports are
able to respond appropriately.
The Maritime Security team has represented Maritime NZ in the
government review of the national intelligence requirements. Our
engagement with all-of-government continues through the Integrated
Targeted Operations Centre; and has increased with the creation of the
Maritime Security Oversight Committee, and continued participation and
engagement in the Committee on Counter Terrorism (including the
National Exercise programme).
All ports had their port security plans tested and generally the
complexity and conduct of port exercises have improved, providing more
robust measurement of incident response capability.

Six maritime security exercises were conducted over the period and
objectives were met for all. Exercises, liaison visits, audits and
inspections have enabled MNZ to assess that ports are compliant with
the Maritime Security Act 2004 and we remain confident that they
would be able to respond satisfactorily to a maritime incident.

Indicator: The Security element of Maritime NZ’s Response Capability
Matrix is reported as amber or better with any remedial action plans in
place.

Maritime NZ’s connections to the intelligence community remain sound
and this is essential in order to be able to receive classified information
that targets marine terrorism and geo-political issues.
GREEN STATUS for the Security element of Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix.
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Strategic goal 4: A results-driven and resilient organisation, working
collaboratively for success
The quality of Maritime NZ’s organisational capability contributes to the safety, security and cleanliness of the maritime system by enabling us to
build and sustain the skills, structures and systems necessary to operate cohesively as a whole; and connect with government partners and sector
stakeholders, nationally and internationally, to perform its core role as a regulatory, compliance and response agency. Maritime NZ’s capability
requires development and management of information resources, financial assets, efficient integrated business systems and processes, and the
commitment, leadership and competence of its people.
Resultsdriven
means:

•
•
•

Drawing on a robust evidence base and collective
organisational experience, for greater impact
Working constructively with sector, government and
international bodies to achieve shared outcomes
Delivering value for money in all its processes

Resilient
means:

•

•

Coordinated between the different Maritime NZ
functions and across central and local government
agencies, non-government and international
partners
Contributing as appropriate to risk-reduction,
readiness, response and recovery (4Rs)

Maritime NZ has identified five impact areas with associated work programmes, and the achievements against these impacts are outlined below:

Impact 1: An integrated information base supports evidence-based, risk-focused decision making
that is of consistent high quality
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Integrate Information Management

Desired result: All staff understand and use rules for organising
information. Staff trust and can easily access, use, and store and reuse information. Information quality, use and flows are governed by
formalised policies and practices that align with business processes.
ICT systems are delivered as per the ICT Investment Roadmap.




Implementation of an integrated IM/ICT Strategy
Develop and deploy a comprehensive ICT security framework in
alignment with government standards



Develop and deploy the Maritime NZ System Reform solution to
fully enable MOSS and SeaCert.

Indicators





Proportion of staff who agree that they can easily access, use,
store and re-use analytical and unstructured data
Information maturity assessment rating
Desired ICT capability maturity assessment rating achieved
(self-assessed)
Completion and deployment of Stages 1-3 Maritime NZ System
Reform by July 2016

Assessment of achievement: STRATEGY IN PLACE TO
DRIVE BEST PRACTICE INFORMATION MANAGEMENT

Progress this year

Access, use and re-use of information:

Implementation of an integrated IM/ICT Strategy: The major projects and
objectives of Maritime NZ's information systems team have been
integrated with the programmes under Maritime NZ's Information
Management Strategy, with the completion of an integrated plan. The
revised Information Strategic Plan (ISP) will be overseen by a new
IM/ICT Governance Group.This will drive greater cohesion in the
planning and implementation of information-related projects that involve
technological system change. Maritime NZ’s ICT Investment Roadmap
has also been updated to support the ISP.

Proportion of staff surveyed who responded that they agree/strongly
agree they can find information they need quickly: 20 percent
Proportion of staff surveyed who responded that they agree/strongly
agree that they can easily combine data from different Maritime NZ
sources: 6.2 percent
Results were sourced from an internal survey undertaken during
February 2015 prior to the upgrade of Maritime NZ’s Electronic
Document and Records Management System – 123 staff responded.
Maritime NZ will run this survey again during 2015/16.

Maritime NZ System Reform: The System Reform Project has continued
to make good progress during the year with Statements of Work on track
and work underway to further integrate Maritime NZ’s finance system
and customer relationship management system with the new “Triton”
system. This system is proving valuable in enabling the MOSS entry
process and in building a more comprehensive view of operators and
their safety systems.

Information maturity assessment: Maritime NZ has assessed its
maturity as 1.06 (on a 5-point scale), based on a government
approved assessment model covering 16 dimensions of information
maturity. Maritime NZ will re-assess its maturity every six months
through its Information Management governance group.
Maritime NZ has used the Benchmarking Administration and Support
Services (BASS) ICT maturity assessment tool to establish a current
state view of its ICT maturity and where it should prioritise future
development work. In addition, the ICT security and privacy maturity
self-assessment criteria, supplied by the GCIO, has been used to
determine current state and desired future state in the areas of ICT
security and privacy matters.

ICT security framework: Maritime NZ’s intention this year was to further
develop its capability and maturity with regard to ICT security and
privacy. A partnership arrangement with the newly established Transport
ICT Security Centre of Expertise (domiciled within NZTA) has assisted in
developing our security framework, policy, processes and associated
capability. Overarching this work has been Maritime NZ’s decision to
progress its voluntary compliance with the Government’s new Protective
Security Requirements (PSRs), which incorporates information security.
An initial assessment of our maturity and capability in this area was
recently completed (see Impact 2 below for further information). In
addition, as part of our internal assurance programme, we underwent an
independent audit to assess if Maritime NZ had taken appropriate
actions to mitigate the reputational and service delivery risks associated
with our informational assets.

System Reform made good progress during the period, after
development funding was confirmed in Budget 2015. This enabled
cementing of the commercial arrangements with our software vendor
and confirmation of the development pathway for the Triton software
solution in support of both MOSS and SeaCert. The project is
expected to be completed by the end of the 2015/16 financial year,
however further investment and development will be ongoing to
ensure the system remains fit-for-purpose and meets future business
requirements.
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Impact 2: A resilient, healthy, capable organisation has people who are valued and energised to
deliver high quality regulatory, compliance and response services
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Deliver People Capability Initiatives

Desired result: No one is harmed in the workplace, workloads are
manageable, staff are skilled and productive, and feel supported and
valued for their contribution. We also have the right people in the right
jobs, all of the time.






Implementation of People Capability Strategy initiatives
Implementation of the Structured and Integrated Learning
Programme
Develop and implement a Maritime NZ Leadership and
Management Development Programme
Maintain Level 2 accreditation in the ACC Workplace Safety
Management Practices (WSMP) scheme.

Indicators




Best Workplaces Survey: Overall rating above the Public Sector
median, and improved rating for leadership and training/capability
development
WSMP Level 2 Accreditation is maintained
Staff retention (resignations over previous reporting periods at %
average total staff).

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: INDICATORS MET

Delivery of People Capability Initiatives: Following the strong staff
engagement survey results in 2014, four key themes were identified:

Maritime NZ undertook a Workplace Survey in May 2014. Maritime
NZ’s overall rating was 32.5 percent engaged, which was above the
State Sector Benchmark of 20 percent. Maritime NZ’s rating for
leadership has improved by 2.1 percent, and training and capability
development has improved by 9.5 percent.



a continued focus on operating according to our values



improving communication, up, down and across the organisation



seeking to address work life balance / well-being and health



driving a stronger approach to leadership development, coaching
and feedback

Maritime NZ is planning to undertake a follow up Workplace Survey
during the second half of the 2015/16 financial year.
Maritime NZ (including RCCNZ and MPRS) has maintained its WSMP
Level 2 Accreditation, following an independent audit in May 2015.
Audits are undertaken biannually.

These themes are shaping management actions at all levels and are
being reinforced through a Leadership and Management Governance
Group. This is one of four governance groups set up to bring an end-toend perspective to key areas of organisational priority, and provide
enhanced guidance and support.

Staff retention for the rolling 12-month period ending 30 June 2015
was 87 percent (i.e. 13 percent voluntary staff turnover).This compares
favourably with the 2012 Public Sector median of 74 percent staff
retention.

Work has commenced on a Maritime NZ Leadership and Management
Development Programme aimed at enabling clear alignment with
Maritime NZ’s values, strategy and performance requirements.
The Structured and Integrated Learning (SAIL) Programme was on track
through the first half of the year, but latterly progress has been limited
through having no specialist resource in 2015.
ACC has confirmed that Maritime NZ, including RCCNZ and MPRS, has
passed the independent ACC WSMP external audit at Secondary level.
As a safety regulator, achieving this strong audit result demonstrates that
we lead by example in taking seriously the health and safety of our staff.
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Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Develop Organisational Business Continuity (BCP) and Security Initiatives

Desired result: Maritime NZ has a fit-for-purpose approach to BCP in
place which is regularly tested.
Indicator
•
Maritime NZ’s approach to business continuity planning is
independently audited, and confirmed as appropriate.
Desired result: Maritime NZ maintains an appropriate level of selfassessed compliance against the Government Protective Security
Requirements.
Indicator
•
Maturity self-assessment against protective security
requirements indicates progress to desired maturity level (over
three years).




Develop and deploy a BCP framework and supporting plans for the
Maritime NZ group
Assessment against the Government Protective Security
Requirements (PSRs) completed and work programme developed.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: MATURITY EVOLVING

Development of Organisational Business Continuity (BCP) and Security
Initiatives: Maritime NZ has undertaken an internal audit programme,
with support from the NZ Transport Agency Risk Assurance Centre of
Excellence (CoE). This included a review of Maritime NZ’s approach to
business continuity planning, resilience and disaster recovery, including
the development, maturity, practicality and testing of current plans. The
review findings showed that, generally, Maritime NZ has partially effective
processes for business continuity planning. Progress has been limited due
to the departure of key personnel with the responsibility for leading
business continuity planning

Business Continuity Management: An independent audit of Maritime
NZ’s business continuity management (BCM) processes was found to
be partially effective. The overall maturity of Maritime’s BCM was
assessed as sitting between Repeatable and Defined (this is between
levels three and four on a six-point scale from Absent (0) to Optimised
(5)). The audit found there is demonstrated management commitment
and a documented framework and policy. The intention is to further
improve our capability in this area over the next 2-3 years, to enable us
to be sitting between the Defined and Managed levels (between levels
four and five on the six-point scale).

Security: During the reporting period Maritime NZ formalised a Chief
Security Officer function (within the general manager Corporate Services
role) and established a Security Committee. The purpose of the Security
Committee is to establish, review and monitor the Maritime NZ Security
Framework and have oversight of the approach to organisational security
and compliance with the Government’s PSRs. In this context,
organisational security covers the four dimensions of Governance, People,
Information (including ICT) and Physical Assets.

Maturity assessment against protective security requirements: Maturity
is assessed as Basic (this is at level two of a five-point scale ranging
from Informal (1) to Optimised (5), based on a government approved
capability maturity model (CMM) covering 12 dimensions of protective
security. Maritime NZ recognises that it does not need to achieve the
highest maturity level across the 12 dimensions and has determined
that Core maturity is an appropriate target to achieve by 2018.
Maritime NZ will re-assess its maturity every 12 months through its
Security Committee governance group, to monitor its progress towards
this target.

Impact 3: There is sustainable funding to deliver identified outcomes
Our focus for 2014-2020

Success measure

Medium to Long Term Financial Strategy

Desired result: Maritime NZ is appropriately funded via its various
revenue streams at a level that supports the organisation’s ability to
deliver its statutory regulatory functions and the outcomes agreed
with Government.
Maritime NZ’s delivery of its regulatory functions and other
activities reflect value for money.
Indicators

Implementation of the Maritime NZ mid-point funding and oil
pollution levy reviews in 2016 provides an appropriate funding
base for regulatory and oil pollution response activity, and
informs future funding reviews.

Maritime NZ operates within available funding over the
medium to long term whilst maintaining appropriate cash
reserves.





Complete a mid-point funding review, including MOSS and SeaCert
regimes (2015/16)
Complete a full funding review (2017-19)
Develop and deploy the Organisational Finance Strategy (201520).

Review Oil Pollution Levy



Oil Pollution Levy Review (2015/16)
Oil Pollution Levy Review (2018/19).

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: FUNDING REVIEW
UNDERWAY

Mid-point funding review: The scope and terms of reference for the review
were approved by the Authority and a briefing paper was provided to the
Minister(s) in June 2015. Industry reference groups have been set up and
early engagement with representatives has been positive. It has also
confirmed a number of issues and challenges that the project team will
actively address in developing the consultation document.

Success against this desired result will be determined following the
outcome of the mid-point funding review.

The support and contribution from the Ministry of Transport and of the
Civil Aviation Authority (represented on the Steering Group) have been
very beneficial in ensuring consistency, alignment and sequencing as part
of the wider Transport Sector funding and fees review programme.
The project continues to operate to a very tight timeframe, but it is
considered essential for the future financial sustainability of Maritime NZ
that this work is completed and the required outcomes are in place at the
start of the 2016/17 financial year.
Other work programmes are due in later years

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2014/2015
35

Case study: Delivering value for
money – outsourcing internal audit
Maritime NZ, like all public sector organisations, needs to undertake regular audits –
but, due to its comparatively small size, in-house risk-assurance expertise is difficult.
A Risk-Assurance Centre of Expertise hosted at NZ Transport Agency was established to provide services to the transport sector, including
Maritime NZ.
This has meant that Maritime NZ has access to a wide pool of knowledge and expertise without needing to employ or contract risk
assurance. It has also led to greater inter-agency learning and understanding of processes and approaches, which benefits the whole sector.
The services provided by the Centre of Excellence has enabled Maritime NZ to undertake independent reviews of the security of personal
client information, its ICT security framework and systems, and approach to business continuity planning, resilience and disaster recovery.
The reviews have shown that Maritime NZ has good systems and processes in place with respect to each review and makes
recommendations aimed at further strengthening these foundations.

Impact 4: Collaboration with other agencies enables sharing of resources and builds capability that
improves government services
SOI Programme of work 2014-2020

How we measure our success

Participate in Cross-Government Collaboration and Capability
Programmes

Desired result: Maritime NZ proactively engages in collaboration
opportunities to enable it to build organisational capability and improve
efficiency.





Continue Maritime NZ’s proactive engagement in the Transport
Sector Collaboration and Capability Programme
Identify and assess ongoing opportunities to collaborate with other
regulatory agencies
Engagement in Government Regulatory Practice Initiative (G-Reg).

Indicator
Maritime NZ is regarded as proactive and collaborative in its cross
agency/sector/all-of-government participation efforts/engagements.

Assessment of achievement: ACTIVE COLLABORATOR
ACROSS THE TRANSPORT SECTOR AND GOVERNMENT

Progress this year
Maritime NZ continues to make an active contribution to the Transport
Sector Leadership Group (TSLG), which led by the Ministry of Transport,
is overseeing the implementation of innovative ways to improve the
efficiency and quality of the services being delivered across the sector.
This is in support of the Government’s priority of delivering Better Public
Services.

Maritime NZ has sought feedback from individuals within Transport
sector agencies and other government agencies to canvas views on
whether Maritime NZ is considered to be engaging proactively and
positively in collaboration opportunities.
100% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that:

Maritime NZ seeks to proactively engage and collaborate with other
agencies as a means to improve the collective capability, capacity
and efficiency

Maritime NZ genuinely appears to want to engage and collaborate
for mutual benefit or common purpose

their collaboration with Maritime NZ has been a positive one which
they would be happy to continue or repeat.

A key role of the TSLG has been oversight of the continued work being
performed across the sector in delivering the Collaboration and
Capability Programme. This programme has focused on developing a
better understanding of the capability requirements of individual
agencies and allowing all transport sector agencies to learn from others’
experiences.
In 2014/15, the progress of the Programme included embedding the
benefits of working collaboratively across the information and
communications technology (ICT) and Ministerial Services areas.
In the ICT area, a monthly forum of the Chief Information Officers across
the transport sector shared IT strategies, partnership opportunities,
investment insights, and experiences with vendors.

93% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that Maritime NZ engages
proactively in cross sector or inter-agency collaboration engagements,
taking the appropriate initiative.

The result has been an environment where agencies seek feedback and
peer review before undertaking initiatives, which improves the likelihood
of efficient, well-planned IT developments and investigations into
possible sharing opportunities. In the latter period of the year, focus was
placed on testing the feasibility for greater collaborative efficiencies in
the areas of accommodation, procurement, and in managing the finance
and HR/payroll systems. The outcomes of this work will be evaluated in
2015/16.
Maritime NZ has been actively engaged in the development of the
Government Regulatory Practice (G-Reg) Initiative. This responds to
recommendations from the Productivity Commission report into
Regulatory Institutions and Practices by focusing on people and
organisational capability, and supporting improved operational regulatory
practice across central and local government. G-Reg replaces and
continues the work of the Compliance Common Capability Programme –
a multi-agency collaboration that was led by Maritime NZ.
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Impact 5: Business processes enable straight-forward, efficient transactions with Maritime NZ that
enhance compliance
SOI Programme of work 2014-2020

How we measure our success

Undertake Continuous Improvement of Business Processes

Desired result: More participants in the maritime community view
Maritime NZ services positively and as adding value to their operations.



Continuous improvement of business processes, including the
application of Vanguard systems thinking and methodology.

Indicator
An increasing proportion of survey respondents, by sector, who rate the
timeliness and ease of interactions with Maritime NZ as very good or
excellent.

Progress this year

Assessment of achievement: BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT
INITIATIVES APPLIED TO MOSS AND SEACERT
PROCESSES

Good progress has been made with the implementation of
methodology in the area of entry control. Priorities have been reshaped
to focus on supporting MOSS and SeaCert processes and there are a
number of incremental improvements being made. Specific examples
are below.

Maritime NZ has obtained feedback from a small number of MOSS
operators about the MTOC process. The key messages are that:



MOSS:







refinements were made to the MOSS entry framework with the
trial of a revised application process. This has involved data
collection, measuring performance and seeking feedback from
operators on their experience of obtaining a MTOC
revised assessment forms has resulted in reduced assessment
times leading to lower invoice charges than originally indicated
the introduction of existing IT technology to manage MTOC
workflow, reducing processing times and enabling greater
visibility of the end-to-end process
greater oversight of workflow management – allowing for a more
efficient, nationally focused allocation and use of resources to
support MOSS
on-going development of the IT system “Triton” in conjunction
with frontline staff; allowing for development to be prioritised in
line with current needs, resulting in efficiencies being delivered
to the most critical areas.




face to face contact with Maritime NZ staff is valuable, as it helps
operators understand what Maritime NZ expects of them
operators want information that is simple and easy to understand,
along with examples that are relevant to their operations
creating a partnership with Maritime NZ is important
preparing their Maritime Transport Operator Plan as part of the
MTOC process means operators are paying more attention to safety
and risk.

While the sample size of operators was small, these themes have been
consistent with the feedback received through the Maritime Officers who
have direct engagement with operators. Further work is underway to
collect more feedback from operators to ensure that Maritime NZ can
build on its understanding, from the operators’ perspective, on what is
important to them. This will help identify issues that need to be
addressed, in terms of continuous improvement.

The impact of these improvements has resulted in a reduction in the
average number of days taken to process MTOC applications received
during the year from 112 days (quarter one) to 61 days (quarter four).
SeaCert:






repetitive document evidence requirements removed, reducing
the amount of paper and information required by applicants
the introduction of a dedicated toll free number, enabling faster
and more direct contact between applicants and certification
advisors
revised application forms and checklists resulting in more
complete applications being received – reducing rework and
administrative times
improved internal guidance resources – allowing staff faster
access to relevant information required for processing
applications
cross-training of staff – enabling a more flexible workforce that
can be moved according to demand.

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2014/2015
37

Vote Transport: Non-Departmental Capital Expenditure
To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities undertaken by Maritime NZ that are
funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Capital Expenditure are detailed in the table below.
A summary of appropriations and performance measures funded through Vote Transport is provided in the table below.
Non-Department Capital Expenditure

What is intended to be achieved with this appropriation

Maritime New Zealand (M72)

This appropriation is intended to achieve continued effective
functioning of a distress beacon system in New Zealand and its
international area of responsibility, and the provision of a new
Information Technology system to support Maritime Operator
Safety System and Seafarer Certification Rules.

Assessment of performance

Actual 2013/14

Target 2014/15

Actual 2014/15

Ground station is developed in line with the time-line for the
new satellite system

New measure

100%

100%

Ground station is developed in line with COSPAS-SARSAT
standards

New measure

100%

100%

MNZ System Reform is developed in line with the business
requirements as detailed in respective statements of work for
successful implementation of MOSS and SeaCert

New measure

Achieved

Achieved

Actual 2013/14
$000

Budget 2014/15
$000

Actual 2014/15
$000

Replacement ground station for Search and Rescue Satellite
System

199

3,880

3,613

Information Technology system to support Maritime Operator
Safety System and Seafarer Certification Rules

864

2,900

1,134

Non-Department Capital Expenditure

What is intended to be achieved with this appropriation

Maritime New Zealand – Incident Response (M72)

This appropriation is limited to investment in capability to
respond to complex maritime pollution incidents.

Assessment of performance

Actual 2013/14

Develop and implement a procurement programme for
container ‘pingers’ by 30 June 2015

New measure

Develop and implement a procurement programme for
container ‘pingers’ by 30 June 2015

Completed

Actual 2014/15
Completed

Actual 2013/14
$000

Budget 2014/15
$000

Actual 2014/15
$000

-

183

183
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Target 2014/15

Part B: Statements of Performance and
Financial Statements
Statement of Performance
Maritime NZ’s Statement of Performance has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
practice. It provides a report on performance for the 2014/15 year against set indicators which span the different
areas of Maritime NZ’s operations, as represented through six output classes.
Output performance across these activities and responsibilities contributes to Maritime’s Strategic Goals, as shown
below.

Maritime NZ’s statement of performance has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
practice. The statement of performance covers six output classes:
Output class 1: Influencing the policy environment for the maritime sector
Output class 2: Maritime safety and marine protection services
Output class 3: Marine Pollution Response Service
Output class 4: Search and rescue coordination services
Output class 5: Tauranga maritime incident response
Output class 6: Maritime incident response capability development
These classes highlight the wide range of activities and responsibilities Maritime NZ oversees.
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Vote Transport: Non-Departmental Output Expense
To comply with our obligations under the Public Finance Act 1989, activities undertaken by Maritime NZ that are
funded through Vote Transport Non-Departmental Output Expenses are indicated (within each relevant Output Class)
in the following Statement of performance tables with an asterisk (*) denoting performance measures from Vote
Transport Information Supporting the Estimates 2014/15 and Vote Transport Supplementary Information Supporting
the Estimates 2014/15. Relevant financial information is also provided in the tables following each output class
performance summary on pages 41 to 50.
A summary of appropriations funded through Vote Transport is provided in the table below.
Non-Departmental Output Expense

What is intended to be achieved with this appropriation

Search and Rescue Activities (M72)

This appropriation is intended to achieve a prompt and
well-coordinated search and rescue response, across sea,
air and land environments, that saves lives and provides
assurance for all people in New Zealand’s international
area of responsibility.

Search and Rescue and Recreational Boating Safety
Activities PLA (M72)

This appropriation is intended to achieve a sustained
reduction in the identified systemic risks within the New
Zealand Search and Rescue system to reduce the number
of preventable Search and Rescue related fatalities in
New Zealand.

Tauranga Maritime Incident Response (M72)

This appropriation is intended to achieve effective
oversight of MV Rena response activities.

Policy Advice and Related Outputs – Maritime (M72)

The overarching purpose of this appropriation is to
regulate and enhance safety in New Zealand’s maritime
environment.
Health and Safety in Employment Activities – Maritime:
This category is intended to achieve the provision of
regulatory services that are established under the Health
and Safety in Employment Act as the responsibility of
Maritime New Zealand.
Maritime Incident Response: This category is intended to
achieve the implementation of recommendations from the
Murdoch review of Maritime New Zealand’s response to
the Rena grounding to improve the efficiency and
effectiveness of New Zealand’s response to complex
maritime incidents.
Maritime Safety and Marine Protection Services: This
category is intended to achieve the provision of reliable
maritime navigational aids.
Policy Advice – Maritime: This category is intended to
achieve the development of fit-for-purpose policy in
relation to maritime safety, security and environmental
protection; and the provision of services to Ministers to
enable them to discharge their portfolio accountabilities.
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Output class 1: Influencing the policy environment for the maritime sector
This output class involves the provision of evidence-based technical policy advice to enable the development of robust, timely and fitfor-purpose policy and regulation in relation to maritime safety, security and environmental protection; and the provision of services
to ministers to enable them to discharge their portfolio accountabilities.

Output 1.1: Development and provision of technical maritime policy advice
What is intended to be achieved: The development and provision of policy advice including:







provision of technical safety advice (directly, and in association with, the Ministry of Transport) in relation to maritime sector
policy and legislation
contribution to the negotiation of international agreements, treaties and conventions
engagement in relationships with other international maritime administrations
contribution to the development of policy advice by departments (other than the Ministry of Transport) and local government
agencies
development of rules and other legislative instruments under the maritime acts, as funded by the Ministry of Transport
advice on Pacific safety initiatives, as funded by Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

* All written policy reports/advice to Ministers meet Maritime NZ’s
quality criteria (content, form, and analysis)

100%

100%

100%

* All written policy reports/advice to Ministers is completed by due
date

100%

100%

100%

Rules programme completed subject to variations agreed with
Ministry of Transport

88%

100%

100%

Performance measure

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objectives
with no material variance.

Output 1.2: Reviews of the maritime system
What is intended to be achieved: Regular reviews of the maritime transport system to promote the improvement and development of
its safety and security.
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Outcome evaluation framework developed for the Seafarer
Certification (SeaCert) framework

New measure

Achieved

Not achieved

Outcome evaluation framework developed for the Maritime Operator
Safety System (MOSS) framework

New measure

Achieved

Achieved

Performance measure

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objectives
with no material variance, with the exception of the SeaCert framework. While an initial evaluation framework for SeaCert has been
completed, this framework will be developed further following the completion of a seafarer transition pathway plan expected to be
completed by 31 December 2015.

Output 1.3: Maritime security and intelligence advice
What is intended to be achieved: The delivery of key security-related functions:



to ensure effective implementation of the International Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) Code, in accordance with the MSA
to take such action as may be appropriate in the public interest to enforce the provisions of the MSA and of regulations and
rules made under this Act, including carrying out inspections and audits.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Performance measure
Proportion of foreign ship voyages screened for security noncompliance annually

New measure
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Target
2014/15
100%

Actual
2014/15
23%

Performance measure

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

All known security threats to New Zealand port facilities are
identified and appropriate action taken

100%

100%

100%

Proportion of ships that are identified high-risk (of security noncompliance) inspected for security deficiencies annually

New measure

80%

67%

Proportion of ports checked by Maritime NZ as having audited their
security capability against the requirements of the Maritime
Security Act

New measure

100%

100%

What do our results show? The security service has performed positively against most measures.
Screening foreign ship voyages for security non-compliance: During the fourth quarter of the 2014/15 financial year Maritime NZ
implemented changes to the ship profiling process to increase the volume of ships being profiled. The revised screening process now
focuses on the essential ship assessment (profiling) step of the process – eliminating data-entry and non-essential tasks. The
screening rate increased from 19 percent in April 2015 to 41 percent in May and June 2015, following implementation of the
changes. Maritime NZ expects to see this volume increase further in the 2015/16 financial year and subsequent years. A revised
annual target of 50 percent has been set for 2015/16.
Inspection of identified high-risk ships inspected for security deficiencies: During the reporting period, three vessels identified as
potentially “high risk” were screened; but it was only possible to physically visit two of them. As the overall status reflects “physical”
inspections, the result is below target. However, it is assessed that due to the scrutiny of the high-risk identification process, there
was no overall security risk.

Output 1.4: Ministerial servicing
What is intended to be achieved: The provision of services to ministers to enable them to discharge their portfolio responsibilities,
including drafting replies to ministerial correspondence, responding to Official Information Act requests and parliamentary questions,
and providing support at select committees on non-legislative matters.
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Performance measure
Replies to ministerial correspondence and parliamentary questions
meet agreed quality criteria
Ministerial correspondence and parliamentary questions provided
within agreed timeframes

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

100%

97%

99%

88%

100%

100%

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objectives
with no material variance.

Output Class 1: Total revenue and expenses

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Policy Advice – Maritime)
Crown agencies
NZ International Aid and Development Agency

Actual
2013/14
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2014/15
$000

3,619

3,921

3,619

899

899

899

195

275

293

2,849

800

786

313

150

232

7,875

6,045

5,829

Total expenditure

11,083

6,031

7,446

Net deficit

(3,208)

14

(1,617)

Marine Safety Charge
Other
Total revenue

Refer to Note 30 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2014/2015
42

Output class 2: Maritime safety and marine protection services
This output class involves the development and delivery of regulatory services that are legislatively established as the responsibility of
Maritime NZ; including through the MTA, Ship Registration Act, MSA, HSE Act, and the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms
Act.

Output 2.1: Information and education
What is intended to be achieved: The provision of information and education services to, and liaison with, the maritime community –
to promote maritime safety and security, and protection of the marine environment. Key functions include:



provision of recreational boating safety and awareness services
information/education for the domestic commercial sectors of the maritime community.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Performance measure

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Delivery of safety information distributed through the following
channels:


multimedia annual summer safety campaign (television, radio,
online and print)

New measure

1

1



safe boating packs

New measure

45,000

47,638



key publication Lookout/Safe Seas Clean Seas produced and
distributed

New measure

3

3



number of visits to Maritime NZ’s recreational boating
campaign website

New measure

4,000

2,968



number of e-publication subscribers

New measure

2,500

3,831

8

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation targets objectives
with no material variance, with the exception of website visits where actual number of visits was below the forecast target.

Output 2.2: Entry controls
What is intended to be achieved: The exercise of entry controls (including continued eligibility) of operators, vessels, seafarers,
products, services, ports, installations and facilities into the maritime transport system and/or the marine environment, under
maritime and related legislation. Key functions include:







registration of ships in the New Zealand Register of Ships
issuing marine protection documents
issuing maritime documents and certificates
vessel security and port security assessments
certification of seafarers
issuing exemptions from the need to comply with maritime and marine protection rules.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/5

Actual
2014/15

74%

100%

Data currently
unavailable to
report against this
measure

The proportion of applications received that are declined annually

New measure

<1%

Nil

The proportion of declined applications that are successfully
challenged by the applicant

New measure

Nil

Nil

Performance measure
All applications for the issue of a maritime or marine protection
document, or other statutory certificate/permit, are processed in
accordance with a published service charter.

What do our results show? With regard to processing applications in accordance with the service charter, Maritime NZ is measuring
end-to-end times for a number of certificates, and also workflow at points, this is not comprehensive across all documents. Reporting
against this output is reliant on the development of Maritime NZ’s System Reform IT solution ‘Triton’ to measure end-to-end times for
all certificates. This reporting ability is included in the plans for the development of the Triton system, scheduled to be completed by
the end of the 2015/16 financial year.

8

Completed February 2015
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Output 2.3: Monitoring and investigation of compliance
What is intended to be achieved: The monitoring and investigation of compliance with maritime legislation and other related
legislation. Key functions include:






inspections of ships registered in other countries when they arrive in New Zealand for compliance with IMO requirements (port
state control inspections)
annual flag state control (SOLAS Convention) inspection of New Zealand registered ships that comply with the Convention for
Safety of Life at Sea
inspection and oversight of domestic commercial vessels and their documents, to ensure compliance with legislation, and survey
vessel standards
audit of New Zealand operators, vessels, facilities, products, services, documents and delegations, and requiring compliance
with the documents and delegations
investigations and responses to accidents and incidents, regulatory non-compliance, breaches of maritime security
requirements, and complaints.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Performance measure

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

International vessels
Proportion of Priority 1 vessels coming into New Zealand that have
been inspected by Maritime NZ

82%

70%

49%

The number of operations focusing on the systems intended to
prevent collisions, groundings and fires

New measure

4

2

Percentage of collisions, groundings and other serious navigational
incidents investigated

New measure

80%

100%

Number of intelligence-led operations targeting non-compliant
operators

6

3

1

Number of safety initiatives and education programmes undertaken

4

3

14

Percentage of MOSS applications processed within three months of
receipt of completed application.

New measure

90%

69%

Time taken to complete MOSS audits is within the estimated
timeframes

New measure

90%

Not being
measured

Time taken to complete Deemed MTOC audits is within the estimated
9
timeframes

New measure

90%

47%

3

6

5

Domestic commercial vessels

Recreational boating
Targeted safety operations and compliance checks undertaken by
Maritime NZ staff and Safe Boating Advisors

What do our results show? A number of targets within this output were not met – due, in part, to the diversion of staff and resource
towards MOSS-related activity.
Inspection of Priority 1 vessels: This target was not met; due to, in part, the diversion of Maritime Officers towards MOSS-related
activity (including desktop reviews of MTOP applications and deemed MTOC audits) and a reduced number of Maritime Officers
capable of undertaking Port State Control inspections. While Maritime NZ did not meet the targeted inspection numbers of “priority
one” vessels in New Zealand, foreign ships have generally visited and been inspected in other states subject to the Tokyo MOU. While
Maritime NZ is continuing to inspect a certain percentage of ships, and to train and up skill its Port State Control Officers, a greater
emphasis is being placed on engaging with our international partners to lift the quality of shipping and reduce the level of risk before
ships enter New Zealand waters.
Operations focusing on the systems intended to prevent collisions, groundings and fires: Maritime NZ was unable to meet its annual
target of four operations due to the prioritisation of resources towards the implementation of MOSS. However, the risk was mitigated
by conducting targeted campaigns in two of the areas assessed as posing the highest risk. One operation focused on fatigue and
watch-keeping, and one on dangerous goods.
Safety initiatives and education programmes: Maritime NZ exceeded its annual target. In line with Maritime NZ’s commitment to the
implementation of MOSS, a number of safety initiatives and education programmes were undertaken targeting specific areas of need
throughout the country.

9

Estimated timeframes were 1-2 vessels: 6-14 hours; 10 vessels: 10.5-24 hours; >10 vessels: 13.5-39 hours.
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MOSS audits: These do not commence until 1 July 2015.
MTOC audits: An alternative measure to monitor the performance of deemed MTOC audits was established after the Statement of
Performance Expectations 2014/15 was finalised. During this reporting period, 356 Deemed MTOC Audits were completed. Of those,
166 (47 percent) were conducted within the estimated timeframe of 4.5 – 8 hours. This was a new activity and timeframes were
estimates at the time that targets were set. In practice it has taken longer to complete the work. An ongoing focus on training and
mentoring from subject matter experts within this area is expected to strengthen performance over time.
Safety operations and compliance checks: These were conducted during the second and third quarter of the reporting period. Activity
undertaken during the Safer Boating Week campaign included the delivery of safer boating packs to retailers and clubs and the
targeting of local boat ramps to check boating and safety equipment and to promote safe boating messages. Other activity included a
two-day patrol with NZ Police conducted in the Marlborough Sounds, targeting recreational craft to promote positive safety messages;
and a pilot programme in the Northern Region, in association with the Sea Cadets, to deliver safer boating messages and conduct
boat ramp surveys in five locations.
Maritime NZ delivered five safety operations / compliance checks, but was unable to meet its annual target of six, due to the
prioritisation of resources towards the implementation of MOSS.

Output 2.4: Enforcement of compliance
What is intended to be achieved: The enforcement of compliance with, and the exercise of exit controls under, maritime and related
legislation. Key functions include:








suspension of, or imposition of conditions on, maritime documents or marine protection documents
detention of ships and seizure of products under the MTA
follow-up, second and subsequent inspections to review non-conformity and corrective action notices, suspensions, conditions
and detentions
issuing infringement notices under the MTA
issuing improvement notices and prohibition notices under the HSE Act
prosecution of offences under the MTA
exit controls – removal of ships from the register, and revocation of maritime and marine protection documents.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Prosecutions brought under the MTA that are successful

100%

75%

100%

* Prosecutions brought under the Health and Safety in Employment
Act that are successful

100%

75%

100%

Performance measure

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objectives,
with no material variance.

Output 2.5: Distress and safety communication services
What is intended to be achieved: The provision of distress and safety radio services to the maritime community.
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Radio station availability

99.8%

99.8%

99.8%

* Percentage of time a 24-hour Distress and Safety Radio Service is
provided

100%

100%

99.9%

Performance measure

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation targets objectives,
with no material variance.
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Output 2.6: Aids to navigation
What is intended to be achieved: The provision of reliable maritime navigation aids. Key functions include the



provision of navigational aids for shipping on New Zealand’s coast and adjacent islands
oversight of navigational aids owned by ports and other organisations.

How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Performance measure

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

* Percentage of time lighthouses are available

100%

99.8%

100%

Day-beacons/buoys availability

99.8%

97%

99.8%

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation targets objectives
with no material variance.

Output class 2: Total revenue and expenses
Actual
2013/14
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2014/15
$000

1,937

2,111

1,937

954

954

954

2,330

2,560

2,560

14,807

16,972

16,679

Fees

1,773

5,669

2,779

Other

945

723

1,061

Total revenue

22,746

28,989

25,970

Total expenditure

19,708

28,973

24,849

3,038

16

1,121

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Maritime Safety and Marine
Protection Services)
* HSE (Vote Transport: Health and Safety in Employment Activities
– Maritime)
Fuel Excise Duty
Marine Safety Charge

Net surplus/(deficit)

Refer to Note 30 of Maritime NZ’s Financial Statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
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Output class 3: Marine Pollution Response Service
Through this output class, Maritime NZ will deliver marine environment protection services that ensure New Zealand’s preparedness
for an ability to respond to marine oil spills.

Output 3.1: Marine pollution response capability
What is intended to be achieved: This output is aimed at ensuring New Zealand’s preparedness for, and ability to respond to, marine
oil spills.
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Percentage of regional councils who have trained responders at or
above 80% of recommended number

75%

100%

12.5%

Percentage of regional (19) and national (1) stockpiles maintained
within last 12 months

100%

100%

100%

Percentage of regional (19) and national (1) stockpiles inspected
within 12-month period ending 30 June 2015

New measure

100%

70%

Percentage of Tier 2 oil spills responded to effectively by regional
councils, independently assessed through Oil Spill Duty Officer
reports

New measure

>90%

100%

Percentage of regional council Tier 2 plans that are current

New measure

100%

75%

Performance measure

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objectives
with the exception of regional councils with trained responders above the recommended number, the maintenance of stockpiles and
Tier 2 plans.
Regional Councils with trained responders: This target was not met due to changes to training cycles during the year from a six-year
expiry to a two-year expiry timeframe (from 1 September 2014). This resulted in a short-term drop in trained responders. Responders
are still qualified to respond, however to get their records up-to-date they are required to attend a revalidation exercise. Revalidating
exercises are planned across all regions to assist in increasing the number of current trained responders to the recommended levels.
There were two out of 16 councils (12.5 percent) above the recommend level (as at 30 June 2015), six councils had 70-79 percent,
and the remainder had between 35 – 69 percent. Longer-term, a shorter training cycle will result in more regular training for qualified
responders.
Stockpile inspections: 14 were undertaken during the reporting period. The remaining inspections did not take place due to the
prioritisation of activity towards the development of the Oil Spill Response Capability Plan and preparations for an independent
health and safety audit during the fourth quarter. While some full inspections did not occur, an operational assessment was
conducted during regional maintenance checks. The outstanding inspections are prioritised for the first quarter of the 2015/16
financial year. This does not pose a substantive risk to our response capability.
Current Tier 2 Plans: 12 out of 16 regional councils had current Tier 2 plans as at 30 June 2015. One council completed their plan
during the first quarter of the 2015/16 financial year, with the remaining three councils expected to finalise their plans by the end of
the 2015 calendar year.

Output Class 3: Total Revenue and Expenses
Actual
2013/14
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2014/15
$000

6,205

5,864

6,343

149

86

111

Total revenue

6,354

5,950

6,454

Total expenditure

4,571

5,449

5,327

Net (deficit)

1,783

501

1,127

Oil Pollution Levies
Other

Refer to note 21 of the Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.
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Output class 4: Search and rescue coordination services
This class of outputs is intended to achieve a prompt and well-coordinated search and rescue response, across sea, air and land
environments that saves lives and provides assurance for all people in New Zealand’s international area of responsibility.

Output 4.1: Coordination of search and rescue operations
What is expected to be achieved: To coordinate and conduct sea, air and land search and rescue operations through a search and
rescue coordination centre (RCCNZ).
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Performance measure
* Percentage of the time a minimum of two fully trained search and
rescue officers are on duty 24/7
Logged incidents resolved by communications action only
* Percentage of the time the 24/7 uninterrupted coordination
service is provided

Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

100%

100%

100%

68%

75%

72%

100%

100%

100%

What do our results show? The search and rescue has performed positively against its annual performance targets. The proportion of
logged incidents resolved by communications action only, was below target due to the need to provide tasking to the total number of
actual incidents responded to during the year. The number of incidents involving the tasking of aircraft, ships, Coastguard or other
groups and agencies to carry out a response has increased from 199 to 211 this year.

Output 4.2: Management of New Zealand’s emergency distress beacon system
What is expected to be achieved: The operation and maintenance of the ground-based equipment that forms part of the international
satellite system that detects, locates and alerts search and rescue authorities about emergency distress beacons, and the operation
and maintenance of the emergency distress beacons database.
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Availability of ground-based satellite equipment

99%

98%

99%

* Percentage of beacons’ data verified every two years (at 30 June)

34%

65%

47%

Beacon registrations received at the Rescue Coordination Centre NZ
and processed into the database by the next working day

90%

98%

92%

Performance measure

What do our results show? Capability funding for the RCCNZ has enabled additional resourcing for beacons data administration. This
has resulted in an increase in performance against this target over this reporting period; this trend is expected to continue.
Improvements in the database entry process and additional resourcing dedicated to beacons data administration has significantly
reduced the time of data entry. This is a positive result, also, when considering that there has been a 17 percent increase in beacons
registered during the reporting period (2014/15: 9,290), compared with the previous period (2013/14: 7,921). The increase in
beacon registrations is due to a range of factors including media publicity of how beacons have helped lead to positive results in
rescue incidents and special sales promotions through wholesalers and retailers.
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Output Class 4: Total revenue and expenses
Actual
2013/14
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2014/15
$000

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Search and Rescue Activities)

3,316

3,316

3,316

Fuel Excise Duty

754

1,594

1,673

57

76

63

Total revenue

4,127

4,986

5,052

Total expenditure

4,726

5,063

4,889

Net surplus/(deficit)

(599)

(77)

163

Other

Refer to note 30 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

Output class 5: Tauranga maritime incident response
This output class is intended to achieve effective oversight of MV Rena response activities. These activities are undetaken by
Maritime NZ staff and third-party operators; including oil spill response, salvage and clean-up operations, and managing stakeholder
communications.

Output 5.1: Rena non-oil incident response
What is expected to be achieved: Oversight and support for the Tauranga oil spill response, salvage and environmental recovery
activity, following the grounding of Rena.
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Performance measure
* Maritime NZ provides effective oversight of ongoing Rena
response activities by third party operators covering: Wreck
reduction and debris removal; container recovery; shoreline cleanup including any residual oil; and technical advice and support to
the Bay of Plenty Regional Council regarding application of the
Resource Management Act

Achieved

Target
2014/15

Achieved

Actual
2014/15

Achieved

What do our results show? All work completed in this area falls within the Statement of Performance Expectation target objective,
with no material variance.

Output Class 5: Total Revenue and Expenses
Actual
2013/14
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2014/15
$000

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Tauranga Maritime Incident
Response)

540

1,200

325

Total revenue

540

1,200

325

Total expenditure

540

1,200

325

-

-

-

Net surplus

Refer to note 30 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

Output class 6: Maritime incident response capability development
This output class is intended to achieve the implementation of recommendations from the Murdoch review of Maritime
NZ’s response to the Rena grounding, to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of New Zealand’s response to
complex maritime incidents, in particular to address systemic weaknesses in high-level coordination across
government agencies.
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Output 6.1: Maritime incident response capability development (non-oil)
What is intended to be achieved: The formulation of a national maritime emergency response strategy and a high level plan;
incorporating communications, iwi and community engagement, and development of response capability and coordination processes
to execute the strategy.
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Performance measure

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

10

Memoranda of understanding with key partners
developed and signed off by 30 November 2014.

New measure

Completed

Partially completed

Review of Maritime Incident Response Team
capability completed by November 2014 and broader
National Response Team training and competency
framework developed by 30 June 2015

New measure

Completed

Review of MIRT capability
completed 27 November 2014
NRT training and competency
framework completed June 2015

* Complete review of Maritime New Zealand non-oil
capability

Ongoing

Completed

Completed

What do our results show? The specifically funded Maritime Emergency Response Programme has now reached the end of its second
year (with funding for three years). The programme is now embedding increased efficiency and effectiveness in Maritime NZ’s general
maritime incident response capability.
In terms of the memoranda of understanding (MOUs) with key partners, seven out of the 13 MOUs were signed off by 30 November
2014; and a total of 10 were signed off by 30 June 2015, with the remaining three still under action.

Output 6.2: Off-shore oil spill response capability development
What is intended to be achieved: An increase in New Zealand’s offshore oil spill response capability.
How did we assess our service delivery performance?
Actual
2013/14

Performance measure

Target
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

Evaluation of offshore oil spill response scenario exercise
completed by 30 November 2014

New measure

Completed

Completed

Procurement of offshore systems/equipment and implementation of
aerial observation contracts for services and capability that create
incremental improvements to Maritime NZ’s offshore oil spill
response capability

New measure

Completed

Completed

* Develop and maintain offshore oil response capability

New measure

Capability
maintained

Capability
maintained

What do our results show? The procurement of additional offshore dispersant systems and the implementation of aerial observation
contracts have now been completed. Maintenance of aerial observation contracts will become business-as-usual during 2015/16.

Output Class 6: Total Revenue and Expenses
Actual
2013/14
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2014/15
$000

* Crown funding (Vote Transport: Maritime Incident Response)

773

1,198

1,237

Total revenue

773

1,198

1,237

Total expenditure

781

1,198

1,246

(8)

-

(9)

Net surplus

Refer to note 30 of Maritime NZ’s financial statements for explanations of significant variances against budget.

10

Key partners are Ministry of Justice (Translation Services), Department of Conservation, Ministry for the Environment, National
Institute for Water and Atmospheric Research, Te Puni Kokiri, New Zealand Police, New Zealand Fire Service, New Zealand
Defence Force and all regional and local authorities.
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Financial statements
Statement of responsibility
We are responsible for the preparation of Maritime NZ’s financial statements and statement of performance, and
for the judgements made in them.
We are responsible for any end-of-year performance information provided by Maritime NZ under section 19A of the
Public Finance Act 1989.
We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.
In our opinion, these financial statements and statement of performance fairly reflect the financial position and
operations of Maritime NZ for the year ended 30 June 2015.

David Ledson
Chairman, Maritime NZ
Dated: 30 October 2015

Belinda Vernon
Authority member, Maritime NZ
Dated: 30 October 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of
Maritime New Zealand’s financial statements and performance information
for the year ended 30 June 2015
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Maritime New Zealand (Maritime NZ). The
Auditor-General has appointed me, Kelly Rushton, using the staff and resources of Audit
New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance
information, including the performance information for appropriations, of the Maritime NZ on
her behalf.

Opinion on the financial statements and the performance information
We have audited:


the financial statements of Maritime NZ on pages 55 to 76, that comprise the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of comprehensive
revenue and expenses, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include
accounting policies and other explanatory information; and



the performance information of Maritime NZ on pages 20 to 38 and 39 to 50.

In our opinion:


the financial statements of Maritime NZ:


present fairly, in all material respects:








its financial position as at 30 June 2015;
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended;
and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and
have been prepared in accordance with the Public Benefit Accounting
Standards.

the performance information:


presents fairly, in all material respects, Maritime NZ’s performance for the
year ended 30 June 2015, including:


for each class of reportable outputs:




its standards of performance achieved as compared with
forecasts included in the statement of performance
expectations for the financial year;
its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with
the forecasts included in the statement of performance
expectations for the financial year;
Maritime New Zealand Annual Report 2014/15
52







what has been achieved with the appropriations;
the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with
the appropriated or forecast expenses or capital expenditure; and

complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 30 October 2015. This is the date at which our opinion is
expressed.
The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the
Board and our responsibilities, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the performance information
are free from material misstatement.
Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our
judgement, are likely to influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements
and the performance information. If we had found material misstatements that were not
corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.
An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information. The procedures
selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements and the performance information, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of
Maritime NZ’s financial statements and performance information in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of Maritime NZ’s internal control.
An audit also involves evaluating:


the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been
consistently applied;



the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by
the Board;



the appropriateness of the reported performance information within Maritime NZ’s
framework for reporting performance;



the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements and the performance
information; and



the overall presentation of the financial statements and the performance information.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the
financial statements and the performance information. Also, we did not evaluate the security
and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the performance
information.
We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements and performance information that:


comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;



present fairly Maritime NZ’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows;
and



present fairly Maritime NZ’s performance.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Crown Entities Act
2004 and the Public Finance Act 1989.
The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements and performance information that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board is also responsible for the publication
of the financial statements and the performance information, whether in printed or electronic
form.

Responsibilities of the Auditor
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and the
performance information and reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our
responsibility arises from the Public Audit Act 2001.

Independence
When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the
Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the External Reporting
Board.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in Maritime NZ.

Kelly Rushton
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2015
Notes

Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2013/14
$000

Revenue
Crown

2

Marine safety charge
Other revenue

15,621

16,854

14,223

17,465

17,773

17,656

5,135

7,589

3,871

173

202

181

20

-

-

38,414

42,418

35,931

20,220

22,346

20,270

2,102

2,286

1,491

39

-

-

943

1,120

988

3

Interest revenue
Gains

4

Total revenue
Expenditure
Personnel costs

5

Depreciation & amortisation costs

13,14

Property, plant & equipment write-off & impairment provision
Capital charge

6

Finance costs

7

10

953

13

Other expenses

8

15,444

15,760

13,946

38,758

42,465

36,708

(344)

(47)

(777)

511

-

-

Total expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)
Other comprehensive revenue and expense

9

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense

511

-

-

Total comprehensive revenue and expense

167

(47)

(777)

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in note 30.
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of changes in equity for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2015
Notes
Balance at 1 July
Property, plant & equipment revaluation gains taken to equity

19

Total comprehensive revenue and expense
Capital contribution

19

Balance at 30 June

Actual
2014/15
$000

55

Actual
2013/14
$000

12,067

12,085

12,243

(84)

-

-

167

(47)

(777)

4,118

7,181

601

16,268

19,219

12,067

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Budget
2014/15
$000

Statement of financial position for Maritime New Zealand
As at 30 June 2015
Notes

Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2013/14
$000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

10

5,943

6,456

6,329

Debtors and other receivables

11

4,594

3,015

3,527

579

175

622

246

100

200

11,362

9,746

10,678

Prepayments
Inventory

12

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

13

10,420

10,159

4,601

Intangible assets

14

4,019

5,328

3,353

Total non-current assets

14,439

15,487

7,954

Total assets

25,801

25,233

18,632

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables

15

5,015

2,215

4,347

Finance leases

16

255

-

-

Provision for employee entitlements

17

1,541

840

2,048

Provisions

18

12

-

99

6,823

3,055

6,494

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Finance leases

16

2,614

2,802

-

Provisions

18

96

157

71

Total non-current liabilities

2,710

2,959

71

Total liabilities

9,533

6,014

6,565

Equity
Crown contribution

19

19,206

22,068

14,868

Accumulated surplus/ (deficit)

19

(3,528)

(3,523)

(3,475)

Revaluation reserve

19

590

674

674

Total equity

16,268

19,219

12,067

Total equity & liabilities

25,801

25,233

18,632

Explanations for significant variances against budget are detailed in note 30.
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for Maritime New Zealand
Year ended 30 June 2015
Notes

Actual

Budget

Actual

2014/15

2014/15

2013/14

$000

$000

$000

Cash flows from operating activities
Crown

15,621

13,340

14,223

Marine safety charge

17,770

17,772

17,002

Other third party

4,704

11,103

4,021

Interest revenue

173

202

181

Payments to employees

(20,727)

(22,345)

(20,090)

Payments to suppliers

(14,802)

(16,714)

(12,669)

(943)

(1,120)

(988)

290

-

(20)

2,086

2,238

1,660

20

-

-

-

-

1,980

Purchase of property, plant & equipment

(3,912)

(4,594)

(1,321)

Purchase of intangible assets

(1,676)

(3,500)

(1,310)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(5,568)

(8,094)

(651)

(313)

(313)

-

Capital contribution

3,409

7,181

601

Net cash flows from financing activities

3,096

6,868

601

Net increase / (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents

(386)

1,012

1,610

Opening cash balance at 1 July

6,329

5,444

4,719

Closing cash balance at 30 June

5,943

6,456

6,329

Capital charge
Goods & services tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

20

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment
Receipts from maturity of investments

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments of Finance leases

16

The Goods and Services Tax (net) component of operating activities reflects the net Goods and Services Tax paid
and received with Inland Revenue. The Goods and Services Tax (net) component has been presented on a net
basis, as the gross amounts do not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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In May 2013, the External Reporting Board issued a new
suite of PBE accounting standards for application by public
sector entities for reporting periods beginning on or after 1
July 2014. Maritime NZ has applied these standards in
preparing the financial statements.

Notes to the financial statements for
Maritime New Zealand
Note 1: Statement of accounting
policies for the year ended 30 June
2015

Maritime NZ has not early adopted any new standards and
interpretations.

Significant accounting policies

Reporting entity

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

Maritime NZ is a Crown entity as defined by the Crown
Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled and operates in New
Zealand. The relevant legislation governing Maritime NZ’s
operations included the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the
Maritime Transport Act 1994. As such, Maritime NZ’s
ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

Maritime NZ’s primary objective is to provide Maritime
Regulatory, and Search and Rescue response services to
the New Zealand public as opposed to that of making a
financial return. Accordingly, Maritime NZ has designated
itself as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of
financial reporting standards.

Maritime NZ receives funding from the Crown, and is
restricted in its use for the purpose of Maritime NZ meeting
its objectives, as specified in its founding legislation and
the scope of the relevant appropriations of the funder.
Maritime NZ considers that there are no conditions
attached to the funding and it is recognised as revenue at
the point of entitlement. The fair value of revenue from the
Crown has been determined to be equivalent to the
amounts due in the funding arrangements. Revenue
derived from the provision of services to third parties is
recognised in proportion to the stage of completion at
balance date. Marine safety charges are based on
information from New Zealand Customs regarding port
visits for international revenue. The domestic portion is
derived from the annual registration of vessels and is
recognised in the period to which it relates.

These financial statements for Maritime NZ are for the year
ended 30 June 2015 and were approved by the Authority
on 30 October 2015.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of Maritime NZ have been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown
Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement to
comply with New Zealand’s generally accepted accounting
practice (GAAP).

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. Interest income on an impaired financial asset is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Tier 1 PBE financial reporting standards
and other applicable financial reporting standards, as
appropriate for public benefit entities.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
Maritime NZ has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

These financial statements are the first financial
statements presented in accordance with the new PBE
accounting standards. There are no material adjustments
arising on transition to the new PBE accounting standards.

Capital charge
The capital charge is recognised as an expense in the
period to which the charge relates.

Measurement base

Leases

The financial statements have been prepared on an
historical cost basis, except where modified by the
revaluation of certain items of property, plant and
equipment.

Finance leases
Leases that transfer to Maritime NZ substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset,
whether or not title is eventually transferred, are classified
as finance leases. At the commencement of the lease term,
Maritime NZ recognises finance leases as assets and
liabilities in the statement of financial position at the lower
of the fair value of the leased item or the present value of
the minimum lease payment. The finance charge is
charged to the Statement of comprehensive revenue and
expense over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability.

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in New Zealand
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($000). The functional currency of Maritime NZ is
New Zealand dollars.

Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes in accounting policies during
the financial year.

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its
useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether Maritime
NZ will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the
asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term
and its useful life.

Standards, amendments and interpretations
issued that are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted
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Operating leases

Cash and cash equivalents

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to Maritime NZ
are classified as operating leases. Lease payments under an
operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straightline basis over the term of the lease in the Statement of
comprehensive revenue and expense.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held on call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Lease incentives received are recognised in the Statement
of comprehensive revenue and expense over the lease term
as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Debtors and other receivables are recorded at their face
value, less any provision for impairment. Impairment of a
receivable is established when there is objective evidence
that Maritime NZ will not be able to collect amounts due
according to the original terms of the receivable.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability
that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy, receivership or
liquidation, and default in payments are considered
indicators that the debtor is impaired.

Debtors and other receivables

Taxation
Maritime NZ is a public authority and consequently is
exempt from the payment of income tax. Accordingly no
charge for income tax has been provided for. Maritime NZ
is not exempt from indirect tax legislation such as that
relating to Goods and Services Tax, Pay As You Earn or
Accident Compensation Corporation levies, and therefore is
required to comply with these regulations.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original
effective interest rate.

Goods and Services Tax

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the Statement of comprehensive revenue and
expense. When the receivable is uncollectable, it is written
off against the allowance account for receivables. Overdue
receivables that have been renegotiated are reclassified as
current (that is, not past due).

All items in the financial statements are presented on a
Goods and Services Tax-exclusive basis, with the exception
of accounts receivable and accounts payable, which are
stated as Goods and Services Tax inclusive. Where Goods
and Services Tax is not recoverable as an input tax, it is
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.
The net amount of Goods and Services Tax recoverable
from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is included as part of
debtors and other receivables or creditors and other
payables in the statement of financial position. The net
Goods and Services Tax paid to, or received from, the
Inland Revenue, including the Goods and Services Tax
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as
an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Investments
At each balance sheet date, Maritime NZ assesses whether
there is any objective evidence that an investment is
impaired.

Bank deposits
Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. After initial recognition,
investments in bank deposits are measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any
provision for impairment.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of
Goods and Services Tax.

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the statement of
performance expectations, as approved by the Authority at
the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have
been prepared in accordance with Tier 1 PBE accounting
standards using accounting policies that are consistent
with those adopted by the Authority for the preparation of
the financial statements.

For bank deposits, impairment is established when there is
objective evidence that Maritime NZ will not be able to
collect amounts due according to the original terms of the
deposit. Significant financial difficulties of the bank,
probability that the bank will enter into bankruptcy,
liquidation, and default in payments are considered
indicators that the deposit is impaired.

Cost allocation

Inventory

Maritime NZ has determined the cost of outputs by using
the cost allocation system outlined below.

Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the
provision of services that are not supplied on a commercial
basis are measured at cost (determined on the weighted
average cost method), adjusted when applicable, for any
loss of service potential. Where inventories are acquired
through non-exchange transactions, the cost is the current
replacement cost at the date of acquisition. This valuation
includes allowances for slow moving and obsolete stock.

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output.
Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified in
an economically feasible manner with a specific output.
Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs
are charged to outputs based on cost drivers and related
activity/usage information. Depreciation is charged on the
basis of asset utilisation. Personnel costs are charged on
the basis of actual time incurred. Other indirect costs are
assigned to outputs, based on the proportion of full-time
equivalents.

The amount of any write-down for the loss of service
potential or from cost to net realisable value is recognised
in the Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense in
the period of the write-down.

There have been no changes to the cost allocation
methodology since the date of the last audited financial
statements.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions (including those for which
forward exchange contracts are held) are translated into
New Zealand dollars (the functional currency) using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions, and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense.

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in
revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are
transferred to general funds.

Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic
benefits or service potential associated with the item will
flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist of:









lighthouses
navigational lights, buoys and day beacons
plant and equipment
motor vehicles
furniture, fittings and office equipment
computer equipment
leasehold improvements
land.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in the Statement of
comprehensive revenue and expense as they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all
property, plant and equipment other than land, at rates
that will write-off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to
their estimated residual values over their useful lives. The
useful lives and associated depreciation rates used in the
preparation of these statements are as follows:

Land is measured at fair value. All other assets classes are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Revaluations
Land has been revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from fair
value, and at least every year.

Asset type

Useful life (years)

Depreciation
method

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed every
three years by independent valuers to ensure that they do
not differ materially from fair value. If there is evidence
supporting a material difference, then the off-cycle assets
classes are revalued.

Lighthouses

10–40

straight-line

Navigational
lights, buoys &
day beacons

10–20

straight-line

5–10

straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings
& office
equipment

5

straight-line

Computer
equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

Plant and
equipment

Accounting for revaluations
Maritime NZ accounts for revaluations of property, plant
and equipment on a class of assets basis.
The results of revaluing are credited or debited to other
comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated
to an asset revaluation reserve in equity. Where this results
in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this
balance is expensed in the Statement of comprehensive
revenue and expense. Any subsequent increase on
revaluation that off-sets a previous decrease in value
recognised in the Statement of comprehensive revenue and
expense will be recognised first in the Statement of
comprehensive revenue and expense up to the amount
previously expensed, and then credited to the revaluation
reserve for that class of asset.

Leasehold
improvements

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the
unexpired period of the lease, or the estimated remaining
useful lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter.
The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed,
and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year-end.

Additions

Intangible assets

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future
economic benefits or service potential associated with the
item will flow to Maritime NZ and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably.

Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and
is not depreciated.

Costs directly associated with the development of software
for internal use by Maritime NZ are recognised as an
intangible asset. Direct costs include the software
development, employee costs and an appropriate portion of
relevant overheads.

In most instances, an item of property, plant and
equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset
is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, it is
recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals

Other software-related costs are recognised as follows:

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains
and losses on disposals are included in the Statement of
comprehensive revenue and expense.

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when
incurred.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are
recognised as an expense when incurred.
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Costs associated with the development and maintenance of
Maritime NZ’s website are recognised as an expense when
incurred.

Employee entitlements

Amortisation

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance
date, annual leave earned, but not yet taken at balance
date are measured at undiscounted nominal values, based
on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.

Short-term employee entitlements

The carrying value of an intangible asset with finite life is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and
ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The
amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the
Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense.

Employee entitlements that Maritime NZ expects to be
settled within 12 months of balance date in which the
employee renders the related service, is based on accrued
entitlements at current rates of pay. Annual leave is
calculated on an actual entitlement basis in accordance
with the Holidays Act 2003.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
Asset type

Useful life (years)

Maritime NZ does not recognise a liability for sick leave, as
staff have an unlimited entitlement.

Amortisation
method

Acquired
Developed

3–5

straight-line

8

straight-line

Maritime NZ recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses where it is contractually obliged to pay them, or
where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets

Superannuation schemes
Defined contribution schemes

Maritime NZ does not hold any cash-generating assets.
Assets are considered cash-generating where their primary
objective is to generate a commercial return.

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver and Tower
LifeSaver are accounted for as defined contribution
superannuation schemes and are recognised as an expense
in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that
have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable service amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

Defined benefit schemes
Obligations for contributions to Government
Superannuation Fund is accounted for as a defined
contribution superannuation scheme and are recognised as
an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Value in use is determined using an approach based on
either depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration
cost approach, or a service units approach. The most
appropriate approach used to measure value in use
depends on the nature of the impairment and availability of
information.

Provisions
Maritime NZ recognises a provision for future expenditure
of uncertain amount or timing when there is a present
obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that expenditure will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
service amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the
carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount.
For revalued assets, the impairment loss is recognised in
other comprehensive revenue and expense to the extent
that the impairment against the revaluation reserve. Where
that results in a debit balance in the revaluation reserve,
the balance is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time, value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an
interest expense and is included in finance costs.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total
impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

Restructuring

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is
credited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and
increases the asset revaluation reserve for that class of
asset. However, to the extent that an impairment loss for
that class of asset was previously recognised in the surplus
or deficit, a reversal of the impairment loss is also
recognised in the surplus or deficit.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when Maritime
NZ has approved a detailed formal plan for the
restructuring that has either been announced publicly to
those affected, or for which implementation has already
commenced.

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.

In preparing these financial statements, Maritime NZ has
made estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
These estimates and assumptions may differ from the
subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are
continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

Creditors and other payables
Short-term creditors and other payables are recorded at
their face value.
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circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

relating to the acquisition and disposal of non-current
assets, intangible assets and investments.
Financing activities comprise the change in equity and
debt capital structure of Maritime NZ.

Estimating the fair value of land and
building
The significant assumptions applied in determining the fair
value of land and building is disclosed in note 13.

Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets’ useful lives and
residual value
At each balance date, Maritime NZ reviews the useful lives
and residual values of its property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets. Assessing the appropriateness of
useful life and residual value estimates of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets requires Maritime NZ
to consider a number of factors, such as the physical
condition of the asset, expected period of use of the asset
by Maritime NZ, and expected disposal proceeds from the
future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value
will impact the depreciation/amortisation expense
recognised in the surplus or deficit, and on the carrying
amount of the asset in the statement of financial position.
Maritime NZ minimises the risk of this estimation
uncertainty by:





physical inspections of assets
asset replacement programmes
review of second-hand market prices for similar
assets
analysis of prior asset sales.

Maritime NZ has not made significant changes to past
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values,
except where individual assets have been impaired or
written off during the financial year due to observable
changes in the asset itself.

Critical judgements
No critical judgements have been applied in the
preparation of these financial statements.

Commitments
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts
that relate to unperformed goods or services that have been
entered into a balance date are disclosed as commitments.
Commitments disclosed include those operating and
capital commitments arising from non-cancellable
contractual or statutory obligations.

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that
they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets are
disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised.

Statement of cash flows
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in
bank accounts and demand deposits in which Maritime NZ
invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.
Operating activities include cash received from all income
sources and records the cash payments made for the
supply of goods and services, personnel expenses, interest
and capital charge. Investing activities are those activities
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Note 2: Revenue from the Crown
Maritime NZ has been provided with funding from the Crown for the specific purposes of Maritime NZ, as set out in its founding legislation
and the scope of the relevant government appropriations. Apart from these general restrictions, there are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attached to government funding (2014: nil).

Note 3: Other revenue
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Seafarer licensing

683

536

Ship registration

213

189

User charges

1,884

1,047

Other income

473

315

690

690

Ministry of Transport

899

899

NZ International Aid and Development Agency

293

195

5,135

3,871

Oil pollution recovery
Oil pollution recovery
Funding from Crown agencies

Total other revenue

Note 4: Gains
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Net gain on sale of property, plant & equipment

20

-

Total gains

20

-

Note 5: Personnel costs
Actual 2014/15
$000
Personnel & related costs

Actual 2013/14
$000

19,415

19,122

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans

878

851

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (note 16)

(73)

297

20,220

20,270

Total personnel costs

Employee contributions to defined contribution plans include contributions to KiwiSaver and the Government Superannuation Fund and
Tower LifeSaver.

Note 6: Capital charge
Maritime NZ pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers' funds at 30 June and 31 December each year. The capital charge rate for
the year ended 30 June 2015 was 8.0% (2014: 8.0%).

Note 7: Finance costs
Actual 2014/15
$000
Interest on finance lease
Discount unwind on provisions (note 17)
Total finance costs
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Actual 2013/14
$000
72

-

(62)

13

10

13

Note 8: Other expenses
Actual 2014/15
$000
Administration

Actual 2013/14
$000

1,259

1,222

119

119

-

6

Authority members’ fees (note 23)
Bad debts written off
Donations

5

10

76

74

188

2

Maintenance

1,429

1,189

Marketing & public relations

1,155

1,254

Operating

1,640

1,679

Operating lease expenses

1,201

1,382

Professional & safety services

5,984

4,451

913

1,039

1,475

1,519

15,444

13,946

Fees to auditors – audit fees for financial statement audit
Impairment of receivables (note 10)

Search & rescue variable costs
Travel
Total other expenses

Note 9: Other comprehensive revenue and expense
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Gain on foreign exchange forward contracts

511

-

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense

511

-

Note 10: Cash and cash equivalents
Actual 2014/15
$000
Cash on hand and at bank

Actual 2013/14
$000
396

558

Cash equivalents – term deposits

5,547

5,771

Total cash & equivalents

5,943

6,329

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value. The weighted average
effective interest rate for short-term deposits is 3.10% (2014: 3.48%).

Note 11: Debtors and other receivables
Actual 2014/15
$000
Trade debtors

2,748

Actual 2013/14
$000
2,922

Less: provision for impairment

(279)

(91)

Net trade debtors

2,469

2,831

Other accounts receivable

2,125

696

Total debtors and other receivables

4,594

3,527

1,307

712

3,287

2,815

Total debtors and other receivables comprises
Receivables from the sale of goods and services (exchange
transactions)
Receivables from Maritime levies and Crown Revenue (nonexchange transactions)
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The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. As at 30 June 2015 and 2014, all overdue receivables have been assessed
for impairment and appropriate provisions applied, as detailed below:
Debtors aging
Gross
$000

Actual 2015
Impairment
$000

Net
$000

Gross
$000

Actual 2014
Impairment
$000

Net
$000

Not past due

3,473

-

3,473

1,948

-

1,948

Past due 1–30 days

1,004

(197)

807

993

-

993

past due 31–60 days

283

-

283

176

-

176

Past due 61–90 days

27

-

27

160

-

160

Past due > 90 days

86

(82)

4

341

(91)

250

4,873

(279)

4,594

3,618

(91)

3,527

Total

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for Maritime NZ's pool of debtors. Expected losses are based
on an analysis of Maritime NZ's losses in previous periods, and reviews of specific debtors. Movements in the provision for impairment of
receivables are as follows:
Actual 2014/15
$000
Balance at 1 July

Actual 2013/14
$000
91

89

Additional provisions made during the year (note 8)

188

2

Balance at 30 June

279

91

Note 12: Inventory
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Spare parts

246

200

Total inventory

246

200

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $Nil (2014: $Nil) reflecting the current age and condition. There have
been no reversals of write-downs. No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some inventories are subject to retention of
title clauses.
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Note 13: Property, plant and equipment
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Buoys, day beacons,
navigational lights

Light houses

$000

Plant &
equipment

$000

$000

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fittings
and office equipment

$000

$000

Computer
equipment

Leasehold
improvement

$000

Work in
progress

Land

$000

$000

Total

$000

$000

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 July 2013

2,000

2,437

9,594

862

1,867

1,661

1,729

674

224

21,048

Additions

-

62

-

-

140

185

419

-

-

806

Work in progress (WIP)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

515

515

Transfer from WIP

83

9

-

-

27

-

-

-

(119)

-

Reclassification to intangible asset

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(29)

(29)

Disposals

-

-

(43)

-

(526)

(185)

(25)

-

(6)

(785)

Balance at 30 June 2014

2,083

2,508

9,551

862

1,508

1,661

2,123

674

585

21,555

Balance at 1 July 2014

2,083

2,508

9,551

862

1,508

1,661

2,123

674

585

21,555

Additions

-

23

3,232

-

16

131

15

-

3,425

6,842

Revaluation

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(84)

-

(84)

Work in progress (WIP)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

181

181

Transfer from WIP

44

-

-

-

3

324

-

-

(371)

-

Reclassification between categories

-

-

(85)

-

-

85

-

-

-

-

Reclassification to intangible asset

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Disposals

-

-

-

(202)

-

(751)

-

-

-

(953)

Balance at 30 June 2015

2,127

2,531

12,698

660

1,527

1,450

2,138

590

3,820

27,541

Balance at 1 July 2013

1,052

1,968

8,839

652

1,545

1,370

1,616

-

-

17,042

Depreciation expense

81

66

127

63

107

205

42

-

-

691

Elimination on disposal

-

-

(43)

-

(526)

(185)

(25)

-

-

(779)

Accumulated Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 30 June 2014

1,133

2,034

8,923

715

1,126

1,390

1,633

-

-

16,954

Balance at 1 July 2014

1,133

2,034

8,923

715

1,126

1,390

1,633

-

-

16,954
1,120

Depreciation expense

85

67

404

61

123

313

67

-

-

Elimination on disposal

-

-

-

(202)

-

(751)

-

-

-

(953)

Balance at 30 June 2015

1,218

2,101

9,327

574

1,249

952

1,700

-

-

17,121

At 30 June 2014

950

474

628

147

382

271

490

674

585

4,601

At 30 June 2015

909

430

3,371

86

278

498

438

590

3,820

10,420

Carrying amounts

Land transferred from the Ministry of Transport at no cost on the establishment of Maritime NZ in 1993 was revalued by an independent registered valuer, Beca Limited, on 30 June 2013.
The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is $2,869,166 (2014: $nil).
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Note 14: Intangible assets
Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:
Internally
generated
software
$000

Acquired
software
$000
Balance at 1 July 2013

Work in
progress

Total

$000

$000

3,367

3,098

225

6,690

Additions

-

-

-

-

Work in progress (WIP)

-

-

1,310

1,310

29

-

-

29

Disposals

(155)

-

-

(155)

Balance at 30 June 2014

3,241

3,098

1,535

7,874

Balance at 1 July 2014

3,241

3,098

1,535

7,874

(1,625)

1,625

-

-

244

625

-

869

-

-

807

807

387

1,017

(1,404)

-

Disposals

(198)

-

-

(198)

Balance at 30 June 2015

2,049

6,365

938

9,352

2,454

1,422

-

3,876

142

658

-

800

Elimination on disposal

(155)

-

-

(155)

Balance at 30 June 2014

2,441

2,080

-

4,521

Balance at 1 July 2014

2,441

2,080

-

4,521

(1,179)

1,179

-

-

398

584

-

982

Elimination on disposal

(170)

-

-

(170)

Balance at 30 June 2015

1,490

3,843

-

5,333

At 30 June 2014

800

1,018

1,535

3,353

At 30 June 2015

559

2,522

938

4,019

Transfer from property, plant & equipment WIP

Reclassification of opening balance
Additions
Work in progress (WIP)
Transfer from property, plant & equipment WIP

Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2013
Amortisation expense

Reclassification of opening balance
Amortisation expense

Carrying amounts

There are no restrictions over the title of Maritime NZ's intangible assets, and no intangible assets pledged as security for
liabilities.
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Note 15: Creditors and other payables
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Payables under exchange transactions
Trade creditors

2,365

1,286

Accrued expenses

2,177

2,558

Total creditors and other payables under exchange transactions

4,542

3,844

397

85

76

418

473

503

5,015

4,347

Payables under non-exchange transactions
Taxes Payable (GST, FBT, and rates)
Other
Total creditors and other payables under non-exchange
transactions
Total Creditors and other payables

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms; therefore, the carrying value of
creditors and other payables approximates the fair value.

Note 16: Finance lease
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Current portion
Finance Lease

255

-

Total current portion

255

-

Finance Lease

2,614

-

Total non-current portion

2,614

-

Non-current portion

Finance lease is effectively secured, at the right to the leased asset revert to the lessor in the event of default. The net carrying
amount of assets held under finance leases is disclosed in note 13.
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Analysis of finance lease
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Minimum lease payments payable
Not later than one year

327

-

Later than one year and not later than five years

1,400

-

Later than five years

1,858

-

Total minimum lease payments

3,585

-

Future finance charges

(716)

-

Present value of minimum lease payments

2,614

-

255

-

Later than one year and not later than five years

1,114

-

Later than five years

1,500

-

Total present value of minimum lease payments

2,869

-

Present value of minimum lease payments payables
Not later than one year

Maritime New Zealand entered into a finance lease of equipment used for the national maritime distress and safety
radio service for 11 years from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2025 with Kordia Limited. The net carrying amount of this
asset held under finance lease is shown in note 13.

Note 17: Employee entitlements
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Current annual leave

910

983

Accrued salary and wages

631

1,065

1,541

2,048

Total employee entitlements

Note 18: Provisions
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Current provisions are represented by
Lease make good

12

99

Total current provisions

12

99

96

71

Non-current provisions are represented by
Lease make good
Total non-current provisions
Total provisions
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96

71

108

170

Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
Lease make-good
$000
Balance at 1 July 2013

157

Additional provisions made

-

Discount unwind provision (note 7)

13

Balance at 30 June 2014

170

Balance at 1 July 2014

170

Additional provisions made

-

Discount unwind provision (note 7)

(62)

Balance at 30 June 2015

108

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, Maritime NZ is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any damage caused to the
premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by Maritime NZ. In many cases,
Maritime NZ has the option to renew these leases, which impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows to make good the
premises. Information about Maritime NZ's leasing arrangements is disclosed in Note 21.

Note 19: Equity
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

General funds
Balance at 1 July as previously reported

15,088

14,487

Capital contribution

4,118

601

Balance at 30 June

19,206

15,088

(3,695)

(2,918)

167

(777)

(3,528)

(3,695)

Balance at 1 July

674

674

Revaluations

(84)

-

Balance at 30 June

590

674

16,268

12,067

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Balance at 30 June

Revaluation reserve

Total equity 30 June

The revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 June 2015 consists of land $590,000 (2014: land $674,000).
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Note 20: Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash from operating activities
Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000

$000

Net surplus/(deficit)

167

(777)

2,102

1,491

39

6

709

-

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

-

-

Write-off of inventory

-

-

Total non-cash items

2,850

1,497

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment

(20)

-

Payments of finance leases

313

-

Total items classified as investing/ financing activities

293

-

(46)

(39)

(1,067)

(549)

(154)

1,838

43

(310)

(1,224)

940

2,086

1,660

Add/(less) non-cash items
Depreciation & amortisation
Write-off of property, plant and equipment
Capital contribution accruals

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities

Add/(less) movements in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in debtors and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and other payables, including
provisions
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
Net movements in working capital items
Net cash from operations

Note 21: Capital commitments and operating leases
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Capital commitments
Property, plant & equipment

-

3,898

Total capital commitments

-

3,898

Capital commitment relates to the National Maritime Distress and Safety Communications Services Agreement with Kordia
Limited which was entered into before 30 June 2014 and the transaction accured on 1 July 2014.

Operating leases as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable and operating leases:
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Non-cancellable operating leases
Not later than 1 year

3,825

3,985

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

14,680

14,750

Later than 5 years

15,937

19,464

Total non-cancellable operating leases

34,442

38,199

Maritime NZ has recognised a make-good provision of $107,570 (2014: $169,514) in respect of these leases (refer Note 18).
Operating lease payments relating to the National Maritime Distress and Safety Communications Services Agreement amount to
$29,345,778 (2014: $32,276,017).
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Note 22: Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
Maritime NZ has no contingent liabilities (2014: $nil).

Contingent assets
Maritime NZ has no contingent assets (2014: $nil).

Note 23: Related-party transactions
Related-party transactions
Maritime NZ is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of Maritime NZ, in addition
to being a major source of its revenue. Maritime NZ enters into all related-party transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Significant transaction with government-related entities
Maritime NZ has been provided with funding from the Crown of $15,621,000 (2014: $14,223,000) for specific purposes as set
out in its founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government appropriation. Funding from Crown agencies, Ministry of
Transport $899,000 (2014: $899,000) and NZ Aid $293,000 (2014: $195,000).

Collectively, but not individually significant, transactions with government-related entities
In conducting its activities, Maritime NZ is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as Goods and Services Tax, Fringe
Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn Tax, and ACC levies) to the Crown and entities related to the Crown. The payment of these taxes
and levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers. Maritime
NZ is exempt from paying income tax.
The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The aggregate value of
transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which they have control or
significant influence were as follows:
Transaction

Ref

Maritime NZ – provision of salaries and administrative
support to New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

1

Transaction value
year ended 30 June
2015
2014
$000
$000

Balance outstanding
year ended 30 June
2015
2014
$000
$000

690

690

(37)

(366)

-

-

(78)

(127)

Maritime NZ – amounts receivable from New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund

1.
Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and in doing so incurs costs directly.
These costs are recovered from the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund on a cost recovery basis.
No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties (2014: $nil).

Key management personnel compensation
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Board Members
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members

119

119

0.2

0.2

1,801

1,832

8.0

8.0

1,920

1,951

8.2

8.2

Leadership Team
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members
Total Key management personnel remuneration
Total full time equivalent personnel

Key management personnel include all Authority members, the chief executive, and the remaining seven members of the
executive team (2014: eight members).
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Note 24: Authority member remuneration
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

David Ledson (Chairman)

39

39

Maxine Moana-Tuwhangai

20

20

Peter Cowper

20

20

Belinda Vernon

20

20

Russell Watson

20

20

119

119

Total Authority member remuneration

The total value of remuneration paid or payable to Authority members during the year was as follows:
There have been no payments made to committee members appointed by the Authority, who were not Authority members, during
the financial year.
Maritime NZ has provided a deed of indemnity to directors for certain activities undertaken in the performance of Maritime NZ's
functions.
Maritime NZ has affected directors’ and officers’ liability and professional indemnity insurance cover during the financial year in
respect of the liability or costs of Authority members and employees.

Note 25: Employee remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable$

Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

100,000–109,999

27

25

110,000–119,999

16

20

120,000–129,999

13

12

130,000–139,999

6

2

140,000–149,999

7

9

150,000–159,999

6

5

160,000-169,999

1

2

170,000–179,999

3

2

180,000–189,999

1

1

200,000–209,999

2

2

210,000–219,999

3

3

250,000-259,999

1

-

290,000–299,999

1

-

300,000-309,999

-

2

87

85

Total employees

During the year ended 30 June 2015 no (2014: one) employee received compensation and other benefits in relation to cessation
totalling $nil (2014: $43,427). No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2014:
$nil).

Note 26: Events after balance sheet date
There were no significant events after the balance date.
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Note 27: Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:
Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000

$000

Loans & receivables
Cash & cash equivalents (note 10)

5,943

6,329

Debtors & other receivables (note 11)

4,594

3,527

10,537

9,856

Creditors & other payables (note 15)

5,015

4,347

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

5,015

4,347

Total loans & receivables
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Note 28: Financial instrument risks
Maritime NZ's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Maritime NZ has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments, and seeks to minimise exposure
from financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions to be entered into that are speculative in nature.

Market risk
The interest rates on Maritime NZ's investments are disclosed in note 10.

Fair-value interest rate risk
Fair-value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest
rates. Maritime NZ's exposure to fair-value interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits, which are held at fixed rates of
interest.

Cash-flow interest rate risk
Cash-flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. Investments issued at variable interest rates expose Maritime NZ to cash-flow interest rate risk. Maritime NZ's
investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate movements.
Maritime NZ currently has no variable interest rate investments.

Sensitivity analysis
As at 30 June 2015, if interest rates on term deposits had been 0.5% higher or lower, with all other variables held constant, the
surplus for the year would have been $27,737 (2014: $11,859) higher/lower. This movement is attributable to increased or
decreased interest received on term deposits.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Maritime NZ purchases goods and services overseas, which requires it to enter into transactions denominated in
foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to currency risk arises. Maritime NZ does not operate any overseascurrency bank accounts.
It is Maritime NZ's policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by entering into
foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the foreign-currency risk exposure.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to Maritime NZ, causing Maritime NZ to incur a loss. Due to
the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, Maritime NZ invests surplus cash with registered banks. Maritime NZ's investment
policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution. Maritime NZ has processes in place to review the credit quality
of customers prior to the granting of credit.
Maritime NZ's maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the total carrying amount of cash
and cash equivalents (Note 10) and net debtors (Note 11). There is no collateral held as security against these financial
instruments, including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.
Maritime NZ has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a small number of credit customers and invests funds only
with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor's credit ratings.
Maritime NZ holds cash with Westpac, ANZ, Bank of New Zealand, Kiwibank and ASB.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Maritime NZ will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due.
Prudent liquidity-risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability to close out market positions. Maritime NZ
mostly manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual forecast and actual cash flow requirements.
Maritime NZ maintains a credit card facility limit with Westpac.
The table below analyses Maritime NZ's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings, based on the remaining period at the
balance date to the contract maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Less than 31
days

Between 31 &
60 days

Between 61 &
90 days

Over 90 days

$000

$000

$000

$000

4,347

-

-

-

4,748

248

19

-

2014
Creditors & other payables (note 15)
2015
Creditors & other payables (note 15)

Note 29: Capital management
Maritime NZ's capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves. Equity is represented by net assets.
Maritime NZ is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose
restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing of guarantees and indemnities, and the use of derivatives.
Maritime NZ manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and investments,
and general financial dealings to ensure Maritime NZ effectively achieves its objectives and purpose while remaining a going
concern.

Note 30: Explanation of significant variances against budget
Explanations for significant variations from Maritime NZ's budgeted figures in the Statement of Performance Expectation 2014-

2015 are as follows:

Statement of financial performance
Crown revenue
Revenue is lower than budget as a result of the following:



Less funding received for the non-oil response of the Rena grounding due to less expenditure incurred than budgeted;
The reduced level of funding received for the non-oil response of the Rena grounding has been partially offset by additional
funding received for the operational costs of the MEOSAR project.

Marine Safety Charge
Revenue is under than budget due to slightly fewer New Zealand port visits by international commercial vessels paying the marine
safety charge, during the year.

Other revenue
Revenue is lower than budget due to slower than anticipated throughput of MOSS and Seacert applications, a result of higher
than expected operator and seafarer assistance time required to ensure smooth receipt and processing.

Personnel and other expenses
Personnel and other expenses are lower than budget. This is primarily due to management reducing expenditure to offset the
lower than expected revenue levels.
Personnel vacancies were held open and related discretionary expenditure reduced to minimise the impact of the lower revenue
on the fiscal outcome for the year.
Anticipated interest costs on finance leasing a new software system for the support of MOSS and Seacert did not arise, due to the
purchase changing to being Crown funded after the development of the 2014/15 budget.
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Statement of financial position
Debtors and other receivables
The Debtors and other receivables are higher than budget due to capital contribution drawdown accruals and unrealised foreign
exchange gains on forward contracts with the New Zealand Debt Management Office.

Creditors and other payables
The Creditors and other payables are higher than budget due to payment pattern revisions made post budget.

Note 31: Directions issued by Ministers
There were no Directions issued by the Minister within the financial reporting period.
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Part C: Appendices
Appendix 1: Financial Statements for the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund
Chairman’s report
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund comprises levies collected from all contributing commercial ships and offshore oil
installations and pipelines. The levy is risk-based, to reflect the level of risk attributable to different categories of ships and types
of oil.
The Oil Pollution Advisory Committee endorses an annual budget for consideration by the Authority, which in turn recommends a
capital and operating budget for approval by the Minister of Transport.
The accumulated monies in the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the ongoing annual contributions from levies are applied, in
accordance with the Maritime Transport Act 1994, to the development and maintenance of an effective marine oil pollution
response system for New Zealand.

David Ledson
Chairman, Maritime NZ
Date: 30 October 2015
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Statement of responsibility for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
We are responsible for the preparation of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements and statement
of performance, and for the judgements made in them.
We are responsible for any end-of-year performance information provided by Maritime NZ under section 19A of the
Public Finance Act 1989.
We have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.
In our opinion, these financial statements and statement of performance fairly reflect the financial position and
operations of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund for the year ended 30 June 2015.

David Ledson
Chairman, Maritime NZ
Dated: 30 October 2015

Belinda Vernon
Authority member, Maritime NZ
Dated: 30 October 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the readers of the
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund (the Fund). The
Auditor-General has appointed me, Kelly Rushton, using the staff and resources of Audit
New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements, of the Fund on her behalf.

Opinion on the financial statements
We have audited:


the financial statements of the Fund on pages 82 to 96, that comprise the statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of comprehensive revenue and
expenses, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion:


the financial statements of the Fund:


present fairly, in all material respects:






its financial position as at 30 June 2015;
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended;
and

comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and
have been prepared in accordance with the Public Entity Accounting
Standards.

Our audit was completed on 30 October 2015. This is the date at which our opinion is
expressed.
The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the
Board and our responsibilities, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that, in our
judgement, are likely to influence readers’ overall understanding of the financial statements. If
we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them
in our opinion.
An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information. The procedures
selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we
consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the Fund’s financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
An audit also involves evaluating:


the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been
consistently applied;



the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by
the Board;



the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements; and



the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the
financial statements. Also, we did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic
publication of the financial statements.
We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for preparing financial statements that:


comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and



present fairly the Fund’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Crown Entities Act
2004, and the Public Finance Act 1989.
The Board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. The Board is also responsible for the publication of the financial statements,
whether in printed or electronic form.

Responsibilities of the Auditor
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and
reporting that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises from the Public
Audit Act 2001.
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Independence
When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements of the
Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence requirements of the External Reporting
Board.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the Fund.

Kelly Rushton
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense for the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund
Year ended 30 June 2015
Notes

Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2013/14
$000

Revenue
Oil Pollution Levy

6,343

5,864

6,205

35

60

82

72

26

44

4

-

23

6,454

5,950

6,354

1,005

911

1,021

10, 11

440

576

375

Finance costs

5

(5)

-

1

Other expenses

6

3,887

3,962

3,174

Total expenditure

5,327

5,449

4,571

Surplus/(deficit)

1,127

501

1,783

Total comprehensive revenue and expense

1,127

501

1,783

Other third party

2

Interest revenue
Gains

3

Total revenue
Expenditure
Personnel costs

4

Depreciation & amortisation costs

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 21.
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of changes in net assets/equity for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2015
Notes
Balance at 1 July
Total comprehensive revenue and expense
Capital contribution

Actual
2014/15
$000

6,794

5,645

1,127

501

1,783

-

-

100

8,655

7,295

7,528

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Actual
2013/14
$000

7,528

15

Balance at 30 June

Budget
2014/15
$000

Statement of financial position for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
As at 30 June 2015
Notes

Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2013/14
$000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

7

2,561

1,710

2,498

Debtors and other receivables

8

711

1,000

584

28

30

-

1,624

1,515

1,519

4,924

4,255

4,601

Prepayments
Inventory

9

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

10

4,910

4,286

4,351

Intangible assets

11

54

54

114

Total non-current assets

4,964

4,340

4,465

Total assets

9,888

8,595

9,066

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables

12

1,099

1,250

1,382

Provision for employee entitlements

13

76

50

93

1,175

1,300

1,475

58

-

63

58

-

63

1,233

1,300

1,538

8,655

7,295

7,528

Total equity

8,655

7,295

7,528

Total equity & liabilities

9,888

8,595

9,066

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

14

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
General funds

15

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in Note 21.
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
Year ended 30 June 2015
Notes

Actual

Budget

Actual

2014/15

2014/15

2013/14

$000

$000

$000

Cash flows from operating activities
Oil Pollution Levy

6,094

5,864

5,926

Other third party

35

60

116

Interest revenue

72

26

44

Payments to employees

(1,022)

(911)

(1,015)

Payments to suppliers

(4,415)

(3,962)

(2,546)

Goods & services tax (net)

234

-

(153)

Net cash flows from operating activities

998

1,077

2,372

4

-

23

Purchase of property, plant & equipment

(939)

(1,000)

(1,200)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(935)

(1,000)

(1,177)

-

-

100

-

-

100

63

77

1,295

Opening cash balance at 1 July

2,498

1,633

1,203

Closing cash balance at 30 June

2,561

1,710

2,498

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contribution

15

Net cash flows from financing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents

The Goods and Services Tax (net) component of operating activities reflects the net Goods and Services Tax paid and received
with Inland Revenue. The Goods and Services Tax (net) component has been presented on a net basis, as the gross amounts do
not provide meaningful information for financial statement purposes.
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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revenue is recognised when earned, and is reported in the
financial period to which it relates.

Notes to the financial statements for
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration
received or receivable.

Note 1: Statement of accounting
policies for the year ended 30 June
2015

Interest
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. Interest income on an impaired financial asset is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Reporting entity

Leases

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has designated itself
as a public benefit entity (PBE) for the purposes of
financial reporting standards.

Operating leases

The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund have been prepared in accordance with section
330(7) of the Maritime Transport Act 1994.

Leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the New
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are classified as operating
leases. Lease payments under an operating lease are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease in the surplus or deficit.

The financial statements for the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund are for the year ended 30 June 2015 and were
authorised by the Authority for issue on 30 October 2015.

Basis of preparation

Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or
deficit over the lease term as an integral part of the total
lease expense.

Statement of compliance

Finance leases

The financial statements of the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which
includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand
generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP).

A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset, whether or not title is eventually
transferred. At the commencement of the lease term, the
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises finance leases
as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial
position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item, or
the present value of the minimum lease payments.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Tier 2 PBE financial reporting standards
and other applicable financial reporting standards, as
appropriate for public benefit entities.

The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The
amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its
useful life. If there is no certainty as to whether the New
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund will obtain ownership at the end
of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

These financial statements are the first financial
statements presented in accordance with the new PBE
accounting standards. There are no material adjustments
arising on transition to the new PBE accounting standards.

Measurement base
The financial statements have been prepared on an
historical cost basis, except where modified by the
revaluation of certain items of property, plant and
equipment.

Debtors and other accounts receivable
Debtors and other accounts receivable are recorded at their
face value, less any provision for impairment.

Functional and presentation currency

Significant accounting policies

Impairment of a receivable is established when there is
objective evidence that the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
will not be able to collect amounts due according to the
original terms of the receivable. Significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation, and
default in payments are considered indicators that the
debtor is impaired.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

The amount of the impairment is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original
effective interest rate.

Revenue

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the surplus or deficit. When the receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account
for receivables. Overdue receivables that have been
renegotiated are reclassified as current (i.e. not past due).

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($000). The functional currency of the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund is New Zealand dollars ($NZD).

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund earns revenue from
interest on investments and oil pollution levies. Oil
pollution levy charges to third parties are based on
information from New Zealand Customs regarding port
visits for international vessels. The domestic portion is
derived from the annual registration of vessels. Such
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economic benefits or service potential associated with the
item will flow to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Investments
At each balance sheet date, the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund assesses whether there is any objective evidence that
an investment is impaired.

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and
is not depreciated.

Bank deposits

In most instances, an item of property, plant and
equipment is initially recognised at its cost where an asset
is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is
recognised at its fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. After initial recognition,
investments in bank deposits are measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method, less any
provision for impairment.

Disposals

For bank deposits, impairment is established when there is
objective evidence that the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
will not be able to collect amounts due according to the
original terms of the deposit. Significant financial
difficulties of the bank, probability that the bank will enter
into bankruptcy, liquidation, and default in payments are
considered indicators that the deposit is impaired.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains
and losses on disposals are included in the surplus or
deficit.

Subsequent costs
Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are
capitalised only when it is probable that future economic
benefit or service potential associated with the item will
flow to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably.

Inventories
Inventories held for consumption in the provision of
services that are not issued on a commercial basis are
measured at cost (determined on the weighted average cost
method), adjusted when applicable, for any loss of service
potential. The replacement cost or service potential of oil
spill dispersant held for distribution reflects any
obsolescence or any other impairment. The write-down
from cost to current replacement cost or net realisable
value is recognised in the surplus or deficit in the period
when the write-down occurs.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as they
are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all
property, plant and equipment, at rates that will write-off
the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated
residual values over their useful lives.

Inventory items used to repair or maintain an asset are
recorded as an expense in the surplus or deficit. Items that
replace an existing asset and are over $2,000 are recorded
as property, plant and equipment, with the asset being
replaced written off. If the replacement item is under
$2,000, the cost is recorded as repairs and maintenance
unless the item is part of an operating asset unit, in which
case the cost is recorded as property, plant and equipment.

The useful lives and associated depreciation rates used in
the preparation of these statements are as follows:
Asset type

Foreign currency transactions

Plant and equipment

Foreign currency transactions (including those for which
forward exchange contracts are held) are translated into
New Zealand dollars (the functional currency) using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Vessels

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
surplus or deficit.

straight-line

10–35

straight-line

Motor vehicles

5

straight-line

Furniture, fittings and
office equipment

5

straight-line

Computer equipment

3

straight-line

2–9

straight-line

The cost of leasehold improvements is capitalised and
depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease. Items
under construction are not depreciated. The total cost of a
capital project is transferred to the appropriate asset class
on its completion and then depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment asset classes are as follows:







Depreciation
method

5–50

Leasehold
improvements

Property, plant and equipment

Useful life
(years)

plant and equipment
vessels
motor vehicles
furniture, fittings and office equipment
computer equipment
leasehold improvements.

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed,
and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year-end.

Intangible assets

All assets classes are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. Costs that are directly associated with
the development of software for internal use by the New

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future
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Zealand Oil Pollution Fund are recognised as an intangible
asset. Direct costs include the software development,
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive revenue and expense.

Creditors and other payables

Staff training costs and costs associated with the
development and maintenance of the New Zealand Oil
Pollution Fund’s website are recognised as an expense
when incurred.

Short-term creditors and payables are recorded at their face
value.

Employee entitlements

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are
recognised as an expense when incurred.

Short-term employee entitlements

Amortisation

These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance
date, annual leave earned but not yet taken at balance
date.

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is
amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and
ceases at the date the asset is derecognised. The
amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive revenue and expense.

Employee entitlements that the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund expects to be settled within 12 months of balance
date that the employee renders the related service, is based
on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. Annual
leave is calculated on an actual entitlement basis in
accordance with the Holidays Act 2003.

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major
classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
Asset type

Useful life (years)

Acquired

3–5

straight-line

8

straight-line

Developed

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund does not recognise a
liability for sick leave, as staff have an unlimited
entitlement.

Amortisation
method

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises a liability
and an expense for bonuses where it is contractually
obliged to pay them, or where there is a past practice that
has created a constructive obligation.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Superannuation schemes

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that
have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use.

Defined contribution schemes
Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver are accounted for
as defined contribution superannuation schemes and are
recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit as
incurred.

Defined benefit schemes

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset
where the future economic benefits or service potential of
the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability
to generate net cash inflows and where the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund would, if deprived of the asset, replace
its remaining future economic benefits or service potential.

Obligations for contributions to Government
Superannuation Fund is accounted for as a defined benefit
superannuation scheme and are recognised as an expense
in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

Provisions

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount, the asset is impaired and the carrying amount is
written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued
assets, the impairment loss is recognised against the asset
revaluation reserve for that class of asset to the extent that
the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the
revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that
results in a debit balance in the asset revaluation reserve,
the balance is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive revenue and expense.

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund recognises a provision
for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when
there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that expenditures will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an
interest expense and is included in finance costs.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive revenue and expense.
The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is
credited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and
increases the asset revaluation reserve. However, to the
extent that an impairment loss for that class of asset was
previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive
revenue and expense, a reversal of the impairment loss is
also recognised in the statement of comprehensive revenue
and expense.

Goods and Services Tax
All items in the financial statements are presented on a
Goods and Services Tax exclusive basis, with the exception
of accounts receivable and accounts payable, which are
stated with Goods and Services Tax included. Where Goods
and Services Tax is not recoverable as input tax, then it is
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.
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The net amount of Goods and Services Tax recoverable
from, or payable to, Inland Revenue is included as part of
receivables or payables in the Statement of financial
position.

Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets useful lives and
residual value

The net Goods and Services Tax paid to, or received from
Inland Revenue, including the Goods and Services Tax
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as
an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

At each balance date, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. Assessing the
appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
requires the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to consider a
number of factors, such as the physical condition of the
asset, expected period of use of the asset by the New
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund, and expected disposal
proceeds from the future sale of the asset.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of
Goods and Services Tax.

Income tax
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is a public authority in
terms of the Income Tax Act 2007 and consequently is
exempt from income tax. Accordingly, no charge for income
tax has been provided for.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value
will impact on the depreciation/amortisation expense
recognised in the surplus or deficit, and on the carrying
amount of the asset in the statement of financial position.
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund minimised the risk of
this estimation uncertainty by:

Budget figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of
performance expectations, as approved by the Authority at
the beginning of the financial year. The budget figures have
been prepared in accordance with PBE accounting
standards using accounting policies that are consistent
with those adopted by the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund
for the preparation of the financial statements. Some
budget numbers have been classified differently from the
Statement of performance expectations to bring them into
line with the classifications used in the financial
statements.






physical inspections of assets
asset replacement programmes
review of the second-hand market prices for similar
assets
analysis of prior asset sales.

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has not made
significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful
lives and residual values except where individual assets
have been written-off due to observable changes to the
asset itself.

Expenses

Capital commitments

Expenses are recognised in the financial period to which
they relate.

Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts
that relate to unperformed goods or services that have been
entered into at balance date are disclosed as commitments.
Commitments disclosed include those operating and
capital commitments arising from non-cancellable
contractual or statutory obligations.

Cost allocation
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has determined the
cost of outputs by using the cost allocation system outlined
below.

Contingent assets and liabilities

Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output.
Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified in
an economically feasible manner with a specific output.
Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Indirect costs
are charged to outputs based on cost drivers and related
activity/usage information. Depreciation is charged on the
basis of asset utilisation. Personnel costs are charged on
the basis of actual time incurred. Other indirect costs are
assigned to outputs, based on the proportion of full-time
equivalents.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that
they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets are
disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised.

There have been no changes to the cost allocation
methodology since the date of the last audited financial
statements.

Operating activities include cash received from all income
sources and records the cash payments made for the
supply of goods and services, personnel expenses, interest,
and capital charges.

Statement of cash flows
Cash means cash and cash equivalents on hand, held in
bank accounts, and demand deposits in which the New
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund invests as part of its day-to-day
cash management.

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

Investing activities are those activities relating to the
acquisition and disposal of non-current assets, intangible
assets and investments.

In preparing these financial statements, the New Zealand
Oil Pollution Fund has made estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions
may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates
and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

Financing activities comprise the change in equity and
debt capital structure of the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund.

Terminology
Output class income and expenditure prior year financial
information is reclassified to align with the Statement of
Intent. The reclassification is made to provide information
that is relevant to the understanding of the financial
statements and has no impact on the net surplus/deficit.
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Note 2: Other third-party revenue
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Equipment hire

24

67

Other Income

11

15

Total other revenue

35

82

Note 3: Gains
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Net gain on sale of property, plant & equipment

4

23

Total gains

4

23

Note 4: Personnel expenses
Actual 2014/15
$000
Personnel & related costs

Actual 2013/14
$000
952

940

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans

55

49

Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements (note 13)

(2)

32

1,005

1,021

Total personnel costs

Note 5: Finance costs
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Discount unwind on provisions (note 14)

(5)

1

Total finance costs

(5)

1

Note 6: Other expenses
Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000
Administration

$000
93

25

-

1

Costs covered by Maritime NZ

690

690

Consultancy

375

48

7

3

136

119

54

39

Operating

234

155

Operating lease expenses

149

154

Professional & safety services

648

479

Regional council costs

789

718

Travel

297

265

Training & exercises

415

420

-

58

3,887

3,174

Bad debts written off

Impairment of receivables (note 8)
Maintenance
Marketing & public relations

Property, plant & equipment write-off
Total other expenses
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Note 7: Cash and cash equivalents
Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000

000

Cash on hand and at bank

462

126

Cash equivalents – term deposits

2,099

2,372

Total cash & equivalents

2,561

2,498

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value.
The weighted average effective interest rate for short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less is 3.43% (2014:
3.00%).

Note 8: Debtors and other receivables
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Trade debtors

653

406

Less: provision for impairment

(12)

(5)

Net trade debtors

641

401

Other accounts receivable

70

60

Goods and Services Tax refundable

-

123

Total debtors and other receivables

711

584

711

584

Total debtors and other receivables comprises
Receivables from Oil Pollution levies (non-exchange transactions)
The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.
The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s pool of
debtors. Expected losses are based on an analysis of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund's losses in previous periods, and review
of specific debtors.

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

5

2

Balance at 1 July
Additional provisions made during the year (note 8)

7

3

12

5

Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000

$000

Balance at 30 June

Note 9: Inventory

Oil spill response and dispersants

1,624

1,519

Total inventory

1,624

1,519

The write-down of inventories held for distribution amounted to $nil (2013: $nil). There have been no reversals of write-downs.
No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities; however, some inventories are subject to retention of title clauses.
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Note 10: Property, plant and equipment
Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:
Plant &
equipment

Vessels

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fittings
and office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Leasehold
improvements

Work in progress

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

9,561

454

287

92

23

60

147

10,624

71

-

34

-

-

-

-

105

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,098

1,098

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 July 2013
Additions
Work in progress
Transfer from WIP
Disposals

147

-

-

-

-

-

(147)

-

(591)

(31)

(35)

-

-

-

-

(657)

Balance at 30 June 2014

9,188

423

286

92

23

60

1,098

11,170

Balance at 1 July 2014

9,188

423

286

92

23

60

1,098

11,170

149

44

-

-

21

-

-

214

-

-

-

-

-

725

725

1,098

-

-

-

-

-

(1,098)

-

10,435

467

286

92

44

60

725

12,109

6,400

240

287

90

23

58

-

7,098

277

32

6

2

-

-

-

317

(534)

(27)

(35)

-

-

-

-

(596)

Additions
Work in progress
Transfer from WIP
Balance at 30 June 2015
Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2013
Depreciation expense
Elimination on disposal
Balance at 30 June 2014

6,143

245

258

92

23

58

-

6,819

Balance at 1 July 2014

6,143

245

258

92

23

58

-

6,819

Depreciation expense

333

34

7

-

6

-

-

380

6,476

279

265

92

29

58

-

7,199

At 30 June 2014

3,045

178

28

-

-

2

1,098

4,351

At 30 June 2015

3,959

188

21

-

15

2

725

4,910

Balance at 30 June 2015
Carrying amounts

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s PPE and there are no PPE pledged as security for liabilities.
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Note 11: Intangible assets
Movements for each intangible asset class are as follows:
Acquired software

Internally generated
software

Total

$000

$000

$000

Cost or valuation
Balance at 1 July 2013

27

492

519

Balance at 30 June 2014

27

492

519

Balance at 1 July 2014

27

492

519

Balance at 30 June 2015

27

492

519

27

320

347

-

58

58

Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses
Balance at 1 July 2013
Amortisation expense
Balance at 30 June 2014

27

378

405

Balance at 1 July 2014

27

378

405

-

60

60

27

438

465

At 30 June 2014

-

114

114

At 30 June 2015

-

54

54

Amortisation expense
Balance at 30 June 2015
Carrying amounts

There are no restrictions over the title of the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund’s intangible assets, and there are no intangible
assets pledged as security for liabilities.

Note 12: Creditors and other payables
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Payables under exchange transactions
Trade creditors

397

385

Accrued expenses

577

945

Total creditors and other payables under exchange transactions

974

1,330

Payables under non-exchange transactions
Taxes Payable (GST, FBT, and rates)

111

-

14

52

125

52

1,099

1,382

Other
Total creditors and other payables under exchange transactions
Total Creditors and other payables

Creditors and other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms; therefore, the carrying value of
creditors and other payables approximates their fair value.

Note 13: Employee entitlements
Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000

000

Current annual leave

51

53

Accrued salary and wages

25

40

Total employee entitlements

76

93
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Note 14: Provisions
Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000

000

Non-current provisions are represented by
Lease make good

58

63

Total non-current provisions

58

63

Total provisions

58

63

Movements for each class of provision are as follows:
Lease make-good
$000
Balance at 1 July 2013

62

Discount unwind provision (note 5)

1

Balance at 30 June 2014

63

Balance at 1 July 2014

63

Discount unwind provision (note 5)

(5)

Balance at 30 June 2015

58

Lease make-good
In respect of its leased premises, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is required at the expiry of the lease term to make good any
damage caused to the premises from installed fixtures and fittings, and to remove any fixtures or fittings installed by the New
Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. In many cases, the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has the option to renew these leases, which
impacts on the timing of expected cash outflows to make good the premises. Information about the New Zealand Oil Pollution
Fund’s leasing arrangements is disclosed in note 16.

Note 15: Equity
Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000

$000

General funds
Balance at 1 July as previously reported

15,282

15,182

Capital contribution

-

100

Balance at 30 June

15,282

15,282

(7,754)

(9,537)

1,127

1,783

(6,627)

(7,754)

8,655

7,528

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at 1 July as previously reported
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Balance at 30 June
Total equity 30 June
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Note 16: Capital commitments and operating leases
Operating leases as lessee
Future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Actual 2014/15
$000

Actual 2013/14
$000

Non-cancellable operating leases
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Total non-cancellable operating leases

155

155

39

194

194

349

The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has recognised a make-good provision of $57,000 (2014: $63,000) in respect of these
leases (note 14).

Note 17: Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent liabilities (2014: $nil).

Contingent assets
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund has no contingent assets (2014: $nil).

Note 18: Related party transactions
Related-party transactions
The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of
the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund enters into all related party transactions on an arm’s length
basis.

Significant transaction with government-related entities
New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund received no Crown Funding in 2015 (2014: $Nil).

Collectively, but not individually, significant, transactions with government-related entities
In conducting its activities, New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is required to pay various taxes and levies (such as Goods and
Services Tax, Fringe Benefit Tax, Pay As You Earn, and ACC levies) to the Crown and entities related to the Crown. The payment
of these taxes and levies, other than income tax, is based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy
payers. The New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund is exempt from paying income tax.
The following transactions were carried out with related parties other than those described above. The aggregate value of
transactions and outstanding balances relating to key management personnel and entities over which they have control or
significant influence were as follows:
Transaction

Ref

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund - salaries & administration
cost recovered by Maritime NZ

1

Transaction value

Balance outstanding

year ended 30 June

year ended 30 June

2015

2014

2015

2014

$000

$000

$000

$000

690

690

37

366

-

-

78

113

New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund - amount owed to Maritime
NZ
1.

Maritime NZ is responsible for administering the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund. The costs relating to this administration
have been paid to Maritime NZ on a cost-recovery basis.

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties (2014: $nil).
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Employee remuneration
Total remuneration paid or payable$

Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

110,000–119,999

2

2

120,000–129,999

1

1

Total employees

3

3

During the year ended 30 June 2015, no employees received compensation and other benefits in relation to cessation (2014:
$nil). No Authority members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2014: $nil).

Note 19: Events after balance sheet date
There were no significant events after the balance date.

Note 20: Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows:
Actual 2014/15

Actual 2013/14

$000

$000

Loans & receivables
Cash & cash equivalents (note 7)

2,561

2,498

711

584

3,272

3,082

Creditors & other payables (note 12)

1,099

1,382

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

1,099

1,382

Debtors & other receivables (note 8)
Total loans & receivables
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Note 21: Explanation of significant variances against budget
Explanations for significant variations from New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund's budgeted figures in the Statement of performance

expectations 2014/15 are as follows:

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
Oil pollution levy
Revenue is higher than budget due to a greater leviable tonnage than expected, predominantly due to an increase of oil tanker
port visits, and an increase in individual vessel tonnages.

Personnel costs
Personnel costs were higher than budget due to secondments of Maritime NZ staff to the New Zealand Oil Pollution Fund to work
on capability development projects.

Other expenses
Other expenses are lower than budget due to some oil spill response training with the regional councils being deferred during the
year, and the later than expected receipt of equipment ordered from overseas suppliers reducing depreciation for the year.

Statement of financial position
Cash and cash equivalents and investments
Cash and cash equivalents are higher than budget arising from the higher than budget surplus for the year, and higher than
expected opening balance at the start of the financial year.

Debtors and other receivables
The Debtors and other receivables are lower than budget due to improved debtors collection processes.
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Creditors and other payables
The Creditors and other payables are lower than budget due to payment pattern revisions made post budget.

Note 22: Directions issued by Ministers
There were no directions issued by Ministers within the financial reporting period.
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Appendix 2: Maritime New Zealand and Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand additional financial
information
The financial statements of the Authority consolidate the activities of the Rescue
Coordination Centre New Zealand with Maritime NZ’s traditional business activities.
This appendix provides additional financial information that does not form part of
Maritime NZ’s audited accounts, to give readers more detail about the cost of
operating Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand.
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Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense
Year ended 30 June 2015
Rescue Coordination Centre New
Zealand

Maritime New Zealand

Notes

Group

Actual

Budget

Actual

Actual

Budget

Actual

Actual

Budget

Actual

2014/15

2014/15

2013/14

2014/15

2014/15

2013/14

2014/15

2014/15

2013/14

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

10,632

11,944

10,153

4,989

4,910

4,070

15,621

16,854

14,223

17,465

17,773

17,656

-

-

-

17,465

17,773

17,656

5,135

7,589

3,871

-

-

-

5,135

7,589

3,871

110

126

124

63

76

57

173

202

181

20

-

-

-

-

-

20

-

-

33,362

37,432

31,804

5,052

4,986

4,127

38,414

42,417

35,931

17,832

19,819

18,094

2,388

2,527

2,176

20,220

22,346

20,270

2,051

2,227

1,409

51

59

82

2,102

2,286

1,491

39

-

-

-

-

-

39

-

-

820

857

870

123

263

118

943

1,120

988

Revenue
Crown

2

Marine safety charge
Other revenue

3

Interest revenue
Gains

4

Total revenue
Expenditure
Personnel costs
Depreciation & amortisation costs

5
13,14

Property, plant & equipment write-off & impairment provision
Capital charge

6

Finance costs

7

12

941

12

(2)

12

1

10

953

13

Other expenses

8

13,115

13,558

11,597

2,329

2,202

2,349

15,444

15,760

13,946

33,869

37,402

31,982

4,889

5,063

4,726

38,758

42,465

36,708

(507)

30

(178)

163

(77)

(599)

(344)

(47)

(777)

1

-

-

510

-

-

511

-

-

Total expenditure
Surplus/(deficit)
Other comprehensive revenue and expense
Total other comprehensive revenue and expense
Total comprehensive revenue and expense

9

1

-

-

510

-

-

511

-

-

(506)

30

(178)

673

(77)

(599)

167

(47)

(777)
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Statement of changes in net assets/equity
Year ended 30 June 2015
Rescue Coordination Centre New
Zealand

Maritime New Zealand

Notes

Balance at 1 July
Property, plant & equipment revaluation gains taken to equity

19

Total comprehensive revenue and expense
Capital contribution
Balance at 30 June

19

Group

Actual

Budget

Actual

Actual

Budget

Actual

Actual

Budget

Actual

2014/15

2014/15

2013/14

2014/15

2014/15

2013/14

2014/15

2014/15

2013/14

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

10,524

10,351

10,702

1,543

1,734

1,541

12,067

12,085

12,243

(84)

-

-

-

-

-

(84)

-

-

(506)

30

(178)

673

(77)

(599)

167

(47)

(777)

1,307

2,900

-

2,811

4,281

601

4,118

7,181

601

11,241

13,281

10,524

5,027

5,938

1,543

16,268

19,219

12,067
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Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2015
Maritime New Zealand

Notes

Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand
Actual
2013/14
$000

Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2013/14
$000

Group
Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2013/14
$000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

10

3,967

4,766

4,743

1,976

1,690

1,586

5,943

6,456

6,329

Debtors and other receivables

11

3,696

3,000

3,651

898

15

14

4,594

3,015

3,527

405

150

471

174

25

151

579

175

622

246

100

200

-

-

-

246

100

200

8,314

8,016

9,065

3,048

1,730

1,751

11,362

9,746

10,678

Prepayments
Inventory

12

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

13

6,657

5,544

4,238

3,763

4,615

363

10,420

10,159

4,601

Intangible assets

14

4,002

5,328

3,330

17

-

23

4,019

5,328

3,353

Total non-current assets

10,659

10,872

7,568

3,780

4,615

386

14,439

15,487

7,954

Total assets

18,973

18,888

16,633

6,828

6,345

2,137

25,801

25,233

18,632

4,347

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Creditors and other payables

15

3,409

1,906

4,132

1,606

309

353

5,015

2,215

Finance leases

16

255

-

-

-

-

-

255

-

-

Provision for employee entitlements

17

1,352

750

1,816

189

90

232

1,541

840

2,048

Provisions

18

11

-

90

1

-

9

12

-

99

5,027

2,656

6,038

1,796

399

594

6,823

3,055

6,494

2,614

2,802

-

-

-

-

2,614

2,802

-

90

149

71

6

8

-

96

157

71

Total non-current liabilities

2,704

2,951

71

6

8

-

2,710

2,959

71

Total liabilities

7,731

5,607

6,109

1,802

407

594

9,533

6,014

6,565

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Finance leases

16

Provisions

Equity
Crown contribution

19

10,544

11,745

9,017

8,662

10,323

5,854

19,206

22,068

14,868

Accumulated surplus/ (deficit)

19

108

862

833

(3,636)

(4,385)

(4,308)

(3,528)

(3,523)

(3,475)

Revaluation reserve

19

590

674

674

-

-

-

590

674

674

Total equity

11,242

12,281

10,524

5,026

5,938

1,543

16,268

19,219

12,067

Total equity & liabilities

18,973

18,888

16,633

6,828

6,345

2,137

25,801

25,233

18,632
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Statement of cash flows
Year ended 30 June 2015
Maritime New Zealand

Notes

Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Rescue Coordination Centre New Zealand

Actual
2013/14
$000

Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2013/14
$000

Group
Actual
2014/15
$000

Budget
2014/15
$000

Actual
2013/14
$000

Cash flows from operating activities
Crown

10,632

8,430

10,153

4,989

Marine safety charge

17,770

17,772

17,002

-

4,704

11,103

3,917

-

Other third party
Interest revenue

4,910

4,070

15,621

13,340

14,223

-

-

17,770

17,772

17,002

-

32

4,704

11,103

4,021

110

126

124

63

76

57

173

202

181

Payments to employees

(18,296)

(19,818)

(17,816)

(2,431)

(2,527)

(2,155)

(20,727)

(22,345)

(20,090)

Payments to suppliers

(13,742)

(14,500)

(10,289)

(1,060)

(2,214)

(2,427)

(14,802)

(16,714)

(12,669)

(820)

(857)

(870)

(123)

(263)

(118)

(943)

(1,120)

(988)

319

-

(28)

(29)

-

8

290

-

(20)

677

2,256

2,193

1,409

(18)

(533)

2,086

2,238

1,660

Capital charge
Goods & services tax (net)
Net cash flows from operating activities

20

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from sale of property, plant & equipment
Receipts from maturity of investments
Purchase of property, plant & equipment

20

-

-

-

-

-

20

-

-

-

-

1,000

-

-

980

-

-

1,980

(467)

(277)

(1,100)

(3,445)

(4,317)

(221)

(3,912)

(4,594)

(1,321)

Purchase of intangible assets

(1,676)

(3,500)

(1,310)

-

-

-

(1,676)

(3,500)

(1,310)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(2,123)

(3,777)

(1,410)

(3,445)

(4,317)

759

(5,568)

(8,094)

(651)

(313)

(313)

-

-

-

-

(313)

(313)

-

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments of Finance leases

16

Capital contribution

983

2,900

-

2,426

4,281

601

3,409

7,181

601

Net cash flows from financing activities

670

2,587

-

2,426

4,281

601

3,096

6,868

601

Net increase / (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents

(776)

1,066

783

390

(54)

827

(386)

1,012

1,610

Opening cash balance at 1 July

4,743

3,700

3,960

1,586

1,744

759

6,329

5,444

4,719

Closing cash balance at 30 June

3,967

4,766

4,743

1,976

1,690

1,586

5,943

6,456

6,329
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Appendix 3: Recreational boating fatalities (by calendar year)
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Figure 4: Recreational boating fatalities 2000–2014 (with three-year moving average)
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2012
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Appendix 4: Safety notification information
The following charts present a summary of the maritime system safety performance since 2009/10, based on maritime
incidents reported to Maritime NZ. Comparisons between notifications data and other sources of data on the number of
harm events (for example, ACC claims) indicate that the notifications captured by Maritime NZ are not fully representative
of the actual number of harm events occurring in the maritime system annually, with the actual numbers being potentially
significantly higher.
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Figure 6: Commercial accident notifications
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Figure 7: Commercial serious harm injuries
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Figure 8: Commercial fatalities

Category

2010/11
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Figure 9: Recreational fatalities

2009/10

2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Commercial
accidents

262

314

422

317

234

179

Commercial
serious harm
injuries

67

92

100

105

64

21

Commercial
fatalities

9

3

9

3

7

3

Recreational
fatalities

21

16

16

15

24

32
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2014/15

Appendix 5: Changes to strategic impact indicators
Strategic Goal 1: Regulation that is relevant and robust
Intended impact

Original impact indicator

Revised impact indicator
(used as the basis of
reporting in this Annual
Report)

Rationale/reason for change

Impact 1:
International
engagement ensures
global regulation
aligns with New
Zealand’s interests

Maritime NZ identifies through a
clear prioritisation framework
which meetings it should attend.

Prioritised contribution at
international meetings and
fora, where Maritime NZ can
influence international
outcomes to reflect New
Zealand’s interests.

Revised measure provides a
broader and more accurate
description of international
engagement processes and can
use evidence generated from
“business-as-usual” to
demonstrate how contribution is
prioritised and impact tracked.

New Zealand’s participation
objectives are met at IMO
meetings attended.

Indicator is an output and more
indicative of MNZ effort, not a
shift in attitude or behaviour.
This has now been established as
an output measure in the

Statement of Performance
Expectations 2015/16 (Output
1.1).
Wording has been adjusted to
“attendance objectives are met
at international meetings
attended”.
Impact 2: Policy
advice ensures
maritime safety,
security and marine
environmental
protection regulation
is fit-for-purpose

A reducing number of
occurrences where the Transport
Accident Investigation
Commission (TAIC) raises issues
of regulatory shortcomings as a
major contributing factor in a
fatal or serious harm incident.

The Transport regulatory
programme is appropriately
prioritised to ensure regulation
is fit-for-purpose.

Reporting against the indicator
would have required considerable
analysis and resource to
determine a result.

Impact 3: Government
initiatives are
informed by an
awareness of maritime
safety, security and
marine environmental
protection interests

Awareness and appreciation of
maritime topics, issues and
concerns; as reported by
external stakeholders survey
respondents.

Maritime NZ’s engagement and
policy advice improves external
stakeholders’ understanding of
safety, security and
environmental protection
interests.

No material change to indicator –
slight wording change.

Impact 4:
Comprehensive
domain assessments
continually shape
regulation and
compliance practices

Number of domain assessments
completed and/or reviewed each
year.

Indicator is an output and more
indicative of effort, not a shift in
attitude or behaviour. A new
output measure has been
established in the Statement of

Performance Expectations
2015/16 (Output 1.2).
Increased quality and internal
use of domain assessments over
time.

Domain assessments inform
decision-making.
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Descriptive case study-based
information about use of these
assessments will be used to
report against this indicator.

Strategic Goal 2: Risk-focused compliance practices that reduce harm in the maritime
system
Intended impact

Original impact indicator

Revised impact indicator
(used as the basis of
reporting in this Annual
Report)

Impact 1: Compliance
strategies and
campaigns support,
encourage and require
commercial operators
to take responsibility
for the safety of their
maritime operations.

Reducing proportion of vessels
with detainable deficiencies.

A reducing risk profile within
sectors subject to MOSS, over
time.

No change

Impact 2: Safety
strategies and
campaigns lead to
improved safety
attitudes and
behaviours across the
recreational boating
community

An increase in recreational
boaties’ carriage and use of
appropriate safety equipment
over time.

Safety equipment is
increasingly carried and used
appropriately by recreational
boaties over time.

Increasing proportion of survey
respondents who report positive
changes in behaviour as a result
of exposure to safety messages.

No change

Impact 3: Compliance
strategies and
campaigns are based
on monitoring and risk
profiling to ensure the
most appropriate
interventions are
chosen to address
risks to safe, secure
and clean waters.

Strategies and campaigns are
demonstrably responsive to
identified risks.

A reducing proportion of high
risk vessels visiting New
Zealand.

Proportion of survey respondents
reported by sector who are aware
of their own risk profile and of
targeted compliance strategies.

No change

Impact 4:
Implementation of the
seafarer certification
framework provides for
internationally
acceptable searfarer
qualifications

Increasing proportion of New
Zealand seafarers qualifications
that are consistent with
international requirements.

Development of a transition
plan and a framework to
manage seafarer transition
within specified timeframes.

Rationale/reason for change

Current measure is more an
output indicator and timeconsuming to measure. It doesn’t
reflect the desired goal of
Maritime NZ work in this sector.

Reducing proportion of NZ
seafarers’ applications declined
by other countries.
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No material change to indicator –
slight wording change.

Original indicator subjective and
difficult to measure.

Data for the measure is too
difficult to capture as Maritime
NZ would need to determine
what other countries’
requirements are and if seafarer
applications have been declined
by other countries.

Strategic Goal 3: Response capability that is well prepared and effectively deployed to
resolve emergency incidents
Intended impact

Original impact indicator

Revised impact indicator
(used as the basis of
reporting in this Annual
Report)

Rationale/reason for change

Impact 1: An efficient
and effective national
search and rescue
coordination service
within an integrated
search and rescue
system (jointly with
the NZSAR
Secretariat and NZ
Police), which takes
full advantage of
modern technology

Ratio of successful SAR responses
coordinated, compared to the total
annual number of RCCNZ
coordinated responses.

The Search and Rescue
element of Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability Matrix is
reported as amber or better
with any remedial action
plans in place.

Most of these existing measures
are built into the Response
Capability Matrix so that
reporting the status of the
matrix in each domain, and
comparison with a target status,
provides a more meaningful
assessment

The Maritime Incident
Response Team, Marine
Pollution Response Service,
Search and Rescue and
Response Coordination
elements of Maritime NZ’s
Response Capability Matrix is
reported as amber or better
with any remedial action
plans in place.

As above

The Marine Pollution
Response Service element of
Maritime NZ’s Response
Capability Matrix is reported
as amber or better with any
remedial action plans in
place.

As above

Security element of Maritime
NZ’s Response Capability
Matrix is reported as amber
or better with any remedial
action plans in place.

As above

Proportion of the seven Pacific
Island states that have developed
joint national/international search
and rescue plans, and the
proportion of those plans tested
annually.
Number of mass rescue plans in
place and tested.
Improvement in speed and
accuracy of beacon detection.

Impact 2: A fit-forpurpose maritime
incident response
system provides
effective response
and recovery for
national maritime
incidents, minimising
social and economic
harm

The number of formal agreements
with partner agencies in place.

Impact 3: A
comprehensive
pollution
preparedness and
response service
minimises the
environmental and
economic impact of
any oil spill

The number of appropriately trained
individuals to meet the functional
requirements of a National
Response Team.

Impact 4: An
internationally linked,
intelligence-led
security system
assures protection for
all in New Zealand’s
maritime area of
responsibility

Proportion of New Zealand ports
with current Maritime NZ approved
security plans in place.

Coordination across government
agencies during a maritime incident
is enhanced.
Maritime NZ staff demonstrate
increased competence in their
ability to respond to a range of
emergency incidents (e.g. salvage,
non-oil pollution).

Proportion of Discharge
Management Plans (DMP) approved
and signed off by Maritime NZ.
Proportion of current and approved
regional council Tier 2 plans.

Annual proportion of security
deficiencies issued per 100 port
state control inspections
undertaken – and compared with
the other Tokyo MOU member
states.
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Strategic Goal 4: A results-driven, resilient organisation, working collaboratively for
success
Intended impact

Original impact indicator

Revised impact indicator
(used as the basis of
reporting in this Annual
Report)

Impact 1: An
integrated
information base
supports evidencebased, risk-focused
decision making
that is of consistent
high quality

Proportion of staff who agree that
they can easily access, use, store
and re-use analytical and
unstructured data.

No change

Rationale/reason for change

Information maturity assessment
rating.
Desired ICT capability maturity
assessment rating achieved (selfassessed).
Completion and deployment of
Stages 1-3 Maritime NZ System
Reform by July 2016.

Impact 2: A
resilient, healthy,
capable organisation
has people who are
valued and
energised to deliver
high quality
regulatory,
compliance and
response services

Best Workplaces Survey – overall
rating compared with public
sector median.
Sufficient funding budgeted for
training (expenditure on training
as % of salary aligned with
industry best practice).

Best Workplaces Survey:


overall rating above the
Public Sector median



improved rating for
leadership and
training/capability
development.

Best Workplaces survey seen as
a more meaningful indicator of
investment in
training/capability development.

Percentage of total reported
accidents and incidents that are
near misses (rolling average
accidents/incidents per 100 staff
per annum).

WSMP Level 2 Accreditation is
maintained.

WSMP Accreditation is an
independent measure of the
quality of MNZ’s HSE practice.

% of permanent FTE positions
filled.

Staff retention (resignations over
previous reporting periods at %
average total staff).

Staff retention is seen as a
more critical measure of a
healthy and capable
organisation, particularly in a
period of budgetary constraint.

Maritime NZ’s approach to
business continuity planning is
independently audited and
approach confirmed as
appropriate.

New indicator included to
reflect MNZ’s organisational
resilience.

Maturity self-assessment against
protective security requirements
indicates progress to desired
maturity level (over three years).

New indicator included to
reflect MNZ’s organisational
resilience.
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Impact 3: There is
sustainable funding
to deliver identified
outcomes

Funding review business cases
are supported by the Ministry of
Transport and the Treasury and
include appropriate industry and
community consultation

Implementation of the Maritime
NZ mid-point funding and oil
pollution levy reviews in 2016
provides an appropriate funding
base for regulatory and oil
pollution response activity, and
informs future funding reviews.

The change provides a more
results focused measure.

Maritime NZ operates with
balanced budgets and appropriate
resources.

Maritime NZ operates within
available funding over the
medium to long-term whilst
maintaining appropriate cash
reserves.

More appropriate and
comprehensive measure in a
period of financial constraint.

Impact 4:
Collaboration with
other agencies
enables sharing of
resources and builds
capability that
improves
government services

The number of collaboration and
capability programme initiatives
Maritime NZ is involved in with
demonstrable benefits.

Maritime NZ is regarded as
proactive and collaborative in its
cross agency/sector/all-ofgovernment participation
efforts/engagements.

The new indicator is focused on
the quality of engagement and
initiative taken by Maritime NZ.

Impact 5: Business
processes enable
straight-forward,
efficient
transactions with
Maritime NZ that
enhance compliance

The proportion of survey
respondents, by sector, who rate
the timeliness and ease of
interactions with Maritime NZ as
very good or excellent.

An increasing proportion of
survey respondents, by sector,
who rate the timeliness and ease
of interactions with Maritime NZ
as very good or excellent.

Addition of “increasing” so that
measure is indicative of
improvement.
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Appendix 6: Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix – Assessment matrix descriptors
Maritime NZ’s Response Capability Matrix captures information about its overall response capability across five key elements. The capability of each element is assessed, on a six-monthly basis, against a range
of criteria to determine an overall rating. Assessments are reported to Maritime NZ’s Audit and Risk Committee. Maritime NZ is striving to sustain overall response capability as amber or higher over the term of
this Statement of Intent and beyond.

Maritime Incident
Response Team

Marine Pollution Response
Service

Capable of responding fully to a
Maritime Incident:






National exercise held every four years
Responders fully trained to identified
competencies
Minimum of four exercises undertaken each
year
Rena recommendations (where appropriate)
fully implemented.

Capable of responding to a
National oil spill:






Able to respond to a Maritime
Incident but lacking in specific
areas of competency:






National exercise being developed,
planning and coordination underway for
exercise
Responder competencies identified and
appropriate training being developed
High priority training completed with some
responders
Rena recommendations (where appropriate)
partially implemented.








Minimum number of Industry/Regional and
National exercises undertaken





Equipment stockpiles Fit for Role (FFR)
Regulatory obligations met.



Responder capability competencies
identified and appropriate training being
developed
Industry/Regional and National exercises
being developed, planning and coordination underway for exercise





Responder competencies not identified
therefore no training in place






National SAR Plan in place
Standard Operating Procedures in place
Memoranda of understanding with national
SAR resource providers and SAR
agreements with relevant nations in place



Tested plans in place for appropriate
augmentation of SAR capability for large
scale operations






Equipment stockpiles maintained but some
shortfalls in equipment holdings against
capability plan

Sufficient staff to run Operations Room
24/7 year round
Insufficient staff to undertake full range of
support tasks

Response Coordination

Fully capable of responding to a
Maritime Security Incident

Capable of responding efficiently
and effectively to most SAR
incidents in the NZSRR:

Maritime NZ fully connected to the
New Zealand Intelligence
Community
Full response capability in
accordance with Maritime Security
Plan

Full integration of response
components








Maritime NZ has a comprehensive response
capability in accordance with Maritime
Emergency Response Plan
All regulatory obligations met

Regulatory obligations met

Able to respond to a Maritime
Emergency Response Incident, but
lacking coordination in specific areas:

Able to respond to a Maritime
Security incident, but lacking in
specific areas:



Maritime NZ fully connected to the NZ
Emergency Response Community

Maritime NZ has limited connectivity to NZ
Intelligence Community
Reduced response capability
Regulatory obligations partially met

Plans and procedures for mass rescue/large
scale events not fully developed and
implemented





Maritime NZ has limited connectivity to NZ
Emergency Response Community
Overall response capability limited to some
degree
Regulatory obligations partially met

Regulatory obligations partially met.

Not capable of effectively
responding to a National oil spill

No national exercises held

Rena recommendations (where appropriate)
not implemented.

Regional and National responders fully
trained to meet risk

Security

Fully capable of responding
efficiently and effectively to all
SAR incidents in the NZ Search and
Rescue Region (NZSRR):

Able to respond to a National oil
spill but lacking in some areas:

Not capable of effectively
responding to a Maritime Incident:




Search and Rescue

Responder capability limited in numbers
and competency
Regional exercises not meeting criteria. No
Industry or National exercises undertaken
or planned
Major deficiencies in equipment,
hampering response capability

Not capable of responding
efficiently and effectively to most
incidents in the NZSRR:





Insufficient staff to run Operations Room
24/7 year round
Inadequate stakeholder engagement and
liaison leads to a failure in coordination of
incidents

Not capable of responding





Insufficient funding to sustain operations
and operational support activity
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Maritime NZ has no connection to the NZ
Intelligence community
Ineffective response capability
Regulatory obligations not met

Response capability not aligned





Maritime NZ response functions are siloed,
not connected or well-coordinated
Ineffective response capability
Regulatory obligations not met

NZ. The New Zealand Transport Agency (NZTA) is
the host agency for the CoE.

Appendix 7: Governance
and accountability

Legislative compliance and ethics
Maritime NZ is guided by its Codes of Conduct and
the State Services Commissioner’s Standards of
Integrity and Conduct. Authority members are
required to complete a declaration of interests upon
appointment and whenever changes occur during
their term. A schedule of Authority members’
interests is reviewed at every Authority meeting.

The Minister of Transport is responsible to
Parliament for overseeing and managing the Crown’s
interests in Maritime New Zealand.
The Minister expects Maritime NZ’s Authority to set
the direction of the entity, achieve the government’s
desired results set out in the Marine Transport Act
1994 (“MTA”) and in other legislation and policy,
and manage any maritime safety and security risks
on behalf of the Crown.

The Authority ensures that the Maritime NZ complies
with all legislation. Maritime NZ is committed to
complying with all applicable legislation in carrying
out its functions and activities. Maritime NZ ensures
that a legislative compliance programme covering all
relevant Acts and regulations is in place, which is
regularly monitored and reviewed.

Members act in accordance with applicable statutory
requirements (for example, the MTA and the Crown
Entities Act 2004), and in the interests of the role
and functions of maritime safety and security.

Authority membership and composition
Maritime NZ is made up of a Board of five members
appointed by the Minister of Transport. The Board
appoints the Director of Maritime New Zealand, who
has independent statutory powers under the
Maritime Transport Act 1994.

Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee (a subcommittee of the Authority) is comprised of all
Authority members. The Committee has the authority
to make recommendations only.
The objectives of the Committee are to ensure:




the robustness of risk management systems and
practices
the independence and adequacy of the internal
audit functions
compliance with application regulations,
standards and best practice guidelines.

Risk Management
The Authority is responsible for ensuring that
Maritime NZ has a comprehensive risk register which
identifies all significant risks, corresponding
mitigation actions and the regular monitoring of
these mitigations.

Internal Audit
The Audit and Risk Management Committee
establishes a risk-based internal audit programme
each year, covering the key functions and services of
Maritime NZ. The programme also includes the
flexibility to schedule reviews of areas of interest to
the Director and the Committee as the need arises.
Internal Audit services are provided through the
Transport Sector Risk Assurance Centre of
Excellence (CoE), whose purpose and objectives are
outlined in an Operating Agreement with Maritime
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Other functions

Appendix 8: Maritime NZ’s
legislative framework and
primary functions

The principal pieces of legislation that support the
work of Maritime NZ are:
1.

Maritime NZ’s legislative framework
2.
Maritime NZ has direct or delegated authority under
the Marine Transport Act 1994 (“MTA”) to help set
and administer the regulatory framework for the
maritime sector, including the commercial fishing
sector. The regulatory framework is aimed at
achieving the Government’s overarching goals for the
transport sector, and also the Maritime NZ vision of
a maritime environment that is “safe, secure, clean”

3.

Maritime New Zealand’s statutory
functions

4.

Under the Maritime Transport Act 1994, Maritime
NZ has the following functions:















To promote maritime safety and security, and
protection of the marine environment in and
beyond New Zealand, in accordance with New
Zealand’s international obligations
To ensure the provision of appropriate distress
and safety radio communication systems and
navigational aids for shipping
To ensure New Zealand’s preparedness for, and
ability to respond to, marine oil pollution spills
To license ships, their operation and their crews
To cooperate with, or provide advice and
assistance to, any government agency or local
government agency when requested to do so by
the Minister
To provide information and advice with respect
to maritime transport and marine protection,
and to foster appropriate information and
education programmes with respect to maritime
transport and marine protection
To investigate and review maritime transport
accidents and incidents, and maritime security
breaches and incidents
To maintain the New Zealand Register of Ships
To maintain and preserve records and
documents relating to the Authority’s functions
To advise the Minister on technical maritime
safety policy
To administer the international obligations of
the Crown under the treaties, memoranda and
other international maritime and marine
environment protection agreements, as agreed
with the Minister of Transport.

5.

The Crown Entities Act 2004 – establishes
Maritime NZ’s governance and operational
framework, identifies the powers and duties of
board members, and prescribes the Authority’s
accountability to Government.
Health and Safety in Employment Act 1992
(“HSE Act”) – sets the broad principles for
health and safety in New Zealand workplaces.
Maritime NZ is the designated agency for
administering the HSE Act for work on board
ships and ships as places of work.
The Ship Registration Act 1992 – administered
by Maritime NZ, this Act regulates all vessels
over 24 metres in length, others that depart for
the high seas by mandate and smaller vessels
voluntarily.
The Maritime Security Act 2004 (“MSA”) –
administered by Maritime NZ, the MSA sets out
how New Zealand will meet its obligations to
prevent international terrorism on board ships
and in ports, as set out in the United Nations
International Ship and Port Facility Security
Code.
The Civil Aviation Act 1990 – sets out Maritime
NZ’s responsibilities for coordinating Category
II search and rescue operations, and operating
and maintaining the Rescue Coordination
Centre New Zealand
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Disclaimer: While all care and
diligence has been used in extracting,
analysing and compiling this information,
Maritime New Zealand gives no warranty
that the information provided is without error.
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